
Corporate Director (Law and Governance) and 
Monitoring Officer, T W Mortimer LLB Solicitor

P

Note to Members of the Committee:  The cut-off time for the meeting will normally 
be at the conclusion of the item being considered at 10.30pm.  However this is 
subject to an appropriate motion being passed following the conclusion of that item, as 
follows:
“To conclude the meeting and defer outstanding items of business to the start of the next 
scheduled Meeting of the Committee”.

PLANNING COMMITTEE

Notice of a Meeting, to be held in the Council Chamber - Ashford Borough Council on 
Wednesday, 14th March, 2018 at 7.00 pm.

The Members of the Planning Committee are:-

Councillor Burgess (Chairman)
Councillor Link (Vice-Chairman)

Cllrs. Bennett, Blanford, Bradford, Buchanan, Clarkson (ex-Officio), Clokie, Dehnel, 
Farrell, Galpin, Heyes, Hicks, Howard, Krause, MacPherson, Ovenden and 
Waters

If additional written material is to be submitted to the Planning Committee relating to any 
report on this Agenda, this must be concise and must be received by the Contact Officer 
specified at the end of the relevant report, and also copied to 
Planning.help@ashford.gov.uk, before 3pm on the day of the Meeting so that it can be 
included or summarised in the Update Report at the Meeting, otherwise the material will 
not be made available to the Committee.  However, no guarantee can be given that all 
material submitted before 3pm will be made available or summarised to the Committee, 
therefore any such material should be submitted as above at the earliest opportunity and 
you should check that it has been received.

Agenda
Page Nos..

1.  Apologies/Substitutes

To receive Notification of Substitutes in accordance with Procedure 
Rule 1.2(iii) and Appendix 4

2.  Declarations of Interest 1 - 2

To declare any interests which fall under the following categories, as 

mailto:Planning.help@ashford.gov.uk


explained on the attached document:

a) Disclosable Pecuniary Interests (DPI)
b) Other Significant Interests (OSI)
c) Voluntary Announcements of Other interests

See Agenda Item 2 for further details

3.  Minutes 3 - 34

To approve the Minutes of the Meeting of this Committee held on the 
14th February 2018

4.  Requests for Deferral/Withdrawal

5.  Part I - Information/Monitoring Items

None for this Meeting

6.  For Decision - Schedule of Applications

Schedule of Applications

(a)  17/00625/AS 35 - 80

Land between Boughton Cottage and Millview Cottage, Mill 
Lane, Smarden - Outline application for the erection of two x 1 
bedroom apartments, five x 2 bed apartments and houses, 
three x3 bed houses, four x 4 bedroom houses and associated 
development to consider new access to Mill Lane only, with all 
other matters reserved.

(b)  17/01759/AS 81 - 182

Former Pledges Mill and South Kent College Site and land 
south of junction of Beaver Road and, Victoria Road, Ashford, 
Kent - Proposed minor material amendments to planning 
permission 16/01157/AS involving design changes to Phase A2 
x 3 commercial uses (Use Classes A1/A2/B2) & Phase A3 (219 
residential units) with associated parking, substations, 
landscaping and access works relating to land south of Victoria 
Road ONLY with no design changes to the approved brewery, 
with shop, bar and restaurant (Use Classes B2/A1/A3/A4)

(c)  18/00104/AS 183 - 194

Repton Connect Community Centre, Repton Avenue, Ashford, 
Kent, TN23 3RX - Placement of 1 No. internally illuminated sign, 
9 No. non-illuminated signs and 1 No. window vinyl

(d)  17/01454/AS 195 - 204

Little Goldwell Oast, Goldwell Lane, Great Chart, Ashford, Kent, 
TN26 1JS - Insertion of new windows and doors to south east 



elevation

Note for each Application:
(a) Private representations (number of consultation letters sent/number of 

representations received)
(b) The indication of the Parish Council’s/Town Council’s views
(c) Statutory Consultees and Amenity Societies (abbreviation for consultee/society 

stated)
Supports ‘S’, objects ‘R’, no objections/no comments ‘X’, still awaited ‘+’, not 
applicable/none received ‘-‘

Note on Votes at Planning Committee Meetings:
At the end of the debate on an item, the Chairman will call for a vote.  If more than one 
motion has been proposed and seconded, the motion that was seconded first will be 
voted on first.  When a motion is carried, the Committee has made its determination in 
relation to that item of business and will move on to the next item on the agenda.  If there 
are any other motions on the item which have not been voted on, those other motions fall 
away and will not be voted on.
If a motion to approve an application is lost, the application is not refused as a result.  The 
only way for an application to be refused is for a motion for refusal to be carried in a vote.  
Equally, if a motion to refuse is lost, the application is not permitted.  A motion for 
approval must be carried in order to permit an application.

DS
8 March 2018

Queries concerning this agenda?  Please contact Rosie Reid Telephone: 01233 330565 
Email: rosie.reid@ashford.gov.uk
Agendas, Reports and Minutes are available on: www.ashford.gov.uk/committees

http://www.ashford.gov.uk/committees


This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Item 2

Declarations of Interest (see also “Advice to Members”below)

(a) Disclosable Pecuniary Interests (DPI) under the Localism Act 2011, relating to 
items on this agenda.  The nature as well as the existence of any such interest 
must be declared, and the agenda item(s) to which it relates must be stated.

A Member who declares a DPI in relation to any item will need to leave the 
meeting for that item (unless a relevant Dispensation has been granted).

(b) Other Significant Interests (OSI) under the Kent Code of Conduct as adopted 
by the Council on 19 July 2012, relating to items on this agenda.  The nature as 
well as the existence of any such interest must be declared, and the agenda 
item(s) to which it relates must be stated.

A Member who declares an OSI in relation to any item will need to leave the 
meeting before the debate and vote on that item (unless a relevant Dispensation 
has been granted).  However, prior to leaving, the Member may address the 
Committee in the same way that a member of the public may do so.

(c) Voluntary Announcements of Other Interests not required to be disclosed 
under (a) and (b), i.e. announcements made for transparency reasons alone, such 
as:

 Membership of outside bodies that have made representations on agenda 
items, or

 Where a Member knows a person involved, but does not have a close 
association with that person, or

 Where an item would affect the well-being of a Member, relative, close 
associate, employer, etc. but not his/her financial position.

[Note: an effect on the financial position of a Member, relative, close associate, 
employer, etc; OR an application made by a Member, relative, close associate, 
employer, etc, would both probably constitute either an OSI or in some cases a 
DPI].

Advice to Members on Declarations of Interest:  
(a) Government Guidance on DPI is available in DCLG’s Guide for Councillors, at 

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/5962/2193362.pdf

(b) The Kent Code of Conduct was adopted by the Full Council on 19 July 2012,
and a copy can be found in the Constitution at
http://www.ashford.gov.uk/part-5---codes-and-protocols 

(c) If any Councillor has any doubt about the existence or nature of any DPI or OSI 
which he/she may have in any item on this agenda, he/she should seek advice 
from the Corporate Director (Law and Governance) and Monitoring Officer or from 
other Solicitors in Legal and Democratic Services as early as possible, and in 
advance of the Meeting. Page 1

Agenda Item 2

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/5962/2193362.pdf
http://www.ashford.gov.uk/part-5---codes-and-protocols


This page is intentionally left blank



P

Planning Committee
Minutes of a Meeting of the Planning Committee held in the Council Chamber, 
Civic Centre, Tannery Lane, Ashford on the 14th February 2018.

Present:

Cllr. Burgess (Chairman);

Cllr Link (Vice-Chairman);

Cllrs. Bennett, Mrs Blanford, Bradford, Buchanan, Clokie, Dehnel, Galpin, Heyes, 
Hicks, Krause, Macpherson, Ovenden, Waters, Mrs Webb.

In accordance with Procedure Rule 1.2 (iii) Cllr. Mrs Webb attended as Substitute 
Member for Cllr. A Howard.

Apologies:

Cllrs. Clarkson, Farrell, A. Howard.

Also Present: 

Cllrs. Mrs Dyer, Shorter.

Head of Development Management and Strategic Sites; Chilmington and Design 
Team Leader; Senior Planning Officer & Urban Designer; Tree Officer; Head of 
Planning and Development; Chief Executive; Corporate Director (Place and Space); 
Principal Solicitor (Strategic Development); Member Services and Ombudsman 
Complaints Officer.

343 Declarations of Interest
Councillor Interest Minute No.

Bennett Made a Voluntary Announcement as a Member 
of the Weald of Kent Protection Society.

346 – 
17/01668/AS

Mrs Blanford Made a Voluntary Announcement as a Member 
of the Weald of Kent Protection Society and the 
Campaign to Protect Rural England. 

346 – 
17/01668/AS

Burgess Made a Voluntary Announcement as a Member 
of the Weald of Kent Protection Society.

346 – 
17/01668/AS

Clokie

Dehnel

Made a Voluntary Announcement as a Member 
of the Weald of Kent Protection Society.

Made a Voluntary Announcement as a Member 
of Kingsnorth Parish Council.

346 – 
17/01668/AS

346 – 
17/01170/AS

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



P
140218
___________________________________________________________________

Hicks Made a Voluntary Announcement as a Member 
of Kingsnorth Parish Council. 

346 – 
17/01170/AS

344 Minutes
Resolved:
That the Minutes of the Meeting of this Committee held on the 17th January 
2018 be approved and confirmed as a correct record.

345 TPO/17/00028 - Confirmation of Tree Preservation 
Order No. 28 2017 - Rear Garden of 65 Upper Queens 
Road, Ashford.TN24 8HL

The Head of Development Management and Strategic Sites drew Members’ 
attention to the Update Report, which contained a revised Recommendation.

In accordance with Procedure Rule 9.3, Mr Nunn, a local resident, spoke in objection 
to the recommendation to confirm the Order.  He said public spaces, roads, streets 
and private gardens had a contribution to make to the vision of the Ashford urban 
forest and lent themselves to a wide variety of sympathetic and appropriate planting.  
The concept of an urban forest could only come to a sustainable fruition with the 
active support of residents where scale, nurturing and management must be seen as 
key criteria, and not a disincentive, to residents continuing to plant trees in their 
gardens.  On the plan no trees depicted were sited within four metres of housing.  It 
was good to see the recent tree replacement planting in Upper Queens Road and 
Albert Road, where smaller trees replaced many species of larger trees.  This 
example of sympathetic and appropriate planting would provide a pleasurable 
environment for many years to come, and also deal with the inherent problems of 
extensive damage to public footpaths caused by their predecessors.  Residents 
should not be met with a blunt default position of sustaining inappropriate trees in a 
potentially dangerous setting.  Instead, they should be encouraged to plant more 
trees similar to those new trees as replacements for any trees pollarded or felled.  

Resolved:

To confirm the Order notwithstanding the objection with a modification of the 
title to read as ‘63 and 65 Upper Queens Road  Ashford  TN24 8HL’ and to 
modify the situation of T2 to read as ‘Rear garden of 63 Upper Queens Road’.

Page 4



P

346 Schedule of Applications
Resolved:

That following consideration of (a), (b) and (c) below,

(a) Private representations (number of consultation letters sent/number of 
representations received)

(b) The indication of the Parish Council’s/Town Council’s views

(c) The views of Statutory Consultees and Amenity Societies (abbreviation 
for consultee/society stated)

Supports ‘S’, objects ‘R’, no objections/no comments ‘X’, still awaited ‘+’, not 
applicable/none received ‘-’

decisions be made in respect of Planning Applications as follows: -

______________________________

Page 5



P140218
___________________________________________________________________

Application Number 17/01674/AS

Location    Former Powergen Site, Victoria Road, Ashford Kent

Grid Reference 00488/42404

Ward Victoria

Application 
Description

Single storey roof top extensions to Blocks 5A and 5B 
as approved under planning application 17/01091/AS - 
providing 14 residential units and associated communal 
roof terraces

Applicant Ashford Riverside Park Limited, c/o Agent

Agent Lichfields, 14 Regent's Wharf

Site Area 0.035ha

(a) 28/- (b) - (c) SW X
KCC H&T X
EHM (EP) X
ABC Refuse X
EA X
KCC (PROW) X
KCC (ED) X

The Senior Planning Officer & Urban Designer drew Members’ attention to the 
Update Report.  There were amendments to Table 1 and Recommendation (A), with 
the previous sub-points a, b and c deleted.

In accordance with Procedure Rule 9.3, Mr Pochin-Hawkes, the agent, spoke in 
support of the application.  He said it would deliver an extra 14 homes on the former 
Powergen site, which was a key regeneration site with permission to create up to 
660 homes.  The proposals had been designed to complement the approved 
scheme and related well to the approved blocks 5A and 5B.  The Officer’s 
recommendation for approval was welcomed.

Resolved:

(A) Subject to the applicant first entering into a section 106 
agreement/unilateral undertaking in respect of the planning obligations 
set out Table 1, in terms agreeable to the Head of Development 
Management and Strategic Sites or the Development Control Managers 
in consultation with the Corporate Director (Law & Governance)  with 
delegated authority to either the Head of Development Management and 
Strategic Sites or the Development Control Managers to make or 

Page 6



P140218
___________________________________________________________________

approve minor changes to the planning obligations and planning 
conditions (for the avoidance of doubt including adding additional 
obligations / planning conditions or deleting obligations / conditions) as 
they see fit.

Table 1

Planning Obligation

Detail Amount(s) Trigger Point(s)

1 Libraries

Applies to developments of 
10 dwellings or more 

Contribution for additional 
book-stock at libraries in the 
borough

£672.22

£48.02 per 
dwelling

Half the contribution upon 
occupation of 25% of the 
dwellings and balance on 
occupation of 50% of the 
dwellings

2
Sport - outdoors 
Contribution towards 
additional equipment for 
football, netball and tennis at 
Courtside / Pitchside
Capital Contribution
Commuted Contribution

£16,221.04
£3,327.92

Upon occupation 
of 75% of the dwellings

3
Informal/Natural Green  
Space
Improvements to the shared 
entrance to Bowens Field 
and Victoria Park
Capital Contribution
Commuted Contribution

£4,430.42
£3,317.71

Upon occupation 
of 75% of the dwellings

4
Play 
Contribution calculated for 
only 2 x 2-bed apartments 
towards toddler age play at 
Victoria Park
Capital Contribution
Commuted Contribution

£3,312.60
£3,384.06

Upon occupation 
of 75% of the dwellings

Page 7



P140218
___________________________________________________________________

Planning Obligation

Detail Amount(s) Trigger Point(s)

5
Allotments 
Contribution towards 
improvements to the 
boundary of an allotment site 
in Victoria Ward
Capital Contribution
Commuted Contribution

£2,633.75
£673.75

Upon occupation of 75% of the 
dwellings

6
Strategic Parks 
Contribution towards 
additional seating at Victoria 
Park

Capital Contribution
Commuted Contribution

£1,490.42
£479.79

7
Monitoring Fee

Applies in all cases

Contribution towards the 
Council’s costs of monitoring 
compliance with the 
agreement or undertaking

£1000 one-
off payment

First payment upon 
commencement of development 
and on the anniversary thereof in 
subsequent years (if not one-off 
payment)

Regulation 123(3) compliance: Fewer than five planning obligations which 
provide for the funding or provision of the projects above or the types of 
infrastructure above have been entered into.

Notices must be given to the Council at various stages in order to aid monitoring.  
All contributions are index linked in order to maintain their value.  The Council’s 
legal costs in connection with the deed must be paid.  

If an acceptable deed is not completed within 3 months of the committee’s 
resolution, the application may be refused.

(B) Permit

Subject to the following conditions and notes:

1 The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of 3 years 
from the date of this decision.

Reason: To comply with the requirements of Section 91 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory 

Page 8

https://goo.gl/b2CNNE
https://goo.gl/sguDWQ


P140218
___________________________________________________________________

Purchase Act 2004.

2 Written details including source/ manufacturer, and samples of bricks, tiles and 
cladding materials to be used externally shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority before the development is commenced and 
the development shall be carried out using the approved external materials.

Reason: In the interests of visual amenity.

3 Fine detailing 

Prior to the commencement of the development hereby approved the relevant 
details set out below shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority and, thereafter, development shall only be carried out in 
accordance with the approved details unless agreed otherwise by the Local 
Planning Authority in writing. Where relevant, the following details should be 
provided on drawings at an appropriate scale of 1:50 (where detail needs to be 
considered contextually related to a façade) and at 1:20 in other cases:- 

a. full details of parapet glazing (1:20),

b. full details of privacy screens

c. prior to installation - Details of any plant or machinery proposed on the roof 
and associated screens,

d. prior to installation - Details of any satellite dishes or antenna, 

Reason: Further details are required to ensure that the external appearance and 
fine detailing are of an appropriate high quality.

4 Lighting 

Prior to occupation of any dwelling details of external lighting shall be submitted to 
the local planning authority and agreed in writing. 

The approved lighting shall be installed prior to occupation of any dwelling and no 
further external lighting shall be installed on the site without the prior written consent 
of the Local Planning Authority. 

Reason: In the interests of the visual amenity of the area, comply with the Council’s 
adopted Dark Skies SPD and to protect the flight path and foraging of bats and 
birds. 

5 Prior to the commencement of the development hereby approved details of the roof 
terrace landscaping (hard and soft) shall be submitted to approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority.  Thereafter the approved details shall be implemented in 

Page 9



P140218
___________________________________________________________________

accordance with the approved details.

Reason:  In the interests of the residential amenity of the residents and to ensure 
that appropriate levels of external amenity space are provided for within the 
development

6 Construction 

Prior to the commencement of commencement of the development hereby 
approved a Code of Construction Practice shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The construction shall then be carried out in 
accordance with the approved Code of Construction Practice and BS5228 Noise 
Vibration and Control on Construction and Open Sites and the Control of dust from 
construction sites (BRE DTi Feb 2003) unless previously agreed in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. 

The Code of Construction Practice shall include, 

(a) Measures to minimise the production of dust 

(b) Measures to minimise the noise (including vibration) generated by the 
construction process to include the careful selection of plant and machinery 
and use of noise mitigation barrier(s).The measures shall include but not be 
limited to a BS5228 assessment to protect Victoria road primary school from 
construction noise and vibration as recommend by para 8.1.2 of the 
Merebrook Environmental Noise Assessment Report ENA-1943-15-280 Rev 
B dated December 2015. 

(c) Maximum noise levels expected 1 metre from the affected façade of any 
residential unit adjacent to the plot

(d) Location of construction compound and design and provision of site 
hoardings 

(e) Management of traffic visiting the plot including temporary parking or holding 
areas 

(f) Provision of off road parking for all site operatives 

(g) Measures to prevent the transfer of mud and extraneous material onto the 
public highway 

(h) Measures to manage the production of waste and to maximise the re-use of 
materials 

(i) Measures to minimise the potential for pollution of groundwater and surface 

Page 10



P140218
___________________________________________________________________

water 

(j) The location and design of site office(s) and storage compounds 

(k) The location of temporary vehicle access points to the plot during the 
construction works (including loading and turning of construction vehicles) 

(l) Lorry routing to the site from the M20 

(m) The arrangements for public liaison during the construction works 

Reason: To protect the amenity of local residents.

7 No construction activities shall take place, other than between 0730 to 1800 hours 
(Monday to Friday) and 0730 to 1300 hours (Saturday) with no working activities on 
Sunday or Bank Holiday unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority.

Reason:  In the interests of the residential amenity of the area.

8 Compliance with approved plans 

The development shall be carried out in accordance with the plans listed in the 
section of this decision notice headed Plans/Documents approved by this decision 
and notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General 
Permitted Development) Order 2015 (or any order revoking and re-enacting that 
Order with or without modification). 

Reason: To ensure the development is carried out in accordance with the approval 
and to ensure the quality of development indicated on the approved plans is 
achieved in practice.

9 The development shall be made available for inspection, at a reasonable time, by 
the local planning authority to ascertain whether a breach of planning control may 
have occurred on the site (e.g. as a result of departure from the plans hereby 
approved and/or the terms of this permission). 

Reason: In the interests of ensuring the proper planning of the locality and the 
protection of amenity and the environment, securing high-quality development 
through adherence to the terms of planning approvals, and ensuring community 
confidence in the planning system.

10 Prior to the occupation any dwelling hereby approved, a scheme for the control of 
noise and vibration of plant (including mechanical ventilation, refrigeration, air 
conditioning and air handling units) to protect occupants from noise and vibration to 
be used shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. This shall then be so installed prior to the first use of the building. The 

Page 11



P140218
___________________________________________________________________

equipment shall be maintained and operated in compliance to the approved scheme 
whenever it is operation. After installation of the approved plant, no new plant or 
ducting system shall be used without the prior written consent of the Local Planning 
Authority. 

Reason: In order to protect the occupiers of the dwellings from undue disturbance 
by noise.

11 Drainage – Foul and Surface Water 

Prior to the commencement of the development hereby approved details of the 
works for the disposal of sewage serving buildings shall be provided on the site in 
accordance with details previously submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority in consultation with Southern Water unless otherwise 
agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 

Reason: To ensure proper sewage disposal and avoid pollution of the surrounding 
area. 

12 Each dwelling shall be constructed and fitted out so that the potential consumption 
of wholesome water by persons occupying the dwelling will not exceed 110 litres 
per person per day as measured in accordance with a methodology approved by 
the Secretary of State. 

No dwelling shall be occupied unless the notice for that dwelling of the potential 
consumption of wholesome water per person per day required by the Building 
Regulations 2010 (as amended) has been given to the Local Planning Authority. 

Reason: In order to set a higher limit on the consumption of water by occupiers as 
allowed by regulation 36 of the Building Regulations 2010 and increase the 
sustainability of the development and minimise the use of natural resources 
pursuant to Core Strategy policies CS1 and CS9 and guidance in the NPPF.

13 Visual amenity 

Without the prior written consent of the Local Planning Authority: 

 No fixtures shall be attached to the exterior of any building 

 No structures shall be placed or installed on the roof of any building 

Reason: In the interests of protecting the character, appearance and visual amenity 
of the important entrance to Ashford.

14 No vents or flues shall be located on any façade of the buildings hereby approved 
other than in accordance with details to be submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority, or as per details already shown on the approved 

Page 12



P140218
___________________________________________________________________

drawings. 

Reason: In the interests of the visual amenity of the area.

Notes to Applicant

1. Working with the Applicant

In accordance with paragraphs 186 and 187 of the NPPF Ashford Borough 
Council (ABC) takes a positive and proactive approach to development proposals 
focused on solutions.  ABC works with applicants/agents in a positive and 
proactive manner by;

 offering a pre-application advice service,

 as appropriate updating applicants/agents of any issues that may arise in the 
processing of their application 

 where possible suggesting solutions to secure a successful outcome, 

 informing applicants/agents of any likely recommendation of refusal prior to a 
decision and,

 by adhering to the requirements of the Development Management Customer 
Charter.

In this instance the applicant/agent was updated of any issues after the initial site 
visit,

 was provided with pre-application advice,

 the application was acceptable as submitted and no further assistance was 
required.

 The applicant was provided the opportunity to submit amendments to the 
scheme/ address issues.

 The application was dealt with/approved without delay.

 The application was considered by the Planning Committee where the 
applicant/agent had the opportunity to speak to the committee and promote 
the application.

2. A formal application for connection to the public sewerage system is required in 
order to service this development. To initiate a sewer capacity check to identify 
the appropriate connection point for the development, Please contact Southern 

Page 13



P140218
___________________________________________________________________

Water, Sparrowgrove House, Sparrowgrove, Otterbourne, Hampshire SO21 2SW 
(Tel: 0330 303 0119) or www.southernwater.co.uk

___________________________________________________________________

Application Number 17/01357/AS

Location Trafalgar House, Elwick Road, Ashford, Kent

Grid Reference 0085/4255

Ward Victoria

Application 
Description

6 storey development comprising ground floor retail/ 
restaurant premises use class A1/A2/A3/A4/A5 with 14 no 
1-bedroom flats above with roof terraces.

Applicant Shaptor Capital Ltd Castle House Castle Hill Avenue 
Folkestone, Kent, CT20 2TQ 

Agent OSG Architecture Ltd Wyseplan Building Occupation 
Road Wye, Ashford, Kent, TN25 5EN 

Site Area 0.03

(a) 45/1R (b) (c) SW - X
KCC (H&T)  – X
KCC (FWM) - R
ES (EP) – X 
AA – R
KCC (ED) – X
KCC (PP) - X

Resolved:

(A) Subject to the applicant first entering into a section 106 
agreement/undertaking in respect of planning obligations related to: 

a. Libraries

b. Monitoring fee  

as detailed in Table 1, in terms agreeable to the Head of Development 
Management and Strategic Sites and Design or the Development Control 
Managers in consultation with the Corporate Director (Law & 
Governance)  with delegated authority to either the Head of 
Development Management and Strategic Sites and Design or the 
Development Control Managers to make or approve minor changes to 

Page 14



P140218
___________________________________________________________________

the planning obligations and planning conditions (for the avoidance of 
doubt including adding additional obligations / planning conditions or 
deleting obligations / conditions) as they see fit.

Table 1

Planning Obligation

Detail Amount(s) Trigger Point(s)

1 Libraries

Applies to developments of 10 
dwellings or more 

Contribution for additional 
bookstock at libraries in the 
borough

£672.22

£48.02 per 
dwelling

Half the contribution 
upon occupation of 
25% of the dwellings 
and balance on 
occupation of 50% of 
the dwellings

2
Monitoring Fee

Applies in all cases

Contribution towards the Council’s 
costs of monitoring compliance 
with the agreement or undertaking

£1000
per annum 
until 
development 
is completed 

or

£X one-off 
payment

First payment upon 
commencement of 
development and on 
the anniversary 
thereof in 
subsequent years (if 
not one-off payment)

Regulation 123(3) compliance: Fewer than five planning obligations which 
provide for the funding or provision of the projects above or the types of 
infrastructure above have been entered into.

Notices must be given to the Council at various stages in order to aid 
monitoring.  All contributions are index linked in order to maintain their value.  
The Council’s legal costs in connection with the deed must be paid.

If an acceptable deed is not completed within 3 months of the 
committee’s resolution, the application may be refused.

(B) Permit

Subject to the following conditions and notes:

1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of 3 years 
from the date of this decision.

Page 15

https://goo.gl/b2CNNE
https://goo.gl/sguDWQ


P140218
___________________________________________________________________

Reason: To comply with the requirements of Section 91 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004.

2. Written details including source/ manufacturer, and samples of bricks, tiles and 
cladding materials to be used externally shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority before the development is commenced and 
the development shall be carried out using the approved external materials.

Reason: In the interests of visual amenity.

3. No development including any works of demolition or preparation works prior to 
building operations shall take place on site until a Construction and Transport 
Management Plan has been submitted to, and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The Management Plan shall include the following:

a. parking for site personnel, visitors and operatives; details of areas for the 
loading and unloading of plant and materials, and provision on-site for turning for 
construction vehicles including HGV's;

b. details of areas for the storage of plant and materials;

c. details of the form and location of any proposed temporary works compounds; 
and

d. details of facilities, by which vehicles will have their wheels, chassis and 
bodywork effectively cleaned and washed free of mud and similar substances;

The approved Management Plan shall be adhered to throughout the duration of the 
demolition and construction period.

Reason: In order that the development should not prejudice highway safety nor 
cause inconvenience to other highway users and in the interest of the amenity of 
local residents.

4. Prior to the commencement of development, a scheme for protecting the dwellings/ 
development hereby approved from noise from the ground floor commercial uses 
shall be submitted to and approved in the Local Planning Authority. The approved 
protection measures shall thereafter be completed before the approved dwellings/ 
development are occupied, and thereafter shall be retained as effective protection.

Reason: In order to protect the occupiers of the dwellings from undue disturbance 
by noise.

5 Prior to the commencement of development, details of facilities, by which vehicles 
will have their wheels, chassis and bodywork effectively cleaned and washed free of 
mud and similar substances at the application site, shall be submitted to and 

Page 16



P140218
___________________________________________________________________

approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The approved facilities shall 
then be provided prior to the works commencing on site and thereafter shall be 
maintained in an effective working condition and used before vehicles exit the site 
and enter onto the adopted highway for the duration of the construction works.

Reason: To ensure that no mud or other material is taken from the site onto the 
neighbouring highway by wheels of vehicles leaving the site to the detriment of 
highway safety and the amenities of local residents.

6 Prior to the first operation of the premises, a scheme and maintenance schedule for 
the extraction and treatment of fumes and odours generated from cooking or any 
other activity undertaken on the premises, shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. Any equipment, plant or process provided or 
undertaken in pursuance of this condition shall be installed prior to the first 
operation of the premises and these shall thereafter be operated and retained in 
compliance with the approved scheme.

Reason:  To prevent the transmission of fumes and odours into neighbouring 
properties to protect amenity.

7. Construction of the development shall not commence until details of the proposed 
means of foul water sewerage disposal have been submitted to, and approved in 
writing by, the Local Planning Authority and such approved works shall be carried 
out before occupation and appropriately retained and maintained in perpetuity.

Reason: To avoid pollution of the surrounding area.

8. The development approved shall be made available for inspection, at a reasonable 
time, by the local Planning authority to ascertain whether a breach of planning 
control may have occurred on the land (as a result of departure from the plans 
hereby approved and the specific terms of this permission/consent/approval).

Reason: In the interests of ensuring the proper planning of the locality, the 
protection of amenity and the environment, securing high quality development 
through adherence to the terms of planning approvals and to ensure community 
confidence in the operation of the planning system.

9. If unexpected contamination is found at any time when carrying out the approved 
development it must be reported in writing to the Local Planning Authority.  An 
investigation and risk assessment must be undertaken in accordance with the 
requirements of condition 1, and where remediation is necessary a remediation 
scheme must be prepared in accordance with the requirements of condition 2.

Following completion of the remediation scheme a verification report that 
demonstrates the effectiveness of the remediation carried out must be prepared 
and submitted for approval in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

Page 17



P140218
___________________________________________________________________

Reason: To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of land 
and neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled waters, 
property and ecological systems, and to ensure that the development can be 
carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other 
offsite receptors.  (LDF Core Strategy Policy CS1 and CS4)

10. Without the prior written consent of the Local Planning Authority:

a. Notwithstanding the provisions of Parts 2a - f, 7a - e, 14a - d, 16a - c, of 
Schedule 2 to the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 
Development) (England) Order 2015 (or any Order revoking and re-enacting 
that Order), no development permitted by those parts shall be carried out.

b. No fixtures shall be attached to the exterior of the building.

c. No structures shall be placed or installed on the rood of the building.

d. No flues, vents, stacks, extractor fans, external pipework or meter boxes 
shall be located on the Bank Street elevation of the building.

Reason: In the interests of protecting the character, appearance and visual 
amenity of the important entrance to Ashford.

11. Development shall not begin until a surface water drainage scheme for the site, 
based on sustainable drainage principles, has been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the local planning authority. The scheme shall subsequently be 
implemented in accordance with the approved details before the development is 
completed. 

Reason: To reduce the risk of flooding by ensuring the satisfactory storage and 
disposal of surface water from the site.

12. Before any works are carried out the following details shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority and the works thereafter shall 
be carried out in accordance with the approved details. 

a) Details of any flues, grilles, vents to be installed including location, colour and 
materials. 

b) Details of rainwater goods and soil pipes to be installed.

c) Details of balconies

d) Eaves detail

e) Sections and details of joinery, including colour

Page 18



P140218
___________________________________________________________________

f) Details of fascias

g) Details of window reveals & details of the glass balustrade

h) Details of mortar colour and joint type and size.

Reason: In order to protect the visual amenity of the locality. 

13. No site clearance, preparation or construction works shall take place, other than 
between 0730 to 1800 hours (Monday to Friday) and 0730 to 1300 hours (Saturday) 
with no working activities on Sunday, Public and Bank Holiday. 

Reason: To protect the amenity of local residents.

14. Before any dwelling is occupied, details of secure covered cycle parking facilities 
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
These shall be provided prior to occupation of any of the units and retained 
permanently for this use.

Reason: To ensure adequate provision of cycle parking in the interest of highway 
safety.

15. Before development commences details shall be submitted for the installation of 
fixed telecommunication infrastructure and High Speed Fibre Optic (minimal internal 
speed of 100mb) connections to multi point destinations and all buildings including 
residential, commercial and community. This shall provide sufficient capacity, 
including duct sizing to cater for all future phases of the development with sufficient 
flexibility to meet the needs of existing and future residents. The infrastructure shall 
be laid out in accordance with the approved details and at the same time as other 
services during the construction period.

Reason: To help future proof the development 

16. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the plans listed in the 
section of this decision notice headed Plans/Documents Approved by this decision, 
unless otherwise agreed by the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: To ensure the development is carried out in accordance with the approval 
and to ensure the quality of development indicated on the approved plans is 
achieved in practice.

17. Prior to the commencement of the development hereby approved details of a 
Construction Management Plan shall be submitted to and approved by the Local 
Planning Authority in writing and thereafter the development shall be carried out in 
accordance with the approved details.  The submission shall include the following:

Page 19



P140218
___________________________________________________________________

(a) Routing of construction and delivery vehicles to / from site

(b) Parking and turning areas for construction and delivery vehicles and site 
personnel

(c) Timing of deliveries

(d) Provision of wheel washing facilities

(e) Temporary traffic management / signage

(f) Provision of measures to prevent the discharge of surface water onto the 
highway.

(g) Provision and permanent retention of secure, covered cycle parking facilities 
prior to the use of the site commencing in accordance with details to be 
submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: In the interests of highway safety.

18. Prior to the commencement of the development details of a strategy to salvage and 
clean the shared space materials together with a programme for returning of the 
materials to Kent County Council Highways and Transportation shall be submitted 
to and approved by the Local Planning Authority in writing and thereafter the 
development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details.

Reason: In the interests of the visual amenity of the area as the materials will be 
re-used within the locality.

19. Each dwelling shall be constructed and fitted out so that the potential consumption 
of wholesome water by persons occupying the dwelling will not exceed 110 litres 
per person per day as measured in accordance with a methodology approved by 
the Secretary of State.

No dwelling shall be occupied unless the notice for that dwelling of the potential 
consumption of wholesome water per person per day required by the Building 
Regulations 2010 (as amended) has been given to the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: In order to set a higher limit on the consumption of water by occupiers as 
allowed by regulation 36 of the Building Regulations 2010 and increase the 
sustainability of the development and minimise the use of natural resources 
pursuant to Core Strategy policies CS1 and CS9 and guidance in the NPPF.

Notes to Applicant

1. Working with the Applicant

Page 20



P140218
___________________________________________________________________

In accordance with paragraphs 186 and 187 of the NPPF Ashford Borough 
Council (ABC) takes a positive and proactive approach to development 
proposals focused on solutions.  ABC works with applicants/agents in a 
positive and proactive manner by;

a. offering a pre-application advice service,

b. as appropriate updating applicants/agents of any issues that may arise in 
the processing of their application 

c. where possible suggesting solutions to secure a successful outcome, 

d. informing applicants/agents of any likely recommendation of refusal prior 
to a decision and,

e. by adhering to the requirements of the Development Management 
Customer Charter.

In this instance

f. the applicant/agent was updated of any issues after the initial site visit,

g. was provided with pre-application advice,

h. The applicant was provided the opportunity to submit amendments to the 
scheme to address highway issues.

i. The application was considered by the Planning Committee where the 
applicant/agent had the opportunity to speak to the committee and 
promote the application.

2. A formal application for connection to the public sewerage system is required 
in order to service this development. To initiate a sewer capacity check to 
identify the appropriate connection point for the development, please contact 
Southern Water, Sparrowgrove House Sparrowgrove, Otterbourne, 
Hampshire SO21 2SW (Tel: 0330 303 0119) or www.southernwater.co.uk

It is the responsibility of the developer to make suitable provision for the 
disposal of surface water. Part H3 of the Building Regulations prioritises the 
means of surface water disposal in the order

a Adequate soakaway or infiltration system

b Water course

c Where neither of the above is practicable sewer

Page 21



P140218
___________________________________________________________________

Southern Water supports this stance and seeks through appropriate Planning 
Conditions to ensure that appropriate means of surface water disposal are 
proposed for each development. It is important that discharge to sewer 
occurs only where this is necessary and where adequate capacity exists to 
serve the development. When it is proposed to connect to a public sewer the 
prior approval of Southern Water is required.

The applicant should be advised that a wastewater grease trap should be 
provided on the kitchen waste pipe or drain installed and maintained by the 
owner or operator of the premises.

3. The applicant’s attention is drawn to the comments received from Southern 
Water a copy of which can be viewed on the Councils website at 
http://planning.ashford.gov.uk/.

4. Planning permission does not convey for any works within the highway for 
which a statutory licence must be obtained. Applicants should contact Kent 
County Council – Highways and Transportation (web: 
www.kent.gov.uk/roads_and_transport.aspx or telephone: 03000 418181) in 
order to obtain the necessary Application Pack.

5. It is the responsibility of the applicant to ensure, before the development 
hereby approved is commenced, that all necessary highway approvals and 
consents where required are obtained and that the limits of highway 
boundary are clearly established in order to avoid any enforcement action 
being taken by the Highway Authority.

Across the county there are pieces of land next to private homes and gardens 
that do not look like roads or pavements but are actually part of the road. This 
is called ‘highway land’. Some of this land is owned by The Kent County 
Council (KCC) whilst some are owned by third party owners. Irrespective of 
the ownership, this land may have ‘highway rights’ over the topsoil.

Information about how to clarify the highway boundary can be found at 
http://www.kent.gov.uk/roads-and-travel/what-we-look-after/highway-land The 
applicant must also ensure that the details shown on the approved plans 
agree in every aspect with those approved under such legislation and 
common law. It is therefore important for the applicant to contact KCC 
Highways and Transportation to progress this aspect of the works prior to 
commencement on site.

6 The proposals will require a Section 278 Agreement in order to tie the 
proposals into the existing highway. 

This can be agreed with the Ashford District Manager, Lisa Willoughby 03000 
418181.

Page 22



P140218
___________________________________________________________________

7 In respect to condition 18, the BT GPON system is currently being rolled out 
in Kent by BDUK. This is a laid fibre optic network offering a single optical 
fibre to multi point destinations ie. fibre direct to premises.

___________________________________________________________________

Application Number 17/01668/AS

Location Land south of Gilham Farm known as lot 3, Luckhurst 
Lane, Smarden

Grid Reference 87469 / 40788

Parish Council Smarden 

Ward Weald North

Application Description Erection of stable block to replace those approved 
under application 06/01506/AS

Applicant Mr P Hare 

Agent Mr M Green Green Planning Studios Ltd

Site Area XX

(a) 10R 1+ (b) Smarden PC R (c) ESM X; WKPS X

In accordance with Procedure Rule 9.3, Mr Beckett, a local resident, spoke in 
objection to the application.   He owned Gilham farm which was adjacent to Lot 3.  
He objected to the rebuilding of the stables for a number of reasons.  The visual 
impact would be greater than it was when the original permission was granted in 
2007 due to the fact that some of the hedges had now been cut back to a normal 
height.  This was in order to improve the visibility on a very narrow lane which carried 
a number of vehicles throughout the day.  The second objection was that, over the 
ten years that the stables had been there, there had been considerable disturbance 
and distress caused to Mr Beckett and his wife.  The behaviour of some of the 
occupiers of the land did not comply with the terms and conditions which were set 
out at the time of the appeal when permission was granted.  It was very difficult from 
the Council’s point of view to monitor on a daily basis whether these conditions were 
being complied with, but as a nearby resident Mr Beckett could see that this was not 
the case.  As a result Mr Beckett opposed the rebuilding of the stables.  In his view 
the occupiers were running a form of business, which was specifically excluded by 
the appeal decision.  The owner had been letting out the field to various people for 
their horses, many of which had been left in a distressed state.  Some had died and 
others had been in need of veterinary attention, which they did not receive.  The 

Page 23



P140218
___________________________________________________________________

animals had sometimes been left unfed and unattended.  Hence, Mr Beckett 
opposed the proposed development on Lot 3.  

In accordance with Procedure Rule 9.3, Mr Green, the agent, spoke in support of the 
application.  He said the Committee should decide the matter on planning issues 
only, and this application was for a replacement for the stable block that was granted 
permission in 2006.  It was accepted by the Council that the principle of keeping 
horses on this land was already established, and the site had a stable block on it that 
was used by the previous occupants of the land prior to its destruction.  The impact 
upon the visual amenity of the area was minimal as the building would be shielded 
from view by the hedge alongside the lane and could not be seen from the gate.  
Hedges could grow up as well as be cut down.  The construction of the building 
would be in keeping with similar buildings of that type found in a rural setting.  
Neighbouring properties would not be unduly affected, either visually or from noise or 
odour.  Public amenity was not compromised.  The impact on highway safety was 
likely to be low, as the number of extra vehicle movements would be insignificant, 
particularly with the proposed condition limiting the use to private, non-commercial 
use only.  The effect upon ecology was likely to be minimal as the site had already 
been grazed and the building would be situated on the existing hardstanding.  The 
application accorded with the Development Plan policies listed in the Officer’s report.  
The Recommendation for approval came with nine conditions and the applicant 
would comply with all of them.  Although the issue of animal welfare was not a 
planning matter, the issue had been raised in the course of this application and did 
arouse great passions.  Mr Green had been informed that the instances referred to 
had involved a previous occupier.  Following the proposed conditions there was an 
informative regarding animal welfare.  The applicant had been appraised of this and 
intended to comply with the Defra code of practice.  He also intended to remove any 
ragwort found on the site.  As some of the horses intended to be stabled at the site 
were expensive and of great sentimental value to the applicant’s daughter, the 
applicant had every incentive to ensure their health and wellbeing.  Mr Green urged 
Members to approve this application.  

In accordance with Procedure Rule 9.3, Ms Ellison spoke on behalf of Smarden 
Parish Council in objection to the application.  The Parish Council objected on a 
number of grounds.  The site was within an area of pleasant, unspoiled countryside 
which was designated as a special landscape area.  The Borough Council sought to 
protect the quality of landscapes of such areas, as well as the countryside generally.  
The aim was perpetuated in the Local Development Framework Core Strategy.  In 
the 11 years since the stables were permitted on appeal, this fundamental tenet of 
the Council had been consistently abused by a steady stream of occupiers of the site 
and stables.  The various enforcement notices and reports to the Council on non-
compliance and breaches of planning permissions underlined why this site should be 
refused.  The site was in the open countryside.  While the Officer’s report stated that 
it was not visible from Gilham Farm, it was visible from a nearby lane and the houses 
in that area.  It stood at one of the highest points in the parish.  This proposal would 
harm, and had consistently harmed, the site and appearance of the neighbouring 
countryside, and a stable block standing on its own was incongruous in its setting 

Page 24



P140218
___________________________________________________________________

and out of character with the area.  In 2007 the Inspector stated that Gilham Farm 
was a site of nature conservation importance in the Local Plan and there was no 
evidence that the application for stables would harm this.  There was now evidence 
that by allowing the stables on appeal in 2007, harm had been caused to the site for 
over 10 years.  Guidelines stated that stables should be adjacent or near to 
dwellings.  This was not the case.  The site was not suitable for stables as it was 
remote, in open countryside and away from any dwelling.  Mobile homes were likely 
to follow this form of development.  History and knowledge of the Borough should 
dictate that the lack of any structures on this site would make it less appealing for 
mobile homes.  The Officer’s report gave little weight to the considerable weight 
applied to the harm to the landscape character of this site by the appeal Inspectors 
in 2007 and 2017.  It would be naïve to ignore the Inspectors’ comments about the 
significance of the landscape character.  The landscape had not changed since 2007 
or 2017, and was still the same open Wealden countryside, just as vulnerable now 
as it was previously.  The Officer’s report stated that the stables were sympathetic to 
the site’s rural setting, and the character of the countryside would be preserved.  
However, this was not the case, and Ms Ellison asked Members to refuse the 
application.   

The Ward Member attended and spoke in objection to the application.

Resolved:

Refuse

For the following reasons:-

The proposed development would be contrary to policies GP12 of the Ashford 
Borough Local Plan 2000, CS1 and CS9 of the Local Development Framework Core 
Strategy (2008), TRS 17 of the Tenterden and Rural Sites DPD, and SP1 and 
ENV3a of the Ashford Local Plan to 2030 and to the adopted Stables, Arenas and 
Horse Related Development SPD and to Government Guidance contained in the 
National Planning Policy Framework and would therefore be contrary to interests of 
acknowledged planning importance for the following reasons: 

1. The proposal would unacceptably and detrimentally impact upon the visual 
character of the Haffenden Quarter Farmlands Low Weald Landscape 
Character Area due to the visual impact of a large and prominent building in 
the landscape, which is exacerbated by its isolated position and lack of 
grouping with other buildings. The visual appearance of the proposed stable 
block is overly specified in terms of materials leading to an urbanising effect.

2. The isolated location of the proposal would be likely to lead to security and 
welfare issues, to the detriment of the amenity of local residents as the stable 
block would not be located where it is easily overseen from a related dwelling. 
The adopted SPD states that stables should ideally be located close to the 
dwelling occupied by the person responsible for the care of the horses. This 
helps to minimise the visual impact of the buildings in the landscape as well 

Page 25



P140218
___________________________________________________________________

as provide a sensible level of security and readily available care for the 
horses. The nearest dwelling is several hundred metres away and not 
associated with the proposal.

Notes

Working with the Applicant

 In accordance with paragraphs 186 and 187 of the NPPF 
Ashford Borough Council (ABC) takes a positive and proactive 
approach to development proposals focused on solutions.  
ABC works with applicants/agents in a positive and proactive 
manner by;

 offering a pre-application advice service,

 as appropriate updating applicants/agents of any issues that 
may arise in the processing of their application 

 where possible suggesting solutions to secure a successful 
outcome, 

 informing applicants/agents of any likely recommendation of 
refusal prior to a decision and,

 by adhering to the requirements of the Development 
Management Customer Charter.

__________________________________________________________________

17/01781/AS

4 Parker Close, Hamstreet, Ashford, Kent, TN26 2JQ

00060/33249

Orlestone

Weald South

Erection of a two-storey side extension to form annexe 
accommodation and part conversion of garage to form 
cloakroom

Mr & Mrs Pettit c/o Agent

Nick Highton 11 Cherry Garden Lane Folkestone Kent 
CT19 4AD

(a) 9/- (b) - (c) -

Application Number

Location    

Grid Reference

Parish Council

Ward

Application 
Description
Applicant

Agent

Site Area

Page 26



P140218
___________________________________________________________________

Resolved:

Permit

Subject to the following conditions and notes: 

Time limit for implementation

1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of 3 
years from the date of this decision.

Reason: To comply with the requirements of Section 91 of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990 as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

2. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the details of 
external materials specified in the application which shall not be varied without 
the prior written permission of the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: In the interests of visual amenity.

3. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the plans listed in 
the section of this decision notice headed Plans/Documents Approved by this 
decision, unless otherwise agreed by the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: To ensure the development is carried out in accordance with the 
approval and to ensure the quality of development indicated on the approved 
plans is achieved in practice.

4. The development approved shall be made available for inspection, at a 
reasonable time, by the local Planning authority to ascertain whether a breach 
of planning control may have occurred on the land (as a result of departure 
from the plans hereby approved and the specific terms of this 
permission/consent/approval).

Reason: In the interests of ensuring the proper planning of the locality, the 
protection of amenity and the environment, securing high quality development 
through adherence to the terms of planning approvals and to ensure 
community confidence in the operation of the planning system

Plans/Documents approved

Location Plans

Existing Elevations 17/61-2

Proposed Details 17/61-3

Page 27



P140218
___________________________________________________________________

Site Plan 17/61-4

Note to Applicant

1. Working with the Applicant

In accordance with paragraphs 186 and 187 of the NPPF Ashford Borough Council 
(ABC) takes a positive and proactive approach to development proposals focused on 
solutions.  ABC works with applicants/agents in a positive and proactive manner by;

 offering a pre-application advice service,

 as appropriate updating applicants/agents of any issues that may arise in the 
processing of their application 

 where possible suggesting solutions to secure a successful outcome, 

 informing applicants/agents of any likely recommendation of refusal prior to a 
decision and,

 by adhering to the requirements of the Development Management Customer 
Charter.

In this instance

 was provided with pre-application advice,

 the applicant/agent was updated of any issues after the initial site visit,

 the application was acceptable as submitted and no further assistance was 
required.

 The applicant was provided the opportunity to submit amendments to the 
scheme/ address issues.

 The application was dealt with/approved without delay.

 The application was considered by the Planning Committee where the 
applicant/agent had the opportunity to speak to the committee and promote 
the application

___________________________________________________________________

Page 28



P140218
___________________________________________________________________

The Head of Development Management and Strategic Sites drew Members’ 
attention to the Update Report.  There were a number of very recent updates to the 
report, general and specific amendments to the revised Recommendation, an update 
on conditional material, and details of further responses from consultees.  The 
revised Recommendation was set out, including the amendments.  

In accordance with Procedure Rule 9.3, Mr Chapman, the agent, spoke in support of 
the application.  This reserved matters application was the culmination of over ten 
years’ work on Chilmington Green.  The applicant had worked closely with Council 
teams and consultants, and attended numerous pre and post- application meetings.  
Two Design Panel workshops had also been held.  Amendments and further 
improvements had been incorporated into the proposals, including changes to the 
Masterplan layout, fine-tuning the architectural approach and materials, landscaping 
and detailed technical changes arising from consultation with Highways.  The outline 
Masterplan covered the whole site, and a detailed design code would provide quality 

Application Number 17/01170/AS

Location    Land at Chilmington Green, Ashford Road, Great 
Chart, Ashford, Kent

Grid Reference

Parish Council

97953/40353

Great Chart with Singleton

Ward Great Chart with Singleton North

Application 
Description

Layout, Access, Scale, Landscaping and Appearance 
of development at Chilmington Green for 346 
residential dwellings, which comprises  a mix of two 
bedroom apartments, two, three, four and five bedroom 
houses within Land Parcels B, C, J & K within Main 
AAP Phase 1.

Applicant Hodson Developments

Site Area 15.70 Hectares

(a) 36/2R (b) Great Chart X
Shadoxhurst X
Kingsnorth +

(c) EA R, SWS R, KCC 
(H&T) R,  CMO PT 
X, KCC PP X, KCC 
BIO X, EHM (EP) X, 
ABC OSS R, 
PO(Drainage) R, 
ABC Culture R, 
AAG X

Page 29



P140218
___________________________________________________________________

assurance.  The applicant sought to create a sense of place, unity, distinctiveness 
and a sequence of character areas.  The design code also set out key principles for 
the development.  The neighbourhood would be characterised by high-quality 
contemporary design.  The design of individual buildings would respond to the 
degree of formality within the neighbourhood.  Key groupings in the design code 
would have a coherence to create harmonious composition.  Architects had been 
encouraged to express individual design along the boundaries to create varied 
housing.  Different design emphasis was also encouraged, with clusters of housing 
retaining hedgerows to allow a natural separation between different areas of the 
development.  The Masterplan set out a sequence of character areas, with five main 
defined areas.  This first phase would set the standard for the rest of the 
development.  

Resolved:

1. Subject to the receipt of satisfactory amended plans and details in the 
opinion of the Head of Development Management and Strategic Sites 
covering the following issues:-

(a) The provision of satisfactory detailed planting schedules for all 
landscaped areas.

(b) The submission of a Landscape and SuDs maintenance and 
management strategy as set out in the report

(c) Revision to the details of the Greensand Way connecting PROW width 
to a minimum 3m & hardsurfacing of the route

(d) Full details including samples of all materials being supplied and 
acceptable

(e) Revised front boundary details as detailed in the report

(f) Increased Garden Depths to accord with the Council’s space standards.

(g) Amended Refuse strategy showing compliant vehicle tracking

(h) Compliance with adopted parking standards

(i) Amendments to take account of  KCC Highways and Transportation 
concerns

(j)  A S96A for the variation of condition 18 to be submitted and approved.

(k) Changes to hard landscape proposals to accord with the DC i.e. 
footways being brick paving rather than Tarmac or Block Paving

(l) Advance Planting Details being acceptable or revisions made.

(m) Timing of the provision of noise mitigation measures

Page 30



P140218
___________________________________________________________________

(n) Provision of an acceptable External Lighting plan

(o) Full submission to discharge condition 50 in an acceptable manner

2. And subject to a full re-consultation on all the amended plans and 
details and no new issues of substance in the opinion of the Head of 
Development Management and Strategic Sites being raised, and the 
withdrawal of the objections by the Environment Agency and KCC 
Highways and Transportation.

3. Authority be delegated to the Head of Development Management and 
Strategic Sites to issue Reserved Matters Approval and to make or 
approve minor changes to the proposed conditions (for the avoidance of 
doubt including adding conditions or deleting conditions) as she sees 
fit,
 
Subject to the following conditions and notes:

1. Prior to the commencement of the development hereby approved the 
following details shall be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning 
Authority in writing and thereafter implemented in accordance with the 
approved details:

a) Precise scaled elevational drawings of the proposed vehicle 
bridge/culvert crossing over the existing ditch to the south west of 
Great Chart Green.

b) 1/20 drawings showing sections through the bridge walls/enclosures to
include profile of edge of bridge and balustrade, as well as any 
balustrade design

c) Sample panels of facing stonework showing the proposed stone, 
texture, face-bond and pointing shall be provided on site and approved 
by the Local Planning Authority before the relevant parts of the works 
are commenced and the sample panels shall be retained on site until 
the work has been completed and has been approved.

d) Scaled plans of revised outflow headwalls to Pond 3 and Ponds 4a/4b.
The plans shall show the headwall set flush with the embankment and 
clad in stonework, with the omission of the projecting buttress details.

Reason: In the interests of securing a high quality development.

2. Prior to the commencement of the development hereby approved the 
following details shall be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning 

Page 31



P140218
___________________________________________________________________

Authority in writing and thereafter implemented in accordance with the 
approved details:

1. Play equipment specification

2. Bat and bird boxes for all houses

Reason: In the interests of securing a high quality development and to 
meet the requirements of the bio-diversity strategy.

3. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning 
(General Permitted Development) (England) Order 2015 (as amended), 
no development shall be carried out within Classes A, B, E and F of Part 1 
of Schedule 2 to that Order (or any Order revoking and re-enacting that 
Order), without prior written approval of the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: In the interests of protecting the character and amenities of the 
locality.

Notes to Applicant 

1. Working with the Applicant

In accordance with paragraphs 186 and 187 of the NPPF Ashford Borough Council 
(ABC) takes a positive and proactive approach to development proposals focused on 
solutions.  ABC works with applicants/agents in a positive and proactive manner by;

 offering a pre-application advice service,

 as appropriate updating applicants/agents of any issues that may arise in the 
processing of their application 

 where possible suggesting solutions to secure a successful outcome, 

 informing applicants/agents of any likely recommendation of refusal prior to a 
decision and,

 by adhering to the requirements of the Development Management Customer 
Charter.

 In this instance 

 the applicant/agent was updated of any issues after the initial site visit,

 was provided with pre-application advice,

 The applicant was provided the opportunity to submit amendments to the 
scheme/ address issues.

 The application was considered by the Planning Committee where the 
applicant/agent had the opportunity to speak to the committee and promote 
the application.

Page 32



P140218
___________________________________________________________________

2. Approval of Details A

This approval discharges all conditions attached to outline planning permission 
reference 12/00400/AS insofar as they require details of the proposed development 
to be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority.  Any variation to 
the approved details will, however, need to be submitted for further approval before 
the relevant work is carried out.  The applicant should also be aware of the 
continuing obligations imposed by some conditions as the development progresses 
and is completed.

3. Environmental Protection Act 1990

The applicant is advised to note the provisions of the Environmental Protection Act 
1990 Part III with regard to noise.

4. Advice on Landscaping and Trees

In connection with the above conditions the applicant is advised to contact the 
Landscape Officer in the Council's Planning and Development Unit

5. Estate Roads - Design and Adoption

The estate roads to be designed and built to adoptable standards in accordance with 
the current requirements of the Highway Authority are to be subject to an adoption 
agreement under Section 38 of the Highways Act which must be entered into before 
the development or any part of it is occupied. 

6. Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981

The applicant’s attention is drawn to the provision of Wildlife and Countryside Act 
1981.

7. Drainage

The applicant should ensure that surface water drainage is not directed to, or 
connected to, the public foul sewer.

8. Provision of Utilities to Develop Sites

The applicant is advised to contact those bodies responsible for the supply of gas, 
electricity, water, telephone and other such services as soon as possible to ascertain 
the requirements and to ensure that suitable provision is included within the detailed 
plans submitted to the Local Planning Authority pursuant to this permission.  The 
applicant should take steps to ensure that the services are installed in their co-
ordinated manner at the time of development and that electricity and telephone 
supply cables are placed underground.  The applicant’s attention is drawn to the 
guidelines set out in the national Joint Utilities Group Publication Number 2 (further 
details available from NJUG Secretariat c/o The Electricity Council, 30 Millbank, 
London, SW1P 4RD. 

Page 33



P140218
___________________________________________________________________

9. Building Regulation Consent

The applicant is advised that consent under the Building Regulations is required for 
the works proposed.

10. Water Resources Act

Under the terms of the Water Resources Act 1991, the prior written consent of the 
Environment Agency is normally required for any discharge of sewage or trade 
effluent into controlled waters, and may be required for any discharge of surface 
water to such controlled waters or for any discharge of sewage or trade effluent from 
buildings or fixed plant into or onto ground or into water which are not controlled 
waters.  Such consent may be withheld.  (Controlled waters include rivers, streams, 
underground waters, reservoirs, estuaries and coastal waters).  The applicant is 
advised to contact the Kent Area Office (Water Quality Department) to discuss this 
matter further.
___________________________________________________________________

___________________________________________________________________
Queries concerning these Minutes?  Please contact Rosie Reid: Telephone:
01233 330565 Email: rosie.reid@ashford.gov.uk
Agendas, Reports and Minutes are available on: www.ashford.gov.uk/committees

Page 34

http://www.ashford.gov.uk/committees


Ashford Borough Council - Report of Head of Development Management and Strategic Sites 
Planning Committee 14 March 2018
___________________________________________________________________

Application Number 17/00625/AS

Location Land between Boughton Cottage and Millview Cottage, 
Mill Lane, Smarden 

Grid Reference 88496/42661

Parish Council Smarden

Ward Weald North

Application Description Outline application for the erection of two x 1 bedroom 
apartments, five x 2 bed apartments and houses, three x3 
bed houses, four x 4 bedroom houses and associated 
development to consider new access to Mill Lane only, 
with all other matters reserved.

Applicant Rydon Homes, Rydon House, Station Road, Forest Row, 
East Sussex RH18 5DW

Site Area 0.49 hectares

(a) 20/45R (b) Smarden Parish 
Council - R

(c) KHS R, KCCDC X, KSS X, 
PROW X, KCC (BIO) R, 
KAS X, PO (Drainage) X, 
EH (EP) X, CSCF X, POL X, 
EH (ES) X, SWS X, CPRE 
R, WKPS R

Introduction

1. The application is reported to the Planning Committee pursuant to the scheme 
of delegation because this is a major residential development.

Site and Surroundings 

2. The site is located on the southern side of Mill Lane to the north west of Glebe 
Close at the north eastern edge of the settlement of Smarden which is 15km 
west of Ashford. The western, northern and eastern boundaries are all 
enclosed by hedgerows and trees. The site is funnel shaped and the southern 
tip is open onto the wooded area of the adjoining field with its pond and 
informal footpath which links Glebe Close to the playing field to the west.

Page 35

Agenda Item 6a



Ashford Borough Council - Report of Head of Development Management and Strategic Sites 
Planning Committee 14 March 2018
___________________________________________________________________

3. There are four detached dwellings fronting Mill Lane either side of the 
frontage of the application site; the approach from Mill lane and Pluckley Road 
is identified as gateway into the village and comprises lower density, linear 
development in the Smarden Parish Design Statement.

4. Immediately south east are properties in Glebe Close, a cul–de–sac of higher 
density, terraced residential properties with a repetition of development, 
predominantly one and two storey houses in height with varying garden 
lengths.

5. The site is generally flat in contour and is a fallow field. The site is north of the 
Smarden Conservation Area. The site lies within the Beult Valley Farmlands 
Landscape Character Area. The site lies adjacent to, but outside, the built 
confines of the village of Smarden.

6. Mill Lane is a narrow, winding country road with passing places, with no 
footway and no street lighting. It is used as an alternative route by heavy 
goods vehicles to avoid the narrow roads through Smarden village.

7. A site location plan is below and attached to this report as annex 1

Figure 1: Aerial view

Page 36



Ashford Borough Council - Report of Head of Development Management and Strategic Sites 
Planning Committee 14 March 2018
___________________________________________________________________

Figure 2: Location plan and designations

Proposal

8. This application seeks outline planning permission for 14 residential units with 
only access from Mill Lane to be considered at this stage.

16/00045/AS – 50 units

Page 37



Ashford Borough Council - Report of Head of Development Management and Strategic Sites 
Planning Committee 14 March 2018
___________________________________________________________________

9. Vehicle access to the site is proposed by two new access points from Mill 
Lane. The existing access would be used as a private access to two dwellings 
and east of this the new access would serve the remaining 12 units with the 
main spine road shown running adjacent to the south eastern boundary.

10. The indicative housing mix would comprise:

 Total
1 Bed Apartments 2
2 Bed Apartments 2
2 Bed House 3
3 Bed House 3
4 Bed House 4
Totals 14

11. The indicative car parking would comprise:

Total
Allocated carport 14
Allocated open space 12
Allocated tandem space 2
Visitor parking 3
Unallocated parking 2
Total 33

12. Whilst landscaping is a reserved matter existing landscape features are 
retained and enhanced to frame the development.

13. The following additional information has been submitted during the course of 
the application:

 surface water drainage strategy;

 proposals for passing bays on Mill Lane, visibility splays, amended 
tracking and refuse freighter tracking;

 refuse strategy

Page 38



Ashford Borough Council - Report of Head of Development Management and Strategic Sites 
Planning Committee 14 March 2018
___________________________________________________________________

Figure 3: Indicative bird's eye view

Page 39



Ashford Borough Council - Report of Head of Development Management and Strategic Sites 
Planning Committee 14 March 2018
___________________________________________________________________

Figure 4: Indicative site layout
14. In support of the application, the following has been submitted and these are 

summaries of the reports by officers:

15. Landscape - The range of design and enhancement measures succeeds in 
minimising most potential impacts at source such that no major significant 
impacts have been identified.

16. There is one permanent moderately significant landscape impact from the 
change in landscape character, which is an inevitable consequence of 
development, but one that is common with any greenfield site.

17. The site is on the edge of Smarden and adjacent to Mill Lane in the context of 
existing housing to the south-east in Glebe Close. The impacts on landscape 
and visual amenity have been found to be locally very limited.

18. Trees - The outline proposals would only result in the removal of two young 
BS Category C Ash trees and sections of low quality, heavily topped hedge. A 
further two BS Category U trees have been recommended for removal on 
safety/short safe life span grounds.

Page 40



Ashford Borough Council - Report of Head of Development Management and Strategic Sites 
Planning Committee 14 March 2018
___________________________________________________________________

19. Impacts on retained trees are nominal and can be designed out at the detailed 
stage.

20. Robust tree protection measures in accordance with BS 5837:2012 
requirements would ensure retained trees are appropriately protected during 
the construction works. The Tree Protection Plan would ensure that the 
required tree protection is installed.

21. Heritage – This report has found that Wallington House, Berries Maple, 
Berries Maple Cottage, Squirrel Cottage and Jubilee House (Grade II listed 
buildings), share no inter-visibility or legible historic association with the study 
area. As such the study area is not considered to contribute to their setting or 
significance.

22. The site shares its southern-most boundary with the boundary of Smarden 
Conservation Area. There is a lack of inter-visibility between the study area 
and publically accessible areas of the conservation area. The north western 
portion of the conservation area is bounded by modern development at Glebe 
Close, as such the proposed development to the north of this is considered 
appropriate.

23. In addition, the retention of soft landscaping around the site boundary would 
limit views of the new development from the conservation area. As such, the 
proposals would see no impact upon the character and appearance of the 
Smarden Conservation Area.

24. Millview Cottage is not identified as a built heritage asset, however, it was 
built during the second half of the 19th century. As such, it may be considered 
a non-designated heritage asset. However, the proposals would have no 
impact upon this building.

25. The site does not contribute to the setting or significance of these identified 
heritage assets. The site also comprises an appropriate area for development 
in terms of the settlement’s pattern of growth and the preservation of the 
historic environment. As such, the proposals will see no impact upon the built 
historic environment and, therefore, sees it preserved.

26. The extant pond in the south-west of the site may be remnant of former iron 
working. Sub-surface remains associated with 19th/20th century buildings in 
the south-west of the site can be anticipated but hold a limited heritage 
interest.

27. Based on the site’s archaeological potential the proposed development has 
the potential to impact archaeological remains of a likely local significance, 
which may be recorded by further archaeological mitigation measures. 

Page 41



Ashford Borough Council - Report of Head of Development Management and Strategic Sites 
Planning Committee 14 March 2018
___________________________________________________________________

28. Ecology – The site provides suitable habitat for reptiles and therefore, 
following a reptile survey, any reptiles recorded within the site would need to 
be translocated into a receptor area prior to any construction works on site. 
Current layout proposals suggest leaving the southern section of the site 
undeveloped. This area could be used as a receptor site for translocated 
reptiles.

29. The site provides suitable foraging and dispersal habitat for great crested 
newts (GCNs), during their terrestrial phase, with hedgerows and trees 
offering suitable sheltering and hibernating opportunities. If GNCs are present 
then to prevent harm to individuals or the local population status of GCNs, it is 
proposed that those within the construction zone would be trapped and 
translocated to a suitable receptor area.

30. To maintain connectivity across the site and within the surrounding area, 
boundary vegetation, such as the hedgerows and trees, should be retained 
within the development. The hedgerows surrounding the site should be 
gapped and thickened with native species to improve this corridor for 
commuting and foraging bats, as well as increasing connectivity across the 
site.

31. By following the recommendations in relation to reptiles, Great Crested Newts 
(GNCs), bats and birds the development should proceed with minimal risk of 
impact on protected, principally important or rare wildlife, or to local nature 
conservation, and the value of the site should be enhanced for wildlife (flora 
and fauna), post development.

32. However, recommended surveys for GCNs, reptiles and bats, as stated in the 
Phase 1 Habitat Survey report should be undertaken to inform the exact 
mitigation required.

33. Transport - This site is accessible by a range of sustainable modes.

34. An Automatic Traffic Counter (ATC) tube was laid within the vicinity of the 
study area for a one week period in order to obtain existing traffic volumes, 
class and speed along Mill Lane. The data showed the weekday average AM 
and PM peak hours receive 26 and 31 (two way) vehicles respectively. The 
proportion of HGVs using this route was significantly low. The average 85th 
percentile speeds were recorded as 32.5mph eastbound and 29.7mph 
westbound. The observed traffic flows were factored up to a future 
assessment year of 2022 using TEMPRO.

35. In order to determine the predicted traffic generation to and from the study 
area, a TRICS trip rate assessment was undertaken. The assessment 
showed that study area is predicted to generate a total of 11 two-way 

Page 42



Ashford Borough Council - Report of Head of Development Management and Strategic Sites 
Planning Committee 14 March 2018
___________________________________________________________________

vehicular trips in the AM peak (0800-0900) and 9 two way trips in the PM 
peak (1500-1600).

36. The indicative layout demonstrates that 35 parking spaces (including garages) 
can be accommodated, all units have access to private amenity spaces and 
are able to accommodate cycle storage.

37. The third party land is under the ownership of Ashford Borough Council. The 
client is currently liaising with the Ashford Borough Council Estates 
department to seek an agreement to formalise the link.
[HDM&SS comment: officers are aware that the applicant approached the 
Council for a right of access as the landowner and the Council declined this 
request, therefore there is no alternative pedestrian route agreed.]

38. A proposal for passing bays along Mill Lane follows a discussion with highway 
officers regarding spacing of the passing points and use of existing informal 
passing points. It takes into consideration the existing formal and informal 
passing points along the route, the land ownership and the presence of the 
existing ditches.

39. SuDS (sustainable drainage) - Southern Water sewer records shows a 
100mm foul sewer located in Mill Lane, outside Boughton Cottage to the East 
of the site. A foul pumping station would be provided in the north east corner 
of the site, which would connect to a rising main connecting to the existing 
manhole in Mill Lane.

40. Surface water drainage would connect to the existing water course located in 
the western boundary of the site. Attenuation would be provided on site as a 
form of underground tanks constructed using geocell tanks. The outfall from 
the storage provision will be controlled using a Hydro-Brake or similar 
approved control devices to limit the discharge to match the existing 
greenfield runoff from the site.

Planning History

41. Relevant history set out below:

01/00392/AS Six cottages with garages and access 
road.

Refused 24/05/2001

00/00354/AS 6 no. cottages Refused 05/06/2000
99/00138/AS 4 detached houses with new private 

drive
Withdrawn 25/03/1999

89/01758/AS Residential development including 
parking and access

Failed to 
determine

01/07/1990
Appeal 
dismissed
17/08/1990

Page 43



Ashford Borough Council - Report of Head of Development Management and Strategic Sites 
Planning Committee 14 March 2018
___________________________________________________________________

89/01757/AS Residential development including 
parking and access

Withdrawn 21/12/1990

87/01513/AS Erection of 28 new dwellings Withdrawn 16/01/1989
86/00964/AS Erection of 28 new dwellings. Refused 26/08/1987
85/00303/AS Residential Refused 25/03/1987
83/01296/AS Private residential development. Refused 25/03/1987
1975 Erection of 12 new dwellings Refused 1975

Appeal 
Dismissed
1975

42. This site was a 2014 site submission in the Ashford Local Plan 2030, and was 
shortlisted for consideration. It was not selected as an allocation, as there is 
no current footpath to the village centre, and there would be change to the 
landscape and views of the countryside, impact on the adjoining conservation 
area and area of archaeological importance and as the hedgerow and trees 
would require some removal. Additional representations were made during 
the 2017 Main Changes consultation promoting the site as an ‘omission’ site.

43. There are planning permissions for the land between Smarden Charter Hall 
and Weathercock Pluckley Road. 16/01515/AS was approved for 25 units in 
January 2017 and 50 units under reference 16/00045/AS was allowed on 
appeal in June 2017.

44. These are some of the matters addressed in the Inspector’s report on the 
latter in relation to this scale of development being out of proportion as an 
extension to the existing size, scale and character of Smarden, which formed 
a reason for refusal:

 It was suggested by local residents that the development of 50 houses at this 
one location would unbalance the village. There was however no symmetry or 
planned form of the village. It has grown organically over time and there have 
been periods of differing growth resulting in additions of differing styles forms 
layout and density (para. 30)

 There have been incremental increases in the size of developments as 
pressure increases for housing. This is evident in the later housing 
developments, which have generally increased in size (para. 31)

 Such an increase is not of such a scale that would change the character, 
appearance or function of the village or affect any heritage assets within it. As 
such the balancing exercises in paragraphs 132 to 134 of the Framework are 
not triggered and specific policies in the Framework do not indicate 
development should be restricted in this regard (para.31)

Page 44



Ashford Borough Council - Report of Head of Development Management and Strategic Sites 
Planning Committee 14 March 2018
___________________________________________________________________

Consultations

Ward Member: The Ward member is not a member of the Planning Committee. No 
views have been recieved.

Smarden Parish Council: object and have raised the following matters:

 not a draft housing allocation site

 access risk to highway safety

 no need for development

 unsafe for other road users

 inadequate highway capacity

 inadequate local infrastructure

 poor bus service

 unsustainable location

 out of character

 set a precedent

 loss of local infrastructure including Post Office and village shop

They have requested a financial contribution towards an extension at the village hall, 
play area, cricket and football pitches and cemeteries.

KCC Highways and Transportation: object and recommend refusal and make the 
following comments:

 a section of The Street between the junction with Mill Lane does not have any 
footways or street lighting and the proposals are therefore detrimental to 
pedestrian safety. The applicant's Transport Statement discusses a path that 
links into Glebe Way but this path is private and it does not appear to be 
within the control of the applicant to use and so it cannot be assumed that is 
available for use.

Page 45



Ashford Borough Council - Report of Head of Development Management and Strategic Sites 
Planning Committee 14 March 2018
___________________________________________________________________

 the proposals would result in an increase in use of the existing sub-standard 
access to the site via Mill Lane, to the detriment of highway safety. The 
proposals have wider safety implications of the potential for increase in 
crashes as a result of the lack of passing places. The proposals will represent 
a significant increase in the use of Mill Lane. The applicant has not put 
forward any proposals to improve Mill Lane in order to address the above 
issues.

 it has not been demonstrated how the secondary access point can provide 
appropriate visibility splays

 vehicle tracking needs to be provided for an 11.4 metre long refuse vehicle

 the parking proposals are not in accordance with the Council’s Residential 
Parking SPD. Garages are not counted towards parking provision and where 
tandem spaces are provided an extra 0.5 visitor spaces should be provided 
per dwelling.

Additional plans were submitted of passing places along Mill Lane and amended 
plans for the visibility splay, vehicle tracking and indicative car parking.

Re-consultation: object and recommend refusal they make the following comments:

 increased use of Mill Lane for vehicular traffic would be addressed as suitable 
forward visibility would be available between all of the passing places along 
Mill Lane (existing and proposed)

 a footway connection through to Glebe Close to provide a safe means of 
pedestrian access from the site to Smarden Village as Mill Lane is unsuitable 
for walking as it has no footpath, no street-lighting and is subject to a 60mph 
speed limit

[HDM&SS comment: this required agreement from the adjoining landowner 
who has declined to provide access]

KCC SuDS: no objection, as this would meet the discharge rates, subject to 
conditions

 incorporates the maintenance and enhancement of the existing watercourses 
around the site

 any detailed design work places the foul drainage network (and other utilities) 
outside of areas of permeable pavement or within dedicated service corridors

Page 46



Ashford Borough Council - Report of Head of Development Management and Strategic Sites 
Planning Committee 14 March 2018
___________________________________________________________________

KCC developer contributions: no objection, subject to a contribution to additional 
library bookstock

KCC Education: no objection subject to the following planning contribution:

 secondary education expansion of Norton Knatchbull 

KCC Rights of Way Officer: no objection, no recorded public rights of way within or 
adjacent to the proposed development site

KCC’s Ecological Advice Service: additional information is required prior to 
determination of the outline planning application, particularly in regard to Reptiles 
and Great Crested Newts.

KCC’s Senior Archaeological Officer: no response received

[HDM&SS comment: due to the site area and degree of ground disturbance and 
potential for archaeological remains close to the conservation area a condition for a 
site investigation would be appropriate.] 

Project Delivery Engineer (Drainage): no objection subject to conditions 
recommended by KCC SuDS.

Environmental Protection: no objection

Culture and the Environment (Open Space): no objections and have made the 
following comments:

 Outdoor Sport contribution towards a drainage system for the cricket and 
football pitches and which will allow for increased use of the sites for more of 
the season

 Children’s Play contribution towards providing new equipment and safer 
surfacing at Smarden play area, The Street, to allow for increased use

 Cemeteries contribution towards extending the existing cemetery

 Strategic Parks contribution towards the development of Conningbrook Lakes 
Country Park for the footpath link from the car park to the play area, to allow 
for increased use.

Kent Police: no objection, and wish to see measures to minimise the risk of crime.

Streetscene: no objection, refuse sweep has been carried out and a turning area 
adequate for such a vehicle is included in the plans. If the road is not to be adopted 

Page 47



Ashford Borough Council - Report of Head of Development Management and Strategic Sites 
Planning Committee 14 March 2018
___________________________________________________________________

then an indemnity would be required to access the site. The maximum distance that 
the crews would pull out is 25m so all collection points must sit within these 
distances.

Southern Water: no objection 

Council for the Protection of Rural England (CPRE) Kent: object and have made 
the following comments:

 not a draft housing allocation site

 access risk to highway safety

 increase traffic congestion

Weald of Kent Protection Society: object and have made the following comments:

 not a draft housing allocation site

 risk to highway safety

 Smarden has met its allocation with 50 units under 16/00045/AS

Neighbours: Neighbours: 20 neighbours were consulted. 45 representations to 
object were received.

The objections are summarised below:

 overdevelopment

 cumulative impact of development

 not a draft housing allocation site

 risk to highway safety from the access

 Smarden has meet allocation with 50 units under 16/00045/AS

 alternative scheme preferred

 inadequate infrastructure including education, medical, shops

 harm to heritage assets

 unsafe pedestrian access along Mill Lane
Page 48



Ashford Borough Council - Report of Head of Development Management and Strategic Sites 
Planning Committee 14 March 2018
___________________________________________________________________

 loss of habitat

 increase traffic congestion

 inadequate parking

 obstructive car parking

 methodology for traffic data collection and habitat survey

[HDM&SS comment: these have been assessed by KCC and additional 
information provided]

 out of character

 no need for development

 inadequate highway capacity

 limited public transport

 passing places on private land

[HDM&SS comment: this would require a S278 agreement for works to the 
highway with KCC]

 noise and disturbance during construction

 noise and disturbance from residential occupation

 light pollution

 set a precedent

 no local needs housing

[HDM&SS comment: there would be no affordable housing either]

 surface water flooding risk

The Kemnal Academy Trust, Smarden Primary School: school fully subscribed

Page 49



Ashford Borough Council - Report of Head of Development Management and Strategic Sites 
Planning Committee 14 March 2018
___________________________________________________________________

Planning Policy

45. The Development Plan comprises the saved policies in the adopted Ashford 
Borough Local Plan 2000, the adopted LDF Core Strategy 2008, the adopted 
Ashford Town Centre Action Area Plan 2010, the Tenterden & Rural Sites 
DPD 2010, the Urban Sites and Infrastructure DPD 2012, the Chilmington 
Green AAP 2013, the Wye Neighbourhood Plan 2015-30 and the Pluckley 
Neighbourhood Plan 2016-30. The new Ashford Local Plan to 2030 has now 
been submitted for examination and as such some policies in the draft plan 
will carry more weight than others. The policies in the emerging Local Plan 
are a material consideration and policies from the adopted Development Plan 
relating to this application are as follows:-

The Ashford Local Plan 2030 (submission December 2017)

SP1 - Strategic Objectives

SP2 - The Strategic Approach to Housing Delivery

SP6 - Promoting High Quality Design

SP7 - Separation of Settlements

HOU5 - Residential windfall development in the countryside

HOU12 - Residential space standards internal 

HOU13 - Homes suitable for family occupation 

HOU14 - Accessibility standards

HOU15 - Private external open space

HOU18 - Providing a range and mix of dwelling types and sizes

EMP6 – Promotion of Fibre to the Premises (FTTP)

TRA3a - Parking Standards for Residential Development

TRA5 - Planning for Pedestrians 

TRA6 - Provision for Cycling

TRA7 - The Road Network and Development

Page 50



Ashford Borough Council - Report of Head of Development Management and Strategic Sites 
Planning Committee 14 March 2018
___________________________________________________________________

ENV1 - Biodiversity

ENV3 - Landscape Character and Design 

ENV4 - Light pollution and promoting dark skies 

ENV5 - Protecting important rural features

ENV8 - Water Quality, Supply and Treatment 

ENV9 - Sustainable Drainage 

ENV15 – Archaeology

COM1 - Meeting the Community's Needs

COM2 – Recreation, Sport, Play and Open Spaces

Ashford Borough Local Plan 2000

GP12 - Protecting the countryside and Managing change

EN9 - Setting and entrances of towns and villages

EN10 - Development on the edge of existing settlement

EN12 - Private areas of open space

EN23 – Sites of Archaeological importance

EN31 - Important habitats

EN32 – Important trees and woodland

HG3 - Design in villages

CF21 – School requirements

Local Development Framework Core Strategy 2008

CS1- Guiding principles

CS2 - The Borough Wide Strategy

CS6 - The rural settlement hierarchy
Page 51



Ashford Borough Council - Report of Head of Development Management and Strategic Sites 
Planning Committee 14 March 2018
___________________________________________________________________

CS8 - Infrastructure Contributions

CS9 - Design quality

CS11 - Biodiversity and Geological Conservation

CS13 - Range of dwelling types and sizes

CS18 - Meeting the Community’s Needs

CS20 - Sustainable Drainage

Tenterden & Rural Sites DPD 2010

TRS1 - Minor residential development or infilling

TRS2 - New residential development elsewhere

TRS17 - Landscape character and design

TRS18 – Important rural features

TRS19 - Infrastructure provision to serve the needs of new developments

46. The following are also material to the determination of this application:-

Supplementary Planning Guidance/Documents

Residential Parking and Design Guidance SPD 2010

Sustainable Drainage SPD 2010

Landscape Character SPD 2011

Residential Space and Layout SPD 2011

Dark Skies SPD 2014 

Smarden Parish Design Statement 2008

Page 52



Ashford Borough Council - Report of Head of Development Management and Strategic Sites 
Planning Committee 14 March 2018
___________________________________________________________________

Other Guidance 

Informal Design Guidance Notes 1- 4 2015

Government Advice

National Planning Policy Framework 2012

Planning Policy Guidance

Technical housing standards – nationally described space standard

Members should note that the determination must be made in accordance 
with the Development Plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise. 
A significant material consideration is the National Planning Policy Framework 
(NPPF). The NPPF says that less weight should be given to the policies 
above if they are in conflict with the NPPF. The following sections of the 
NPPF are relevant to this application

Relevant sections:

 Core planning principles

 Chapter 4 - Promoting sustainable transport

 Chapter 6 - Delivering a wide choice of high quality homes

 Chapter 7 - Requiring good design

 Chapter 10 - Meeting the challenge of climate change, flooding and 
coastal change

 Chapter 11 - Conserving and enhancing the natural environment

 Chapter 12 - Conserving and enhancing the historic environment

Assessment

47. The main issues for consideration are:

(a) Principle

(b) Visual amenity

(c) Residential amenity

(d) Heritage assets

Page 53



Ashford Borough Council - Report of Head of Development Management and Strategic Sites 
Planning Committee 14 March 2018
___________________________________________________________________

(e) Highways and parking

(f) Biodiversity and ecology

(g) Trees and landscaping

(h) Drainage and sewerage

(i) Whether planning obligations are necessary

(a) Principle

48. Section 38 (6) of the Planning & Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 states that 
applications should be determined in accordance with the adopted 
Development Plan unless material considerations suggest otherwise. Section 
70 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 is concerned with the 
determination of planning applications with regard to the provisions of the 
development plan, so far as they are material and any other material 
considerations. The site is not allocated for development in the adopted 
Development Plan and is not proposed for allocation in the emerging Local 
Plan to 2030. The site was identified in the SHELAA which forms part of the 
evidence base of the new Local Plan, however, was not taken forward 
following the sustainability appraisal; therefore, it is a potential windfall site in 
the countryside.

49. The site abuts the settlement of Smarden to the south east. This adjoins the 
built-up confines of Smarden which is identified as one of the villages where 
minor residential development or infilling would be acceptable. As this would 
not be part of a built up frontage and due to the number of units it would not 
comply with policy TRS1 of the Tenterden & Rural sites DPD or emerging 
policy HOU3a of the Local Plan 2030. This policy pre-dates the NPPF and 
has a stricter definition of the ‘built confines’ than emerging policy HOU3a, so 
shall be read in conjunction with the objectives of the NPPF and promoting 
sustainable development.

50. The site abuts the village to the south east and the entire site is previously 
undeveloped land. Therefore, policy TRS2 would be relevant and the 
proposals would not meet any of the exemptions in policy TRS2 which covers 
new residential development in the countryside for an agricultural workers 
dwelling, re-use or adaption of an existing building, a replacement dwelling 
and ‘local need’ scheme. Hence the scheme is contrary to the adopted 
Development Plan.

51. The Council now considers it can demonstrate a deliverable five year housing 
land supply in accordance with paragraph 47 of the NPPF. This is based on a 

Page 54



Ashford Borough Council - Report of Head of Development Management and Strategic Sites 
Planning Committee 14 March 2018
___________________________________________________________________

robust assessment of the realistic prospects of housing delivery on a range of 
sites in the adopted Development Plan, the Submission Local Pan to 2030 
and other unallocated sites taking account of recent case law, the respective 
deliverability tests in Footnote 11 to para. 47 of the NPPF and the associated 
national Planning Practice Guidance and the detailed evidence base that 
supports the Submission Local Plan. Consequently, for the purpose of 
assessing applications for housing, the 'tilted balance' contained within 
para.14 of the NPPF where schemes should be granted permission unless 
the disadvantages of doing so significantly and demonstrably outweigh the 
benefits, need not be applied. The starting point is whether policies in the 
Development Plan comply with the NPPF and to consider the relative social, 
economic and environmental elements of a proposal as these are the three 
dimensions of ‘sustainable development’ described in para. 7 of the NPPF.

52. With regard to the environmental dimension, the fifth core planning principle of 
the NPPF includes to “take account of the different roles and character of 
different areas, … recognising the intrinsic character and beauty of the 
countryside and supporting thriving rural communities within it.” Specifically, 
para. 55 of the NPPF states that to promote sustainable development in rural 
areas, housing should be located where it will enhance or maintain the vitality 
of rural communities, and isolated new homes in the countryside should be 
avoided. Within Smarden there are outdoor playing pitches with clubs, play 
area, tennis court, skatepark, youth club, sports pavilion, village hall, church, 
public house and primary school, there are also some retail outlets shops and 
currently a Post Office (although this is closing in August 2018 and are looking 
to incorporate these services into an existing/proposed premises). However, 
town centre facilities in Ashford are 15.0km away as well as the rural service 
centre of Tenterden (11.9km away). There are bus stops on Pluckley Road 
and The Street the bus route is between Biddenden and Ashford, this is very 
limited with four services Monday to Friday. There is access to some services 
in Smarden however, other services would require the use of a private motor 
car and the distances are not unusual for a rural location. Overall, the site 
would not be ‘isolated’ in NPPF terms and hence it is appropriate to consider 
the balance of impacts and benefits of the proposal required by para. 14 of 
the NPPF.

53. The site is previously undeveloped land as defined by the NPPF, therefore, 
there would be a physical environmental impact from the built form. Whilst, 
the site does not lie within any nationally-designated landscape area, this 
would be a moderate scale of development which would need to integrate into 
the existing settlement.

54. The Council recognises the social and economic benefits of providing housing 
in terms of meeting need and generating employment, for example, during 
construction. In addition, future residents would buy goods and utilise nearby 

Page 55



Ashford Borough Council - Report of Head of Development Management and Strategic Sites 
Planning Committee 14 March 2018
___________________________________________________________________

services providing economic benefits to the locality. Furthermore, 
contributions towards infrastructure can be sought from this residential 
development, the scheme would require infrastructure to support it and can be 
sought through a planning obligation. In addition to this, it would not lead to 
the loss of employment, leisure or community facilities.

55. Policy HOU5 of the emerging Local Plan to 2030 on housing developments 
outside settlements provides a set of criteria against which proposals close to 
settlements such as Smarden should be considered and which reflects the 
guidance in the NPPF. In summary:

a. scale of development is proportionate to the level of service provision in 
nearest settlement

b. within easy walking distance of basic day-to-day services

c. safely accessed from the local road network and traffic can be 
accommodated

d. located where it is possible to maximise public transport, cycles and 
walking to access services

e. conserve and enhance the natural environment

f. high quality design

56. This policy carries some weight at present and greater weight can now be 
attributed to housing supply policies such as policies TRS1 and TRS2 with a 
five year housing land supply.

57. The scale of proposed development would be proportionate to the level of 
service provision in the settlement and planning obligations can be secured to 
increase capacity. It would accord with criterion a). Criterion f) is a reserved 
matter. The other criteria are assessed in the remainder of the report. In light 
of the guidance set out in the NPPF the proposed development could be 
considered to be acceptable in principle subject to no significant or 
demonstrable harm arising from it.

(b) Visual amenity

58. The application is in outline with all matters reserved except the means of 
access from Mill Lane. As such in terms of assessing visual impact this 
relates to the quantum of development rather than detailed design and the 
impact of the access points. The two accesses would introduce hardstanding 
areas and increased inter-visibility into the site at this gateway into the village 

Page 56



Ashford Borough Council - Report of Head of Development Management and Strategic Sites 
Planning Committee 14 March 2018
___________________________________________________________________

as identified by the Smarden Parish Village Design Statement. The existing 
hedgerows have multiple gaps and do not screen the site from the shared 
boundaries and road frontage. The proposals would result in additional 
punctuations, however, given the existing residential developments either side 
have driveways this would not appear incongruous.

59. Mill Lane is a narrow winding road, similar to many of the surrounding roads 
into Smarden. As a result of this and the mature vegetation along site 
boundaries, wider views when travelling along the roads are limited and the 
built environment is largely seen from short range views. This is described in 
para. 6.13 of the Smarden Parish Design Statement (PDS) as “there is no 
overall view of the village as it is approached, the view changing as different 
buildings and features appear. Each approach presents its own surprise as 
you round a bend with the final masterpiece being The Street.”

60. The proposals are for 14 units, these would be located along the frontage to 
create a continuous frontage to Mill Lane and into the rear of the site. This is 
an edge of village location where the pattern of development is for larger 
buildings in plots with irregular plot shapes, landscaping features and several 
of the residential properties are statutory listed. Buildings in the vicinity have 
been built along the road frontage and the more intensive development of 
social housing was introduced in the 1950s/60s in Glebe Close followed in the 
1990s by Hazelwood Close. There is existing residential development in close 
proximity, however, this does not affect the traditional pattern of development 
along Mill Lane and the buildings on Glebe Close closest to the shared 
boundary with the application site are bungalows, so they are not visually 
prominent from this road either. As a result the site is seen as a gap between 
two buildings transitioning to the open countryside.

61. The introduction of this number of units on this site would result in a large 
area of built development, in addition to the gardens, parking, boundary 
treatments and turning areas. This would be not respect the prevailing pattern 
of development along Mill Lane and would harm the visual amenity of this 
gateway into the village, where there is a looser built form.

62. The boundary treatments could be enhanced to increase the screening effect, 
however, as these would be two storey buildings and given the extent of the 
built form for 14 units, this would not mitigate the visual impact. This would be 
localised, however, as the site is not seen in the context of Glebe Close it 
would result in an incongruous form of development.

63. There is an approved scheme for 50 units on the opposite side of the road 
from the entrance to Glebe Close; whilst the reserved matters have not been 
approved there is an extant planning permission, so this carries significant 
weight in decision-making. This would change the character and appearance 

Page 57



Ashford Borough Council - Report of Head of Development Management and Strategic Sites 
Planning Committee 14 March 2018
___________________________________________________________________

at the eastern end of the village, however due to the winding road the built 
form is less apparent and this application site is not read in this context.

64. Therefore, there would be an adverse impact on the character and 
appearance of the streetscene due to the level of proposed development 
which would not respect the prevailing pattern of development along this part 
of Mill Lane. The proposal would result in a cramped overdevelopment of the 
site and would result in significant and demonstrable visual harm. This would 
not be consistent with the local character and built form, so would fail to 
comply with the Development Plan, NPPF, PPG and emerging Local Plan 
2030.

Landscape setting

65. The site is located in the Beult Valley Farmlands Landscape Character Area. 
This comprises the flat, low lying floodplain of the River Beult, numerous small 
field ponds, small clusters of trees and shrubs, few, ditch lined, narrow roads, 
picturesque settlement of Smarden with an abundance of distinctive 
vernacular properties. Relevant guidelines for development include:

 conserve the largely undeveloped character of the landscape; 
 manage the drainage ditches, field ponds and associated vegetation 

appropriately to create a wider riparian corridor;
 manage the drainage ditches, field ponds and associated vegetation 

appropriately to create a wider riparian corridor restore and improve 
hedgerows;

 resist inappropriate modern building style and materials

66. The site has a number of these natural features. The site is generally flat in 
contour with tree and hedges lining the boundaries, so there are no 
panoramic views of the wider landscape and enhancements along the 
boundaries would provide a level of visual containment. 

67. The submitted visual impact statement has 8 viewpoints from public vantage 
points; the effect of the proposal would be minor to negligible from 7 of these 
as the sensitivity to changes is affected by the context of existing 
development and tree screening. On Mill Lane outside Boughton Cottage the 
visual effect would be minor for motorists and major for pedestrians, horse 
riders and Boughton Cottage in the winter of the first year, reducing to 
moderate by the summer of year 15. This can be mitigated with the layout of 
the new buildings and planting and would be localised to this area.

68. The site is not highly distinguishable as a ‘valued landscape’ in terms of para. 
109 of the NPPF. It has a number of notable features although the main value 
is its strong association with the edge of the village and as a transition to the 

Page 58



Ashford Borough Council - Report of Head of Development Management and Strategic Sites 
Planning Committee 14 March 2018
___________________________________________________________________

countryside which has been affected by the adjoining built development, road 
frontage and wider containing landscape features.

69. Therefore, there would be no material impact on the landscape setting, in 
terms of criteria a) to f) of policy TRS17, however, the built form does not take 
into account setting, scale and layout of buildings in Mill Lane and would fail to 
respect the context of this part of Mill Lane so would fail to comply with 
criterion g) of TRS17.

(c) Residential amenity

70. Layout, appearance and scale are reserved matters, an assessment will be 
made on the quantum of development and the applicant has provided an 
indicative layout to assist with this.

Millview Cottage and Boughton Cottage

71. Millview Cottage has a first floor side window and trees along the boundary 
which would be retained. Furthermore, there is a gap of at least 6.0m to the 
shared boundary of the application site.

72. Boughton Cottage is set towards its eastern side boundary, this is a small 
bungalow and the main building is 21.0m from the shared boundary.

73. The buildings would experience some noise and disturbance from vehicular 
movements, due to the positions of the accesses. The access next to Millview 
Cottage would be set 8.0m away as this would serve two dwellings, so the 
increase in activity would not have an adverse impact. The other access 
would be 12.0m from Boughton Cottage, which would bend away and the 
closest the road would come is 4.0m from the shared boundary by the rear 
boundary, this can be mitigated through planting and the layout which is a a 
reserved matter.

Buildings fronting Glebe Close

74. There are three terrace rows of single storey attached buildings with their rear 
gardens to the south of the shared boundary. These have gardens of varying 
length from 9.0m to 28.5m. There is some boundary planting that would be 
enhanced next to the access road and this would mitigate against a loss of 
neighbour amenity. Even if the layout introduced buildings closer to the 
shared boundary there would be enough space for structural landscaping.

75. Given that the gaps in the hedgerow and screen planting would be reinforced, 
there would be no harmful overlooking and the gaps to the built form on the 

Page 59



Ashford Borough Council - Report of Head of Development Management and Strategic Sites 
Planning Committee 14 March 2018
___________________________________________________________________

site would reduce overshadowing and any loss of privacy can be addressed 
through the reserved matters.

76. Noise and disturbance from construction is an inevitable consequence of all 
development and would only be for a temporary period. However, to 
safeguard the amenity of adjoining residential development a condition to 
restrict hours of construction would be appropriate if planning permission is 
granted.

Future occupiers

77. The indicative layout shows that six of the nine single dwelling houses would 
have gardens that would be at least 10m in length so would meet the 
Council’s requirements in the Residential Space and Layout SPD. However, 
as layout is a reserved mater it should be possible to achieve this for the 
remaining three and an improved provision for the apartment block.

78. Drawing 10578-OA-05 shows the refuse strategy, where the roads narrow for 
driveways, collection points would be provided for kerbside collection this 
would require bins to be taken to these points, as the carry distances would 
be less than 30m this would be acceptable and ensure that there is 
satisfactory servicing.

79. The proposals would comply with the Development Plan, NPPF, PPG and 
emerging Local Plan 2030 and guidance from the Council and central 
government.

(d) Heritage assets

80. Section 66(1) of the Planning (Listed Building and Conservation Areas) Act 
1990 states that ‘In considering whether to grant planning permission for 
development which affects a listed building or its setting, the local planning 
authority or, as the case may be, the Secretary of State shall have special 
regard to the desirability of preserving the building or its setting or any 
features of special architectural or historic interest which it possesses.’

81. Section 72(1) of the Planning (Listed Building and Conservation Areas) Act 
1990 states that ‘In the exercise, with respect to any buildings or other land in 
a conservation area, of any functions under or by virtue of any of the 
provisions mentioned in subsection (2), special attention shall be paid to the 
desirability of preserving or enhancing the character or appearance of that 
area.”

82. It is one of the core principles of the NPPF that heritage assets should be 
conserved in a manner appropriate to their significance. Chapter 12 of the 

Page 60



Ashford Borough Council - Report of Head of Development Management and Strategic Sites 
Planning Committee 14 March 2018
___________________________________________________________________

National Planning Policy Framework at para 129 sets out that the local 
planning authority should identify and assess the particular significance of any 
heritage asset…They should take this assessment into account when 
considering the impact of a proposal on a heritage asset, to avoid or minimise 
conflict between the heritage asset’s conservation and any aspect of the 
proposal.

83. Paras 131-135 sets out the framework for decision making in planning 
applications relating to heritage assets and this application takes account of 
the relevant considerations in these paragraphs.

84. Smarden is located in a former forest in the valley of the River Beult that was 
cleared for settlements and grazing land. The village grew in the 14th century 
with the wool trade and received a royal charter for a weekly market and 
annual fair by Edward III. The medieval Church of St Michael’s is 
representative of the local wealth in the area from the cloth trade and large 
timber framed Wealden buildings were also erected in the village during the 
15th and 16th centuries. By the 18th century agriculture was the predominant 
use of the land. The Rectory to the south of the application site was part of the 
church and had orchards, kitchen gardens and outbuildings, before it was 
redeveloped for housing in the 1940s/50s.

85. There is an informal footpath from the garage court to the playing fields and 
the conservation area is to the south west. This land has tree coverage and is 
on the eastern edge away from the historic core of the village.

86. There are four Grade II listed buildings to the west of the site fronting Pluckley 
Road and The Street and one to the south. None of these buildings share the 
same road frontage or a boundary with the site. These buildings have 
evidential value from their construction and aesthetic value due to their 
external appearance. Due to the juxtaposition to the application site there 
would be no inter-visibility to these buildings and their grounds.

87. The open spaces formed by the playing fields creates gaps in the built form, 
which contributes to the setting of the conservation area. Furthermore, due to 
the trees between the site and conservation area and adjoining modern 
developments the character of this part of the village is different.

88. Therefore, there is no direct visual or spatial relationship between the 
application site and the heritage assets. Due to the boundary planting which 
would be bolstered, there would be no impact to the physical and visual 
relationship.

89. There are no designated archaeological assets and scheduled ancient 
monuments on the site. The south west corner has a pond dating from the 

Page 61



Ashford Borough Council - Report of Head of Development Management and Strategic Sites 
Planning Committee 14 March 2018
___________________________________________________________________

19th century which may be a remnant of a former iron working and remains of 
19th/20th century buildings and orchard. The site has some archaeological 
potential so the proposals has the potential to impact archaeological remains 
of local significance, so a fieldwork evaluation would be required.

90. No impact to the designated heritage asset has been identified and having 
due regard to Section(s) 66 and 72 of the Planning (Listed Building and 
Conservation Area) Act 1990, the NPPF and the Development Plan there are 
no grounds to refuse the application on heritage grounds. 

(e) Highways and parking

91. It is proposed to create two accesses the easternmost would also have a 
footway. This would be 4.8m wide for a majority of its length other than the 
bell mouth entrance to Mill Lane where it would widen. The road has a 60mph 
speed limit and the required visibility splays for these accesses can be 
achieved.

92. Mill Lane is a single carriageway road with few formalised passing places. Mill 
Lane is also a lorry vehicle route to avoid the weight restriction through 
Smarden village. There is evidence of substantial grass verge erosion as a 
result of the lack of formalised passing places around the edges of Mill Lane 
from two vehicles meeting, which represents a maintenance liability to the 
County. The proposals have wider safety implications due to the potential for 
an increase in collisions as a result of the lack of passing places.

93. The proposals would represent a significant increase in the use of Mill Lane, 
90 additional movements compared to the existing daily average of 246 
movements, (an increase of 37%). A proposal for passing bays along Mill 
Lane has been submitted. This takes into consideration the existing formal 
and informal passing points along the route, the land ownership and the 
presence of the existing ditches. KH&T are satisfied that this would mitigate 
the impact from the increased use of Mill Lane for vehicular traffic as suitable 
forward visibility is now available between all of the passing places along Mill 
Lane.

94. The indicative parking provision in para.11 would comply with the Council’s 
SPD, through the provision of surface spaces and car ports. The 28 spaces 
proposed for residents would exceed the requirement of 26 for the indicative 
housing mix. There would also be three visitor spaces distributed throughout 
the site and two unallocated spaces due to the tandem parking. Therefore, a 
satisfactory level of car parking could be provided for 14 units.

95. The proposed development is likely to generate an increase in pedestrian 
traffic. The main pedestrian route from the application site is on to Mill Lane 

Page 62



Ashford Borough Council - Report of Head of Development Management and Strategic Sites 
Planning Committee 14 March 2018
___________________________________________________________________

which is subject to the national speed limit (60mph) onto the local bus stops 
and the village from The Street. These routes do not have any footways or 
street lighting and the proposals. Pedestrians would be forced to use this 
route which would be significantly harmful to pedestrian safety. The 
applicant's Transport Statement proposes a path that links into Glebe Way, 
this would require access over private land which is not within the control of 
the applicant to use and the applicant has confirmed that they have not been 
able to secure a right of access for the proposal from the Council who own it.

96. In respect of criterion b) and d) of emerging policy HOU5, the site is only 
approximately 130m from the junction of Mill Lane, The Street and Pluckley 
Road. Future occupiers would have to use a rural lane with no footway and 
street lighting to access the local facilities in Smarden, which would not be 
unusual in the countryside. But given the number of proposed units and 
therefore occupants, this site is not located where it would maximise access 
to cycling and walking routes to use services and this would not be a safe 
route for this number of occupants.

97. On balance, the environmental harm associated with the scheme, poor 
walking/cycling routes which would increase reliance on the car and affect the 
integration of the new households into the village would result in an 
unsustainable development due to accessibility to services. This would not be 
consistent with the local character and built form, so would fail to comply with 
the Development Plan, NPPF, PPG and emerging Local Plan 2030.

(f) Biodiversity and ecology

98. KCC Ecology have assessed the submitted ecological information which 
included a mitigation strategy, these detailed the following:

 good quality habitat for reptiles and GCN

 an oak along the northern boundary and a mature oak (offsite) near the 
eastern boundary were considered to have low bat roost potential

 suitable habitat for breeding birds

 potential for hedgehogs to be present on site

99. There are records of grass snake, common lizard and slow worm within 100m 
of the site from 2005. All three species could be present, given the habitats 
present on the site. There are multiple records of GNCs from 180m south east 
of the site, the most recent being in 2004. More recent records are over 500m 
from site, which is the typical GCN commuting distance. There are wet ponds 
within 500m of the site with average to good suitability for breeding GCNs and 

Page 63



Ashford Borough Council - Report of Head of Development Management and Strategic Sites 
Planning Committee 14 March 2018
___________________________________________________________________

the field provides foraging opportunities and hedgerows and trees suitable for 
shelter and hibernation.

100. Insufficient survey work has been undertaken in respect of GCNs which are 
protected under the EC Habitats Directive and domestic legislation. There is 
also insufficient survey work in respect of reptiles, which are also protected 
under domestic legislation.

101. KCC Biodiversity agree in principle with the Reptile and GCN Mitigation 
Strategy, although have concerns regarding the suggested receptor area, as 
they cannot qualify the receptor area as suitable as no GCN or Reptile 
Surveys have been carried out. In the absence of information regarding if 
these species/species groups are present and would be affected by the 
proposed works and, if so, the population estimates then planning permission 
could not be granted. Given that the receptor area would be a lot smaller than 
the whole development site and despite the details given in the report 
including additional enhancements, KCC are not able to consider if the 
receptor area would have sufficient carrying capacity to support the 
translocated populations.

102. Natural England’s standing advice states that if there are suitable habitats 
(pond within 500m for GCNs) or records suggesting their presence then a 
detailed surveys should be carried out at the right time of year. The species 
surveys are presently just coming into season (Reptile survey is between April 
- September and GCN survey is between mid-March and mid-June), although 
the applicant has requested that this be provided by a condition. In this 
instance, a condition would not be appropriate as the size of the receptor site 
needs to be known prior to determination as does the nature of the population 
of protected species that may be present on the site.

103. Article 6(4) of the Habitats Directive provides three derogation tests:

 There are no feasible alternative solutions to the plan or project which 
are less damaging.

 There are “imperative reasons of overriding public interest” (IROPI) for 
the plan or project to proceed.

 Compensatory measures are secured to ensure that the overall 
coherence of the network of European sites is maintained.

104. The proposal would fail to meet these three tests as a windfall site, housing 
can be delivered on alternative sites and with a five year housing land supply 
there is no overriding public interest to meet housing demand and finally the 
applicant has failed to prove that they have provided adequate mitigation as 

Page 64



Ashford Borough Council - Report of Head of Development Management and Strategic Sites 
Planning Committee 14 March 2018
___________________________________________________________________

essentially they have not established population of species and therefore an 
adequate mitigation strategy cannot be informed..

105. Those trees with bat roosting potential would be retained and the site provides 
good quality foraging habitat and commuting routes for bats. Measures for a 
lighting scheme during construction and for the operational phase of the 
development would be recommended.

106. The ecological enhancements and Landscape and Ecological Management 
Plan (LEMP) can be secured by condition. However, the applicant has failed 
to demonstrate that the impact on protected species could be mitigated 
contrary to the Development Plan, NPPF, Government Circular 06/2005, the 
emerging new Local Plan, The Habitat Directive and the requirements of the 
Wildlife and Countryside Act 1981.

(g) Trees and landscaping

107. Landscaping is a reserved matter, however, the applicant has confirmed that 
a vast majority of all the boundary trees and hedges would be retained and 
additional planting is proposed to enhance this.

108. Four individual trees and a section of hedge would have to be removed to 
facilitate the development as per para. 18 above. The four trees along the 
boundaries would have adjoining trees retained to maintain the coverage and 
as these trees have a reduced life expectancy their loss would allow the 
neighbouring trees to have greater room for growth.  A section of the frontage 
Hawthorne hedge would be removed for the new access road, as the vast 
majority would remain and this is a sparse section. So the losses would be 
acceptable in this instance.

(h) Drainage and sewerage

109. The site is in Flood Zone 1 and at low risk from flooding from other sources, 
therefore, no flood mitigation measures are required.

110. The increase in hardstanding areas and roofs, has the potential to increase 
surface water run-off, especially as this is a greenfield site.

111. The applicant has submitted a drainage strategy; the SuDs measures include:

 permeable paving, 

 below ground storage

 a final outfall to watercourse at 2 litres per second
Page 65



Ashford Borough Council - Report of Head of Development Management and Strategic Sites 
Planning Committee 14 March 2018
___________________________________________________________________

112. This enables the site to meet with the 4 litres per sec per hectare discharge 
limit recommended within Sustainable Drainage SPD.

113. Foul drainage would be discharged into the existing foul sewer using an 
underground pumping station. A connection to the mains sewer would be 
required from Southern Water. 

114. The proposals have been assessed by the County and the Council’s engineer 
and they have raised no objection subject to conditions for a detailed design, 
implementation and management. This would comply with the Development 
Plan, NPPF, PPG, emerging Local Plan 2030 and Council’s SPD.

(i) Whether planning obligations are necessary

115. Regulation 122 of the Community Infrastructure Regulations 2010 says that a 
planning obligation may only constitute a reason for granting planning 
permission for a development if the obligation is:

(a) necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms,

(b) directly related to the development; and

(c) fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development

116. The applicant in a letter dated 01.03.2018, offered to improve the surface of 
the informal path at the rear of their site and dedicate it as a public footpath. It 
is acknowledged that this is an established route from the rear of the garages 
on Glebe Close to the Parish Council’s playing fields. Whilst this route would 
not be stopped up; formalisation would need agreement from the adjoining 
landowners. Ashford Borough Council as one of the landowners has refused 
this, so it would not be possible to address this matter through a planning 
obligation. In addition to this, this the informal rout does not directly link to a 
PROW. 

117. At a proposed 14 dwellings and a site area of 0.49 hectare the development 
does not trigger a requirement to provide any affordable housing. 

118. KCC have requested a contribution towards a project at a secondary school 
and additional bookstock.

119. The Parish Council have identified projects for offsite contributions in 
accordance with the Public Green Spaces and Water Environment SPD.

120. The Smarden Charter Hall have also proposed a project for an extension to 
increase capacity.

Page 66



Ashford Borough Council - Report of Head of Development Management and Strategic Sites 
Planning Committee 14 March 2018
___________________________________________________________________

121. None of the projects identified have pooled more than 5 developments.

122. I recommend the planning obligations in Table 1 be required should the 
Committee resolve to grant permission. I have assessed them against 
Regulation 122 and for the reasons given consider they are all necessary to 
make the development acceptable in planning terms, are directly related to 
the development and are fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the 
development. Accordingly, they may be a reason to grant planning permission 
in this case.

Page 67



Ashford Borough Council - Report of Head of Development Management and Strategic Sites
Planning Committee 14 March 2018
__________________________________________________________________________

Table 1
Planning Obligation

Detail Amount(s) Trigger Point(s)
Regulation 122 Assessment

1 Cemeteries

Project by Smarden Parish Council: 
extend the existing cemetery

£284 per 
dwelling for 
capital costs

£176 per 
dwelling for 
maintenance

Upon occupation 
of 75% of the 
dwellings

Necessary as cemeteries are required to meet 
the demand that would be generated and must 
be maintained in order to continue to meet that 
demand pursuant to Core Strategy policies 
CS1, CS2, and CS18, Urban Sites and 
Infrastructure DPD policy U24 (if applicable), 
Public Green Spaces and Water Environment 
SPD and guidance in the NPPF.

Directly related as occupiers will use 
cemeteries and the facilities to be provided 
would be available to them.

Fairly and reasonably related in scale and 
kind considering the extent of the development 
and the number of occupiers and the extent of 
the facilities to be provided and maintained and 
the maintenance period is limited to 10 years.

P
age 68



Ashford Borough Council - Report of Head of Development Management and Strategic Sites
Planning Committee 14 March 2018
__________________________________________________________________________

2 Children’s and Young People’s
Play Space

Project for Smarden Parish Council: 
New equipment and safer surfacing at 
Smarden play area, The Street

£649 per 
dwelling for 
capital costs

£663 per 
dwelling for 
maintenance

Upon occupation 
of 75% of the 
dwellings

Necessary as children’s and young people’s 
play space is required to meet the demand that 
would be generated and must be maintained in 
order to continue to meet that demand 
pursuant to Core Strategy policies CS1, CS2 
and CS18, Tenterden and Rural Sites DPD 
policy TRS19, Public Green Spaces and Water 
Environment SPD and guidance in the NPPF.

Directly related as occupiers will use 
children’s and young people’s play space and 
the facilities to be provided would be available 
to them.

Fairly and reasonably related in scale and 
kind considering the extent of the development 
and the number of occupiers and the extent of 
the facilities to be provided and maintained and 
the maintenance period is limited to 10 years.

P
age 69



Ashford Borough Council - Report of Head of Development Management and Strategic Sites
Planning Committee 14 March 2018
__________________________________________________________________________

3 Libraries

Additional bookstock to meet the 
additional demand upon the local 
mobile Library service which attends in 
Smarden

£48.02 per 
dwelling

Half the 
contribution 
upon occupation 
of 25% of the 
dwellings and 
balance on 
occupation of 
50% of the 
dwellings

Necessary as more books required to meet 
the demand generated and pursuant to Core 
Strategy policy CS18, Tenterden and Rural 
Sites DPD policy TRS19, KCC Guide to 
Development Contributions and the Provision 
of Community Infrastructure and guidance in 
the NPPF. 

Directly related as occupiers will use library 
books and the books to be funded will be 
available to them. 

Fairly and reasonably related in scale and 
kind considering the extent of the development 
and because amount calculated based on the 
number of dwellings.

P
age 70



Ashford Borough Council - Report of Head of Development Management and Strategic Sites
Planning Committee 14 March 2018
__________________________________________________________________________

4 Monitoring Fee

Contribution towards the Council’s 
costs of monitoring compliance with 
the agreement or undertaking

£1,000 per 
annum until 
development 
is completed 
 

First payment 
upon 
commencement 
of development 
and on the 
anniversary 
thereof in 
subsequent 
years

Necessary in order to ensure the planning 
obligations are complied with. 

Directly related as only costs arising in 
connection with the monitoring of the 
development and these planning obligations 
are covered. 

Fairly and reasonably related in scale and 
kind considering the extent of the development 
and the obligations to be monitored.

P
age 71



Ashford Borough Council - Report of Head of Development Management and Strategic Sites
Planning Committee 14 March 2018
__________________________________________________________________________

5 Outdoor Sports Pitches

Project by Smarden Parish Council: 
contribution would be towards a 
drainage system for the cricket and 
football pitches

£1,589 per 
dwelling for 
capital costs 

£326 per 
dwelling for 
maintenance

Upon occupation 
of 75% of the 
dwellings

Necessary as outdoor sports pitches are 
required to meet the demand that would be 
generated and must be maintained in order to 
continue to meet that demand pursuant to 
Core Strategy policies CS1, CS2 and CS18, 
Tenterden and Rural Sites DPD policy TRS19, 
Public Green Spaces and Water Environment 
SPD and guidance in the NPPF.

Directly related as occupiers will use sports 
pitches and the facilities to be provided would 
be available to them and increased use of the 
sites for more of the season

Fairly and reasonably related in scale and 
kind considering the extent of the development 
and the number of occupiers and the extent of 
the facilities to be provided and maintained and 
the maintenance period is limited to 10 years.

P
age 72



Ashford Borough Council - Report of Head of Development Management and Strategic Sites
Planning Committee 14 March 2018
__________________________________________________________________________

6 Secondary Schools

Project: Norton Knatchbull expansion -
28 replacement parking spaces project

£589.95 per 
flat 

£2359.80 per 
house

£0 for any 1-
bed dwelling 
with less 
than 56 m2 
gross 
internal area

Half the 
contribution 
upon occupation 
of 25% of the 
dwellings and 
balance on 
occupation of 
50% of the 
dwellings
 

Necessary as no spare capacity at any 
secondary school in the vicinity and pursuant 
to Core Strategy policies CS1, CS2 and CS18, 
Tenterden and Rural Sites DPD policy TRS19, 
saved Local Plan policy CF21, Developer 
Contributions/Planning Obligations SPG, 
Education Contributions Arising from 
Affordable Housing SPG (if applicable), KCC 
Guide to Development Contributions and the 
Provision of Community Infrastructure and 
guidance in the NPPF. 

Directly related as children of occupiers will 
attend secondary school and the facilities to be 
funded would be available to them. 

Fairly and reasonably related in scale and 
kind considering the extent of the development 
and because the amount has taken into 
account the estimated number of secondary 
school pupils and is based on the number of 
dwellings and because no payment is due on 
small 1-bed dwellings or sheltered 
accommodation specifically for the elderly.  

P
age 73



Ashford Borough Council - Report of Head of Development Management and Strategic Sites
Planning Committee 14 March 2018
__________________________________________________________________________

7 Strategic Parks

Project: Conningbrook Lakes Country 
Park for the footpath link from the car 
park to the play area

£146 per 
dwelling for 
capital costs

£47 per 
dwelling for 
maintenance

Upon occupation 
of 75% of the 
dwellings

Necessary as strategic parks are required to 
meet the demand that would be generated and 
must be maintained in order to continue to 
meet that demand pursuant to Core Strategy 
policies CS1, CS2, CS18 and CS18a, 
Tenterden and Rural Sites DPD policy TRS19, 
Public Green Spaces and Water Environment 
SPD and guidance in the NPPF.

Directly related as occupiers will use strategic 
parks and the facilities to be provided would be 
available to them.

Fairly and reasonably related in scale and 
kind considering the extent of the development 
and the number of occupiers and the extent of 
the facilities to be provided and maintained and 
the maintenance period is limited to 10 years.

P
age 74



Ashford Borough Council - Report of Head of Development Management and Strategic Sites
Planning Committee 14 March 2018
__________________________________________________________________________

8 Voluntary Sector

Project by Smarden Charter Hall: 
storeroom extension to Charter Hall

£6,000 Upon occupation 
of 75% of the 
dwellings

Necessary as enhanced voluntary sector 
services needed to meet the demand that 
would be generated pursuant to Core Strategy 
policy CS18, Tenterden and Rural Sites DPD 
policy TRS19, and guidance in the NPPF. 

Directly related as occupiers will use the 
voluntary sector, organisations based at the 
hall and the additional services to be funded 
will be available to them. Further storage would 
allow them to increase capacity to deliver 
services.

Fairly and reasonably related in scale and 
kind considering the extent of the 
development.  

Regulation 123(3) compliance: Fewer than five planning obligations which provide for the funding or provision of the projects 
above or the types of infrastructure above have been entered into.

Notices must be given to the Council at various stages in order to aid monitoring. All contributions are index linked in order to 
maintain their value. The Council’s legal costs in connection with the deed must be paid.

If an acceptable deed is not completed within 3 months of the committee’s resolution, the application may be refused.

P
age 75

https://goo.gl/b2CNNE
https://goo.gl/b2CNNE
https://goo.gl/sguDWQ


Ashford Borough Council - Report of Head of Development Management and Strategic Sites 
Planning Committee 14 March 2018
___________________________________________________________________

Human Rights Issues
123. I have also taken into account the human rights issues relevant to this 

application. In my view the “Assessment” section above and the 
Recommendations below represent an appropriate balance between the 
interests and rights of the applicant (to enjoy his land subject only to 
reasonable and proportionate controls by a public authority) and the interests 
and rights of those potentially affected by the proposal (to respect for private 
life and the home and peaceful enjoyment of their properties).

Working with the applicant
124. In accordance with paragraphs 186 and 187 of the NPPF Ashford Borough 

Council (ABC) takes a positive and proactive approach to development 
proposals focused on solutions. ABC works with applicants/agents in a 
positive and proactive manner as explained in the note to the applicant 
included in the recommendation below.

Conclusion
125. The proposal would be contrary to policies TRS1 and TRS2 Development 

Plan and is not currently allocated, so is a windfall site. Whilst the Council can 
demonstrate a five-year supply of deliverable housing the application still has 
to be considered in light of the NPPF’s presumption in favour of sustainable 
development as emerging policy HOU5 has not gone through examination.

126. The application would be on the edge of the village and is unallocated in the 
emerging Local Plan. 14 units on this gateway into the village would result in 
an overdevelopment of the site where development is transitioning to the 
countryside beyond. The proposal would have an urbanising effect on this 
edge of village location.

127. Further surveys required in the Phase I habitat survey have not been carried 
to ensure that appropriate mitigation could be implemented and the results 
are required prior to determination. The applicant does not wish to provide 
these and they cannot be secured by committee.  Consequently impact on 
matters of ecological importance is a ground for refusal in this instance.

128. The site would not be easily accessible for pedestrians and cyclists to reach 
services and facilities in Smarden. Given the number of units it would be 
unacceptable for these pedestrians to walk along the narrow Mill Lane with 
60mph speed limit, passing places, no street lighting and no footway. This 
would be detrimental to pedestrian safety and not promote sustainable means 
of transport.

Page 76



Ashford Borough Council - Report of Head of Development Management and Strategic Sites 
Planning Committee 14 March 2018
___________________________________________________________________

129. There are social and economic benefits allowing residential development in 
this rural area. Although, these would not be outweighed by the environmental 
impacts identified in terms of visual harm, loss of habitat for protected species 
without adequate mitigation and unsustainable location due to poor pedestrian 
access to Smarden village. Consequently, the proposal would not follow the 
golden thread of sustainable development in the NPPF, policies in the 
Development Plan and the emerging Local Plan as a material consideration.

Recommendation
Refuse on the following grounds:

1. The proposal would be contrary to saved Ashford Borough Local Plan 2000 
policies GP12, EN9 and EN10, Core Strategy 2008 policy CS1, Tenterden 
and Rural Sites DPD 2010 policy TRS17, emerging Local Plan 2030 policies 
HOU5, ENV3 and ENV5, the National Planning Policy Framework and 
Planning Policy Guidance and would have a significant and demonstrable 
impact on the built environment and visual amenity, which are not outweighed 
by the benefits of the development cited by the applicant, for the following 
reasons:-

a) the quantity, form and extent of the proposed development would not be 
consistent with the looser, rural grain of development in terms of the scale, 
setting and layout along this part of Mill Lane. 

b) the proposals fail to achieve a transition to the countryside and harm the 
visual setting of and eastern entrance to Smarden village.

2. The proposal would be contrary to saved Ashford Borough Local Plan 2000 
policy GP12, Core Strategy 2008 policy CS1, emerging Local Plan 2030 
policies HOU5 and TRA5, the National Planning Policy Framework and 
Planning Policy Guidance and would not be a sustainable location, which are 
not outweighed by the benefits of the development cited by the applicant, for 
the following reasons:-

a) the quantum of proposed development would generate additional 
pedestrian traffic and there would be no safe, off-road pedestrian access to 
the village and bus stops resulting in an adverse impact on pedestrian safety

b) increase in the reliance on the private motor car by future occupiers due to 
the poor accessibility to services and facilities in Smarden village.

3. The proposal would be contrary to saved Ashford Borough Local Plan 2000 
policy EN31, Core Strategy 2008 policy CS11, Tenterden and Rural Sites 
DPD 2010 policy TRS17, emerging Local Plan 2030 policy ENV1, Circular 
06/2005, the National Planning Policy Framework and Planning Policy 

Page 77



Ashford Borough Council - Report of Head of Development Management and Strategic Sites 
Planning Committee 14 March 2018
___________________________________________________________________

Guidance, Habitats Directive: article 6(4)and the requirements of the Wildlife 
and Countryside Act 1981 for the following reasons:-

a) the applicant has failed to carry out additional surveys for Great Crested 
Newts to demonstrate that there would be no harm to these protected species 
and their habitat and that the receptor site would have sufficient carrying 
capacity for the translocation. 

b) the applicant has failed to carry out additional surveys for reptiles to 
demonstrate that there would be no harm to these protected species and their 
habitat and that the receptor site would have sufficient carrying capacity for 
the translocation.

As a result of a) & b) above the impact on matters of ecological interest 
cannot be determined nor can the mitigation proposed be known to be 
adequate.  The proposal in the absence of this information would be 
detrimental to matters of ecological importance.

4. The proposal would be contrary to the KCC Guide to Development 
Contributions 2007, SPG3 Developer Contributions / Planning Obligations 
2001, Public Green Spaces and Water Environment SPD 2012, saved Local 
Plan 2000 policy CF21, Tenterden and Rural Sites DPD 2010 policy TRS19, 
policies CS1, CS2, CS8, CS18 and CS18a of the Corse Strategy 2008 and 
emerging Local Plan to 2030 policies COM1 and COM2 the National Planning 
Policy Framework and Planning Policy Guidance. The necessary planning 
obligation has not been entered into in respect of the list below so that the 
proposed development is unacceptable by virtue of failing to mitigate its 
impact and failing to meet demand for services and facilities that would be 
generated and the reasonable costs of monitoring the performance of the 
necessary obligations: 

a) a financial contribution towards cemetery project, play space project, library 
bookstock, outdoor sports pitches, strategic parks project and secondary 
school infrastructure projects based on the yield of the housing mix; and

b) a contribution of £6,000 for an extension to Smarden Charter Hall

Note to Applicant

1. Working with the applicant

In accordance with paragraphs 186 and 187 of the NPPF Ashford Borough 
Council (ABC) takes a positive and proactive approach to development 
proposals focused on solutions. ABC works with applicants/agents in a 
positive and proactive manner by;

Page 78



Ashford Borough Council - Report of Head of Development Management and Strategic Sites 
Planning Committee 14 March 2018
___________________________________________________________________

 offering a pre-application advice service,

 as appropriate updating applicants/agents of any issues that may arise 
in the processing of their application 

 where possible suggesting solutions to secure a successful outcome, 

 informing applicants/agents of any likely recommendation of refusal 
prior to a decision and,

 by adhering to the requirements of the Development Management 
Customer Charter.

In this instance:

 the applicant/agent was updated of any issues after the initial site visit,

 discussions were held with Planning Policy regarding the draft 
allocation,

 the applicant submitted additional plans in relation to drainage, 
highways and refuse

 The application was considered by the Planning Committee where the 
applicant/agent had the opportunity to speak to the committee and 
promote the application. 

Background Papers
All papers referred to in this report are currently published on the Ashford Borough 
Council web site (www.ashford.gov.uk). Those papers relating specifically to this 
application may be found on the View applications on line pages under planning 
application reference 17/00625/AS.

Contact Officer: Kelly Jethwa Telephone: (01233) 330589

Email:  kelly.jethwa@ashford.gov.uk

Page 79

http://www.ashford.gov.uk/
http://planning.ashford.gov.uk/planning/Default.aspx?new=true


Ashford Borough Council - Report of Head of Development Management and Strategic Sites
Planning Committee 14 March 2018
___________________________________________________________________

Annex 1

P
age 80



Ashford Borough Council - Report of Head of Development Management and Strategic Sites
Planning Committee 14 March 2018
___________________________________________________________________

Application Number 17/01759/AS

Location Former Pledges Mill and South Kent College Site and land 
south of junction of Beaver Road and, Victoria Road, 
Ashford, Kent

Grid Reference 00992/42245

Ward Victoria

Application 
Description

Proposed minor material amendments to planning 
permission 16/01157/AS involving design changes to 
Phase A2 x 3 commercial uses (Use Classes A1/A2/B2) & 
Phase A3 (219 residential units) with associated parking, 
substations, landscaping and access works relating to 
land south of Victoria Road ONLY with no design changes 
to the approved brewery, with shop, bar and restaurant 
(Use Classes B2/A1/A3/A4)

Applicant Victoria Way Ashford LLP

Agent Nathaniel Lichfield & Partners

Site Area 1.67

(a) 67/ - (b) - (c) KHT +, EA X, ES (Refuse) 
X, KCC Flooding X, ABC 
(Drainage) X, KWT -, SACF 
-, VBRAG -

Introduction

1. This application is reported to the Planning Committee because it involves 
major development and is a s.73 application. It therefore is required to be 
determined by the Planning Committee under the Council’s current scheme of 
delegation.

2. The application is for minor material amendments to the x 3 ground floor 
commercial units with residential above (known as Phase A2) and solely 
residential block (known as Phase A3) of the wider redevelopment scheme 
(planning permission 16/01157/AS) involving development on either side of 
Victoria Road at its eastern end close to the Ashford International Station. 

Page 81

Agenda Item 6b



Ashford Borough Council - Report of Head of Development Management and Strategic Sites
Planning Committee 14 March 2018
___________________________________________________________________

3. The application does not propose any changes to the approved Brewery 
(known as Phase A1) on the northern side of Victoria Road where works have 
recently begun. A retrospective ‘non-material amendment ‘application 
(reference 16/01157/AMND/AS) dealing retrospectively with a minor change 
to the precise position of the substation on Victoria Road there has already 
been approved under delegated powers. For consistency, the drawings 
supplied with the current application incorporate those consented minor 
changes.

4. Application 16/01157/AS was reported to the Planning Committee in October 
2016. The associated s.106 agreement was completed in summer 2017 
allowing planning permission to finally be issued. The decision notice includes 
conditions for each of the defined phases assisting delivery of the individual 
phases. The site has since been disposed of by Homes England. 

5. The applicant is now identified as Victoria Way Ashford LLP. The proposed 
changes are those that the applicant has indicated are the refinements that 
are necessary in order to enable commencement of works on Phases A2 and 
A3. 

6. Members’ will recall that (i) application 16/01157/AS was the subject of a 
viability assessment and the Council accepted that the full range of developer 
contributions rendered the scheme unviable and (ii), notwithstanding, the 
applicant offered - as an acknowledgement of concern about Ashford’s social 
and economic regeneration - limited contributions to both this Council for 
improving off-site open space (Victoria Park) and to the County Council 
(towards primary and secondary education). These contributions are secured 
in the existing s.106 agreement. The current applicant’s position remains the 
same on viability and does not seek to reopen issues of viability. I have 
accepted this as a pragmatic approach to assist the delivery of the 
regeneration approved by the Council for this part of central Ashford given the 
very limited passage of time. 

7. The proposed changes could not reasonably be considered by the Council 
through the non-material amendment process brought in by the government 
to help give greater flexibility in the planning system: hence the current s.73 
application.

8. To permit the application would, however, result in the issue of a new 
permission for the development as a whole (although the expiry date for its 
commencement would be the same as in the original permission). The list of 
approved plans would necessarily therefore include those updated and 
amended related to the proposed design changes as well as those plans that 
have already been approved and are not proposed to be amended. 
Furthermore, applications pursuant to certain conditions attached to planning 

Page 82



Ashford Borough Council - Report of Head of Development Management and Strategic Sites
Planning Committee 14 March 2018
___________________________________________________________________

permission 16/01157/AS have been already been submitted to the Council 
and have been approved: this complication dictates a consequential 
rewording of the planning conditions concerned in order to detail that fact. 

9. Government guidance identifies that the Council will need to consider this 
type of application against the development plan and material considerations 
as well as the conditions that were attached to the permission that is being 
proposed to be amended. A focus is necessarily required on any matters 
which might have changed significantly since the grant of the permission. 

10. The net result is that assessment of a s.73 application has to revisit the 
analysis of the original application as a whole. I have kept the approach in this 
report as succinct as is realistically possible with cross references to the 
October 2016 Planning Committee Report on application 16/01157/AS 
generally wherever those are appropriate and specifically in respect of the 
Brewery.    

11. There has been no significant change to the application site context since 
application 16/01157/AS was considered other than;-

(i) the start of work at the Brewery and adjacent superstore, 
(ii) the start of work on two apartment blocks to the west of the site located on 
Victoria Crescent,
(iii) the opening of Ashford College in September 2017, and 
(iv) the implementation of changes to the road junctions either side of Beaver 
Road bridge to improve capacity with associated public realm enhancements.

12. The main change in terms of material considerations is the submission of the 
Ashford Local Plan 2030 to the Planning Inspectorate for examination (which 
is due to take place starting in April 2018). I set out analysis of the applicability 
and weight to be applied to those new policies in the Assessment section of 
the report which, for consistency and cross-referencing purposes, follows the 
same approach as in my report on 16/01157/AS. Members should consider 
the application together with the report on 16/01157/AS to the October 2016 
Planning Committee – which sets out the complete range of supporting 
documents - as necessary.

13. The suite of technical supporting documents supplied with the application is 
limited to those where the proposed design changes have a concomitant 
impact on the following;-

(i) Landscape Design,
(ii) Arboricultural Assessment,
(ii) Flood Risk Assessment, and
(iii) Transport Assessment.

Page 83



Ashford Borough Council - Report of Head of Development Management and Strategic Sites
Planning Committee 14 March 2018
___________________________________________________________________

14. Since the application was submitted, a number of refinements have been 
negotiated resulting in further changes. Where necessary these have been 
the subject of further consultation with technical consultees: none require any 
wider consultation in my opinion and none conflict with the ability to consider 
the applicant’s proposal pursuant to s.73. 

Site and Surroundings 

15. The application site plan is shown below in Figure 1 below.

Figure 1

16. The application site involves land on the northern side of Victoria Road 
adjacent to the western side of Beaver Road bridge as well as land on the 
southern side of Victoria Road. The site is not located in a designated 
Landscape Character Area. There are no listed buildings within or adjacent to 
the site. The site is not located in a conservation area.

17. The site surroundings comprise a mixture of business uses (predominantly on 
the southern side of Victoria Road further to the west), a residential area 
further to the west (comprising Victoria Crescent and homes on Victoria Road 
opposite the primary school), Victoria Road itself, a petrol filling station on 
Beaver Road and the domestic and high speed railway lines north of Victoria 
Road.

Page 84



Ashford Borough Council - Report of Head of Development Management and Strategic Sites
Planning Committee 14 March 2018
___________________________________________________________________

18. The application site on the northern side of Victoria Road abuts the western 
side of Beaver Road bridge over the railway lines and the signalised Beaver 
Road/ Avenue Jacques Faucheux junction. Planning permission 16/01157/AS 
has been commenced. Further to the north are the railway lines and further 
north still is Elwick Road and the first phase of the new Ashford College 
building. To the west of the application site is an area of derelict ground 
subject of planning permission 16/001167/AS for the development of a 
superstore which has now been commenced. Further to the west is a 
warehouse building substantially set back from Victoria Road. The southern 
side of the application site involves the realigned and significantly visually 
improved Victoria Road and remnants of the original Victoria Road that rose 
gently towards Beaver Road bridge. The annotated aerial image below shows 
these remnants as well as the warehouse building further to the west.

19. In respect of the application site on the southern side of Victoria Road which 
is the focus of this application, this abuts the existing street boundary to that 
Road, wraps around the existing petrol filling station on its three non-Beaver 
Road boundaries, extends southwards to the Great Stour riverside and the 
existing footway/cycleway route running through that area before crossing the 
river by bridge and also westwards to the former Travis Perkins site on 
Victoria Crescent and George Street which connects Victoria Crescent with 
Victoria Road. 

20. The Travis Perkins site on the northern side of the George Street and Victoria 
Crescent corner is now being redeveloped as a 5-storey block of x 31 
apartments following the grant of planning permission 16/00981/AS: this 
scheme is mid-way through construction. The Travis Perkins site on the 
southern side of Victoria Crescent was granted planning permission 
16/00986/AS for a block of 28 apartments rising from 3-storeys to 5-storeys at 
its eastern end closest to the application site: this development has also 
recently commenced with site clearance.

21. The application site as a whole is generally level ground with a slight fall from 
north to south. It contains significant amounts of concrete hardstanding and 
has been colonised by scrub vegetation. It contains a number of trees /groups 
as follows;-

(i) x 2 ‘Category B’ trees and groups including a Beech tree on the southern 
areas’ western boundary that is subject of Tree Preservation Order and a 
group of Crack Willow near the bank of the River Stour,

(ii) x 27 ‘Category C’ trees and groups being generally unremarkable trees  of 
compromised structure and signs of stress, and

(iii) x 5 ‘Category U’ trees and groups being in poor structural/physiological 
Page 85



Ashford Borough Council - Report of Head of Development Management and Strategic Sites
Planning Committee 14 March 2018
___________________________________________________________________

condition and state of decline requiring removal on grounds of sound 
arboricultural management.

Proposal: no change to Phase A1 (Brewery site)

22. The application does not propose any change to the Brewery site (Phase A1) 
north of Victoria Road other than the aforementioned minor changes to the 
location of the substation on the street frontage. The October 2016 Planning 
Committee report 16/01157/AS sets out full details of the Brewery proposal – 
please refer to that Report.

Proposal: changes to Phase A2 (Victoria Road frontage)

23. The 5-storey scale, approach to massing and architectural style would remain 
as previously approved, as would the green sedum roof to the building 
assisting controlled discharge of surface water southwards within the site to 
cellular storage under parking areas and onwards towards the River Stour. 

24. In summary, the proposed changes to this block are as follows;-

(i) reconfiguration of the ground floor 

25. The three commercial units remain but would be enhanced in size as a result 
of changes to the storage areas to the rear and a change from two circulation 
cores serving the upper floors compared with one as previously approved. 
Internal cycle and refuse storage would still be provided as would 4 integral 
parking spaces. Figure 2 below shows the ‘as approved’ and ‘as proposed’ 
ground floor layout.

Figure 2

Page 86



Ashford Borough Council - Report of Head of Development Management and Strategic Sites
Planning Committee 14 March 2018
___________________________________________________________________

(ii) change from dual aspect to single aspect apartments

26. The proposed change from two down to one circulation core would yield 
larger apartments with a reduction in circulation space at each floor level. The 
applicant identifies that the average apartment has increased from 83.7 sq.m 
to 91.5 sq.m and that there would now be x 3 w/c /bath/shower rooms per 
apartment with each bedroom in the block having en-suite facilities as well as 
built in storage.

27. The apartments would change from dual aspect homes ‘as approved’ to 
single aspect flats ‘as proposed’ as Figure 3 below shows. The north facing 
apartments would be provided with projecting balconies (which would over 
sail private space and not adopted highway) the south facing apartments 
would have recessed balconies.

Figure 3

Page 87



Ashford Borough Council - Report of Head of Development Management and Strategic Sites
Planning Committee 14 March 2018
___________________________________________________________________

(iii) Consequential changes to the elevations

28. The reduction in circulation cores would alter the Victoria Road frontage by 
grouping balconies at the eastern and western ends of the building rather than 
in the centre as Figure 4 below shows.

Figure 4

29. Following my concern that the ‘as proposed’ rear elevation was of a lesser 
quality compared with the Victoria Road frontage with dark colour infill 
cladding panels between brick predominating the central part of the façade, 
the applicant has amended the elevations. Additional brickwork has been 
introduced to break up the façade and provide visual richness in the absence 
of centrally located balconies. Figure 5 below shows the ‘as deposited’ and 
‘as proposed’ changes.

Page 88



Ashford Borough Council - Report of Head of Development Management and Strategic Sites
Planning Committee 14 March 2018
___________________________________________________________________

Figure 5

Proposal: changes to Phase A3 (Riverside residential 
block)

30. In summary, the proposed changes to this block are as follows;-

(i) removal of x 12 residential studio apartments at lower ground floor level 
fronting the riverside

31. The single aspect studios at lower ground floor fronting towards the river 
corridor with communal podium residents’ only space above are removed. A 
reduced podium is provided and the space becomes part of a walled 
residents’ only communal garden. The river frontage would also be soft 
landscaped. Figure 6 below uses a CGI to demonstrate this change.

Page 89



Ashford Borough Council - Report of Head of Development Management and Strategic Sites
Planning Committee 14 March 2018
___________________________________________________________________

Figure 6

(ii) the number of apartments in the block remaining at 200 but with the mix 
adjusted with fewer studio apartments and a greater number of 1-bed and 2-
bed apartments

32. The adjusted proposal is identified as following a further review of the local 
market and is suggested as providing a range of dwellings with core demand 
expected from young professionals and first time buyers.

Page 90



Ashford Borough Council - Report of Head of Development Management and Strategic Sites
Planning Committee 14 March 2018
___________________________________________________________________

The change reduces the studio apartments by c.50% and boosts the number 
of 2-bed (by 15) and 1-bed homes (by 7). Figure 7 below provides a 
comparison with the previously approved scheme. 

Figure 7

(iii) a change to a ‘market sale’ as opposed to a ‘private rented sector’ model 
and size changes to apartments

33. The applicant’s position is that the private rented sector approach identified in 
application 16/01157/AS could not be pursued at this site. Instead, market 
sale is proposed for all the units (the previous application suggested that the 
Victoria Road frontage block might be either private sale or private rented 
sector). However, high quality residents’ only external amenity space (in the 
form of a podium terrace with seating and loungers and attractively hard and 
soft landscaped gardens accessed via steps south of the podium terrace) and 
internal communal space (the so-called ‘superlounge’) is proposed to be 
retained.

34. The riverside block would now adopt the following in terms of apartment 
space standards for the range of standard home types;-

Number Type As proposed
20 Studios 39.2 sq.m.
65 1-bed 55.1 sq.m.
115 2-bed 73 sq.m.

(iv) the previously approved partial top floor being amended to a full top floor

35. The changes proposed to the building, including the removal of the lower 
ground floor riverside studio apartments, have necessitated revisions to the 
top floor of the building. Development at this level was previously approved as 
being partial with the southern areas of both ‘wings’ towards the river being 
provided with green roof. 

36. A full top floor is now proposed. Apartments would be set back from the edge 
defined by the storey below and would, as before, be clad in dark cladding 
(rather than brickwork) as part an elevational treatment deliberately designed 

Page 91



Ashford Borough Council - Report of Head of Development Management and Strategic Sites
Planning Committee 14 March 2018
___________________________________________________________________

to be different as the building ‘roof’. The entire roof to the top floor would be a 
green roof.

37. The ‘as approved’ and ‘as proposed’ images shown in Figure 8 below shows 
the changes viewed from the west (the visual change would be the same 
viewed from the east with the Beaver Road filling station occupying the 
majority of the foreground).

Figure 8

38. The set-back would enable the creation of private terrace spaces for each 
apartment around the perimeter guarded by a parapet wall within which 
planter boxes would be provided. These spaces would flare where space 
permits (such as at the corners between the wings).

39. Some of the terraced spaces would, however, be less than the minimum 1.5m 
depth as identified in the Council’s adopted Space Standards SPD. The 
applicant’s contention is that when taken together with the communal 
superlounge space, the proposed resident’s only podium terrace and hard 
and soft landscaped gardens beyond that terrace down towards the river 
frontage, an acceptable level of amenity space would be provided. 

40. Following negotiations, the applicant has amended the detailing of lounge full 
height doors to a sliding detail as shown in Figure 9 below. 

Page 92



Ashford Borough Council - Report of Head of Development Management and Strategic Sites
Planning Committee 14 March 2018
___________________________________________________________________

Figure 9

41. The intention is that in good weather this detail would enable a strong 
connection to be made between the outside terrace and the indoor room and 
therefore obviate the need for an external table (with manoeuvring room 
alongside a table being the genesis of the minimum depth stated in the 
Council’s SPD considered to help create a comfortable space to use).

(v) reduction in the size of residents’ only podium space with replacement by 
surface level residents’ only landscaped gardens including rain gardens as 
part of the SUDs scheme for the site

42. With the removal of the lower ground floor level riverside studios, the extent of 
the residents’ only podium space contained within the three ‘wings’ of the 
building has been reviewed together with the design of undercroft car parking. 
As a result, while the contained space remains substantially the same area, 
the raised podium element has been reduced to a terraced area located 
directly south of the internal residents’ ‘superlounge’ communal space with 
surface level gardens south of that terrace. Steps would connect the two and 
resolve the differing land levels. Figure 10 below shows the extent of the ‘as 
approved’ podium space and ‘as proposed’ podium and gardens space as 
well as a section showing the linkage between the two. 

Page 93



Ashford Borough Council - Report of Head of Development Management and Strategic Sites
Planning Committee 14 March 2018
___________________________________________________________________

Figure 10

43. The residents’ only gardens would, as before, have secure access gates to 
the riverside environment and would include a variety of hard and soft 
landscaped areas. Sub-surface cellular storage of rain water is identified by 
the applicant in this area as part of the SUDs strategy for the wider site before 
controlled outfall to the River Stour. The applicant’s landscape strategy 
describes part of this area as rain gardens allowing the cellular storage of rain 
water to irrigate soft planting and at the same be cleansed on the way towards 
the River Stour.

Page 94



Ashford Borough Council - Report of Head of Development Management and Strategic Sites
Planning Committee 14 March 2018
___________________________________________________________________

(vi) amendments to the residents’ ‘superlounge’ and internal communal area 
including the removal of the gym and shared dining / kitchen room but 
retention of a large lounge area for residents and a workspace area

44. The ground floor ‘superlounge’ concept around the main entrance was a key 
feature of the previously approved scheme in terms of quality feel on entering 
the building, the extensive visual connection with the podium residents’ only 
space beyond and as part of a creating a relaxing internal communal space 
beyond homes for socialising as well as space to work.

45. As a result of pre-application discussions, the superlounge has been retained 
and would connect with the revised podium terrace that is proposed beyond. 
The main entrance would by manned 24/7 be manned by security and 
concierge staff and have a post collection area. The previous proposal for a 
gym as well as shared dining/kitchen room has, however, been deleted. 
Figure 11 below shows the ‘as approved’ and ‘as proposed’ communal areas 
in the building. The blue lines approximate the view in the CGI further below.

Figure 11
Page 95



Ashford Borough Council - Report of Head of Development Management and Strategic Sites
Planning Committee 14 March 2018
___________________________________________________________________

46. Figure 12 below is a CGI looking westwards towards the reception/concierge 
desk and out to the podium terrace.

Figure 12

(vii) the podium space remodelled as a ‘grand terrace’ accessible from the 
superlounge and the area south including additional play areas targeted at all 
ages including a boules court together with climbing plants to walls

47. The remodelled podium ‘grand terrace’ space is intended to connect both 
physically and visually with the ground floor superlounge and facilitate outdoor 
dining space. Seats and loungers would be installed on this elevated space 
for residents to use and take advantage of elevated views towards the river 
corridor. Hard and soft landscaped grounds would be accessed from the 
grand terrace by steps working with the natural fall of the site southwards. 
Figure 13 below shows this in cross-section.

Figure 13

Page 96



Ashford Borough Council - Report of Head of Development Management and Strategic Sites
Planning Committee 14 March 2018
___________________________________________________________________

48. The applicant cites the proposed amendments as increasing the residents’ 
only soft landscaped amenity space at ground level and a good substitute for 
the inaccessible green roof previously proposed at roof level as part of the 
SUDs scheme. A variety of spaces are shown on the landscape masterplan 
including play area with rocks and climbing mounds and a boules court. 
Climbing plants to external walls and the ‘hit & miss’ brick work (providing 
ventilation) to the undercroft parking areas would be provided to help soften 
the space. An area of rain gardens would be provided as part of the SUDs 
scheme for the site: this area would hold surface water and use it for irrigation 
before allowing a controlled onwards discharge.

49. Benches would be provided on the riverside frontage to enhance its amenity 
potential. This space would remain privately owned and maintained.

50. Following negotiations, amended plans have been submitted providing 
additional climbing planting to the lower ground floor walls of the plant room 
and lower ground floor level undercroft adjacent to the riverside parking court 
as well as to the walls to the riverside frontage space towards Beaver Road.

(vii) reconfiguration of the lower ground floor parking layout as a consequence 
of the changes to the podium, changes to the riverside parking court, 
revisions to arrangements for cycle parking and relocation of refuse storage

51. The deletion of the podium space has necessitated the reconfiguration of 
lower ground floor level undercoft parking. The proposed approach is for this 
to follow the footprint of the building and the ‘grand terrace’ with the geometry 
of the site and the building near to Beaver Road dictating the undercroft 
projecting from the building above. Car parking would still be secured by a 
sliding barrier with separate secured access pedestrian gate on the George 
Street frontage. Figure 14 below shows the lower ground floor level car 
parking ‘as approved’ and ‘as proposed’. The location of cycle parking ‘as 
approved’ and ‘as proposed’ is also annotated.

Page 97



Ashford Borough Council - Report of Head of Development Management and Strategic Sites
Planning Committee 14 March 2018
___________________________________________________________________

Figure 14

52. Following comments from Kent Highways & Transportation (KHT) on the 
usability of some spaces – particularly in the eastern wing – amended plans 
have been submitted. The plans also move spaces designed to accommodate 
residents with disabilities to positions closer to circulation cores containing lift 
access to upper floors. The plans also overcome an inability for residents to 
gain internal access into the refuse store that would have its double door 
‘collection’ opening to Beaver Road. 

53. The revisions to the scheme result in consequential changes to the riverside 
parking court. The Beech Tree on the western boundary of the court with the 
adjacent development site (one of the two sites previously occupied by Travis 
Perkins on Victoria Crescent) is, again, proposed to be removed. A more 
comprehensive analysis is provided by the applicant as to why the changes 
within the root protection area of this Tree (which is subject of a Preservation 
Order) dictate that removal is now necessary: detail is given in the Supporting 
Documents section further below in this report.

54. Following concerns that both KHT and I expressed about (i) the important 
pedestrian route through the court connecting the riverside movement corridor 
with the southern end of George Street and (ii) the dimensions and usability of 
the parking spaces shown within the court, amended plans have been 
submitted. Whereas the plans as originally deposited sought to increase 
parking by including an additional x 4 spaces, the applicant accepts that the 
further spaces shown would not be usable and so these additional spaces 
have now been deleted. A clearer and more direct pedestrian route is 

Page 98



Ashford Borough Council - Report of Head of Development Management and Strategic Sites
Planning Committee 14 March 2018
___________________________________________________________________

proposed reacting to desire line movement eastwards towards Beaver Road 
and southwards to the bridge over the River Stour (the primary route from the 
site to Victoria Park). Figure 15 below shows the ‘as approved’ riverside 
parking court containing 23 parking spaces and the ‘as proposed’ court 
containing 37 spaces. It also shows the other landscaped public realm 
additions to the river frontage environment. As can be seen, the parking court 
extends further eastwards than before along the river frontage and x 4 spaces 
on its southern side extend further towards the river bank.

Figure 15

Page 99



Ashford Borough Council - Report of Head of Development Management and Strategic Sites
Planning Committee 14 March 2018
___________________________________________________________________

55. Cycle parking was previously approved within the undercroft lower ground 
floor area. With the change in the footprint of the podium space, cycle storage 
has now moved to the eastern boundary of the site in place of the previously 
approved lane accommodating and leading to car parking. This area is 
adjacent to the petrol filling station. 250 cycle parking spaces are proposed. 
The area would be accessed from either within the undercroft parking area or 
externally via a set of steps to be fitted with a bike rail to ease manoeuvring.

56. Amended plans have been submitted which provide this area

57. As now amended, the changes would provide for 194 spaces in total for the 
development south of Victoria Road (with a small proportion -4 -of that total 
dedicated to the x 3 commercial units). 

Other matters

58. The previously approved coloured balcony surrounds are now proposed to be 
variations of grey with lighter grey being used at lower levels and becoming 
darker at upper levels including matching the darker top storey of the building. 

59. The applicant has confirmed that x 5 apartments (No. 68, 69, 105, 141 & 177) 
have been designed to M4(3) Wheelchair adaptable specification.

60. The application as deposited contained some errors and inconsistencies 
between drawings and also between drawings and supporting documents. 
The amendments made resolve all of those issues. 

Supporting documents: changes arising specifically from 
the proposal

61. The following supporting documents remain unchanged from application 
16/01157/AS (and so please refer to the October 2016 Committee Report on 
that application for a summary of each);-

(a) Air Quality Assessment
(b) Archaeological Assessment
(c) Ecological Appraisal
(d) Desktop Study – Environmental Contamination
(e) Economic Benefits Assessment 
(f) External Lighting Report
(g) Mechanical and Electrical Services Stage 3 Design Brief
(h) Noise Impact Assessment
(i) Odour Impact Assessment
(j) Planning Statement
(k) Planning Viability 

Page 100



Ashford Borough Council - Report of Head of Development Management and Strategic Sites
Planning Committee 14 March 2018
___________________________________________________________________

(l) Statement of Community Views
(m) Ventilation and Air Exhaust Discharge Strategy
(n) Utilities Report

62. The following supporting documents have been amended to reflect the 
proposed changes to the building and site layout.

Landscape Design 

63. The amended scheme would yield c.30% increase in soft landscaping 
connecting the development with the planting on the river bank. 33 additional 
trees would be planted further structuring spaces and providing shade as well 
as greater diversity of species. A greater variety of spaces is now proposed 
catering for a wider age range including rocks/climbing mounds and boules 
area and seating in such areas. 

64. Sustainable Urban Drainage in the form of rain gardens at lower ground floor 
level is proposed. Buffer planting would be added to the edges of the spaces 
to improve privacy levels of the adjacent homes. A grand terrace that could be 
used for outdoor dining, BBQ’s and other social activities (equipped with short 
and long benches) is proposed as spill out space from the superlounge 
stepping down in to the main planted space. Climbing plants would be used 
adjacent to walls along the river corridor frontage to help soften the impact of 
the development on the river corridor.

Arboricultural Assessment

65. On the southern side of Victoria Road the approved development 
necessitates the removal of a number of trees. Condition 74(b) attached to the 
existing planning permission – essentially seeking greater justification to be 
supplied for the suggested removal of one category B tree (T1 Beech) in 
application 16/01157/AS – is noted and is addressed. 

66. In the amended scheme, the amount of new hard surfacing proposed within 
T1’s root protection area (RPA) has increased to c.72% of the RPA and it is 
suggested that regardless of construction mitigation measures (such as above 
soil surfacing) the extent of surfacing within the RPA makes it removal 
unavoidable as Beech as a species has particularly limited tolerance to root 
disturbance. To mitigate for the loss, the proposed landscaping scheme 
includes replacement Beech.

Flood Risk Assessment

67. The site is at no quantifiable risk of flooding from tidal events due to its 
elevation above sea level and geographical remoteness from the coast. The 

Page 101



Ashford Borough Council - Report of Head of Development Management and Strategic Sites
Planning Committee 14 March 2018
___________________________________________________________________

site is remote from the mapped floodplain and classified as having a low risk 
in terms of flooding potential. The site is also low risk in terms of flooding from 
overland surface water which good SUDs design within the site can help 
mitigate. 

68. Safe access and egress can be provided for residents to higher ground in the 
event of a flood event. The dwellings would lie above the modelled flood level 
of the Great Stour and primarily sit within the lowest Flood Risk Zone (Zone 1) 
with only 5% of the site – on the lowest part of the side on its south east side 
– falling within Zone 2. 

69. The amended proposals would not increase flood risk when compared to the 
existing use or the previously approved scheme. All homes are proposed to 
have a minimum finished floor level of 42.00m AOD and thus would sit 0.88m 
above the 1 in 1000 hear storm event level as defined by the Environment 
Agency. The lower ground floor level would now comprise solely car parking 
and bin stores as a result of the deletion of the riverside studios previously 
approved.

70. Cellular storage is proposed on-site. The blocks south of Victoria Road are  
proposed to utilise a ‘green roof’ structure to treat and remove sediments from 
surface water while providing on-site storage in extreme storm events. From 
these roofs, surface water would then be conveyed by down pipes to three 
large cellular storage areas beneath car parking and communal open space 
areas. The latter is termed a ‘rain garden’ in the application site layout 
drawings. Sediments will be trapped and removed as part of these on-site 
surface water drainage management arrangements before onwards 
transmission and so will not enter the watercourse. 

Transport Assessment

71. The Assessment indicates that the number of car parking spaces is increased 
by 4 and proposes 198 spaces (194 serving the x 216 residential units and 4 
serving the Victoria Road frontage block ground floor commercial units). 

72. The northernmost vehicular access into the site from George Street would no 
longer serve parking and would be retained for emergency purposes: it would 
also serve as access to cycle parking. Refuse vehicles would serve the site 
directly two points on George Street. Delivery vehicles would utilise the lower 
ground floor undercroft car park (with restricted height) or park and turn within 
the riverside parking court (which has been ‘tracked’ to demonstrate its 
dimensions would facilitate such usage).

Page 102



Ashford Borough Council - Report of Head of Development Management and Strategic Sites
Planning Committee 14 March 2018
___________________________________________________________________

73. In terms of cycle provision, 250 cycle spaces would be provided which is 
suggested as considerably exceeding the minimum provision of 76 spaces 
using local standards.

74. The traffic impact of the development remains unchanged. The approach in 
the previous TA was based on data relating to privately owned flats and so 
the predicated traffic generation would remain the same. Furthermore, the 
additional commercial floorspace created as part of reconfiguring the Victoria 
Road frontage block is considered negligible in terms of its impact.

75. The scheme addresses comments previously made by Kent Highways & 
Transportation in relation to Victoria Road /George Street balconies 
oversailing the highway: the balconies would now over-sail privately 
maintained landscaping.

Planning History

98/01373/AS Outline Application for mixed use development comprising an 
hotel, associated A3 and leisure uses, offices, housing and car 
parking and new access road.

This application was granted 15/03/99 and was not 
implemented.

04/02195/AS Outline application (with all matters reserved) for mixed use 
development incorporating up to 355 residential units (of which 
up to 261 dwellings will be provided on Block C) comprising a 
mix of 1 and 2 bed units, retail food and drink (A1, A2, A3, A4, 
A5) up to 1731m², business or education - 19285m², with an 
additional 1595m² of business/leisure floor space, and 
hotel/leisure up to 119 bedroom hotel with facilities (6169m²).

This application was granted 16/04/2008 and was not 
implemented.

08/01122/AS Erection of 261 dwellings together with 6 commercial ground 
floor units, related car parking and landscaping

This application was disposed of as undetermined in November 
2011.

16/01157/AS Full planning application for development of a brewery, with 
shop, bar and restaurant (Use Classes B2/A1/A3/A4), three 
commercial units (Use Classes A1/A2/B1) and 216 residential 
units with associated parking, substations, landscaping and 

Page 103



Ashford Borough Council - Report of Head of Development Management and Strategic Sites
Planning Committee 14 March 2018
___________________________________________________________________

access works.

This application was granted in 2017 and the permission has 
been implemented.

16/01157/AMND Non-material minor amendment to planning permission 
16/01157/AS for the removal of electrical substation from the 
application site boundary and retrospective installation of an 
electrical kiosk with associated landscaping.

The application was granted in November 2017.

Consultations

Ward Members: No comments received.  One of the Ward Members, Cllr Farrell is 
a Member of the Planning Committee.

Kent Highways & Transportation: Raise issues in relation to a number of issues;-

(1) On-street parking spaces on George Street cannot be allocated specifically to 
residents. 
(2) Clarification is needed about the intended use of the northern access point 
serving the riverside frontage block from George Street as this would no longer lead 
to any surface level or integral car parking.
(3) Some undercoft and riverside parking court parking spaces would be too difficult 
to use.

A response to the amended plans is awaited.

KCC Flood and Water Management: Agree with the application documentation that 
the proposed changes would not increase the risk of flooding and so have no further 
comments to those expressed in the previous application.

ABC Project Delivery Engineer: Initially raised queries with the applicant. Raises 
no objection following subsequent receipt of additional information, calculations and 
a proposed SUDs strategy (showing the relationship of top storey green roof areas to 
sub-surface cellular storage areas under parking areas and as rain gardens within 
the residents’ only gardens before controlled discharge southwards to the River 
Stour). A planning condition requiring further detailed design of SUDs to be 
submitted for approval is requested.

Environment Agency: No objection

Kent Wildlife Trust: no response

Page 104



Ashford Borough Council - Report of Head of Development Management and Strategic Sites
Planning Committee 14 March 2018
___________________________________________________________________

Environmental Services (Refuse): Raised a number of concerns with the scheme 
as deposited. No objection to the changes made to the amended design. 

South Ashford Community Forum: no response

Victoria Residents Business and Recreation Action Group: no response

Neighbours/residents: No responses received.

Planning Policy

76. The Development Plan comprises the saved policies in the adopted Ashford 
Borough Local Plan 2000, the adopted LDF Core Strategy 2008, the adopted 
Ashford Town Centre Action Area Plan 2010, the Tenterden & Rural Sites 
DPD 2010, the Urban Sites and Infrastructure DPD 2012, the Chilmington 
Green AAP 2013, the Wye Neighbourhood Plan 2015-30 and the Pluckley 
Neighbourhood Plan 2016-30.  The new Ashford Local Plan to 2030 has now 
been submitted for examination and as such its policies should now be 
afforded some weight.

77. The relevant policies from the Development Plan relating to this application 
are as follows:-

Ashford Borough Local Plan 2000

EN13 – Green Corridors

EN14 – Land adjoining the Green Corridors

EN31 – Important habitats

EN32 – Important trees and woodland

SH1 - Tenterden & Ashford town centres (comparison and convenience 
shopping)

TP6 – Cycle parking

LE5 – Equipped public open space

LE6 – Off-site provision of public open space

LE7 – Play facilities

LE8 – Play facilities

Page 105



Ashford Borough Council - Report of Head of Development Management and Strategic Sites
Planning Committee 14 March 2018
___________________________________________________________________

LE9 – Maintenance of equipped public open space

CF6 – Standard of construction of sewerage systems

CF8 – Renewable energy

Local Development Framework Core Strategy 2008

CS1 – Guiding Principles

CS2 – The Borough Wide Strategy

CS3 – Ashford Town Centre

CS7 – The Economy and Employment Development

CS8 – Infrastructure contributions

CS9 – Design Quality

CS10 – Sustainable Design & Construction

CS11 – Biodiversity and Geological Conservation

CS 12 – Affordable Housing

CS15 – Transport

CS16 – Retail 

CS18 – Meeting the Community’s Needs

CS19 – Development and Flood Risk

CS20 – Sustainable Drainage

CS21 – Water Supply and Treatment

Ashford Town Centre Area Action Plan 2010

TC1 – Guiding Principles

TC2 – The Town Centre Core

TC10 – The Southern Expansion Quarter

Page 106



Ashford Borough Council - Report of Head of Development Management and Strategic Sites
Planning Committee 14 March 2018
___________________________________________________________________

‘The Southern Expansion Quarter should accommodate a large amount of 
new development with the primary focus on residential development, the 
proposed Learning Campus and a 500 space multi-storey car park all served 
by the new Victoria Way. Also within this Quarter, limited retail, leisure, 
commercial and community-related uses would be acceptable in principle. 

Redevelopment proposals in this Quarter must enable the delivery of the 
vision for Victoria way as an urban boulevard. All proposals must demonstrate 
that they would produce a well-proportioned street based on the relationship 
between building heights and street width. East of Gasworks Lane, 
redevelopment proposals shall ensure the delivery of a street 24 meters wide 
between building frontages. To the west of Gasworks Lane, redevelopment 
proposals shall ensure that the width of the street shall be based on the scale 
of building heights proposed along either side of the street. 

Developments fronting Victoria Way would be required to deliver a finished 
quality of public realm to the quality set in the Town Centre Design SPD. This 
may involve improvements to the first stage construction standard of this 
space. 

A new public urban space (Victoria Square) would be created at the 
intersection of the Learning Link route and Victoria Way in line with the Public 
Realm Strategy. Developments that would front or surround Victoria Square 
and/or the Learning Link would need to show how they complement their roles 
in terms of their use, scale and design. A design brief for this area would need 
to be agreed by the Council before detailed proposals are considered. 

A replacement footbridge/cycleway shall be delivered to provide an improved 
crossing of the railway lines and link between Victoria Square and Elwick 
Square. 

Development adjacent to the footbridge/cycleway must demonstrate how it 
would respond to the change of levels between Victoria Square and the 
footbridge in a way that assists in the delivery of a high quality public realm 
along any resultant ramped, terraced or stepped solution.

All proposals in this Quarter will need to demonstrate that they will create an 
attractive urban neighbourhood set in high quality public realm, based around 
Victoria Way and pleasant and easy access to the town centre core and 
riverside spaces. In doing this, proposals will need to respect the relationship 
with existing residential properties in this Quarter, the riverside landscape and 
its ecology and the Victoria Road primary school.’

Page 107



Ashford Borough Council - Report of Head of Development Management and Strategic Sites
Planning Committee 14 March 2018
___________________________________________________________________

TC11 – Victoria Way East

TC22 – Office, Retail and Leisure Parking Standards

TC24 – Town Centre Cycle Parking Standards

TC 25 – Commuted Parking

TC26 – Green Corridors in the Town Centre

Urban Sites Development Plan Document 2012

U24 – Infrastructure provision to serve the needs of new development

Ashford Local Plan to 2030

78. The new Ashford Local Plan to 2030 has now been submitted for examination 
and as such its policies should now be afforded some weight. The following 
policies are material in consideration of the application;-

SP1 – Strategic objectives

SP2 – Strategic approach to housing delivery

SP3 – Strategic approach to economic development

SP4 – Delivery of retail and leisure needs

SP5 – Ashford Town Centre

SP6 – Promoting high quality design

HOU1 – Affordable housing

HOU3 – Residential development in Ashford urban area

HOU12 – Residential space standards (internal)

HOU14 – Accessibility standards

HOU15 – Private external open space

EMP1 – New employment sites

EMP6 – Fibre to the Premises
Page 108



Ashford Borough Council - Report of Head of Development Management and Strategic Sites
Planning Committee 14 March 2018
___________________________________________________________________

EMP9 – Sequential Assessment and Impact Test

EMP11 – Tourism

TRA3(a) – Parking standards for residential development

TRA3(b) – Parking standards for non-residential development

TRA4 – Promoting the local bus network

TRA5 – Planning for pedestrians

TRA6 – Provision for cycling

TRA7 – Road network and development

TRA8 – Travel plans, assessments and statements

ENV1 – Biodiversity

ENV2 – Ashford Green Corridor

ENV6 – Flood risk

ENV7 – Water efficiency

ENV8 – Water quality, supply and treatment

ENV9 – Sustainable drainage

ENV11 – Sustainable design and construction (non-residential)

ENV12 – Air quality

ENV15 – Archaeology

COM1 – Meeting the community’s needs

COM2 – Recreation, sport, play and open spaces

IMP1 – Infrastructure provision

IMP2 – Deferred contributions

79. Also material to the determination of this application are the following:-
Page 109



Ashford Borough Council - Report of Head of Development Management and Strategic Sites
Planning Committee 14 March 2018
___________________________________________________________________

Supplementary Planning Guidance/Documents

Landscape Character Assessment SPD 2011

Residential Space and Layout SPD 2011(now external space only)

Residential Parking and Design SPD 2010

Sustainable Drainage SPD 2010

Public Green Spaces and Water Environment SPD 2012

Dark Skies SPD 2014

Informal Design Guidance

Informal Design Guidance Note 1 (2014): Residential layouts & wheeled bins

Government Advice

National Planning Policy Framework (NPFF) 2012

80. Members should note that the determination must be made in accordance 
with the Development Plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise.  
A significant material consideration is the National Planning Policy Framework 
(NPPF).  The NPPF states that less weight should be given to the policies 
above if they are in conflict with the NPPF. 

81. The NPPF is designed to facilitate positive growth – making economic, 
environmental and social progress for this and future generations and 
delivering sustainable development without delay. It sets out a ‘pro-growth’ 
agenda. Paragraph 21 of the NPPF highlights some crucial points in this 
respect, including: 

(i) investment in business should not be over-burdened by the combined 
requirements of planning policy expectations, 

(ii) policies should be flexible enough to accommodate needs not anticipated 
in the plan and allow a rapid response to changes in economic circumstances, 
and

(iii) local plans should identify priority areas for economic regeneration, 
infrastructure provision and environmental enhancement. 

82. Paragraph 23 of the NPPF requires that planning policies should be positive 
and promotes competitive town centre environments. It identifies that town 
centres lie at the heart of their communities and that they should provide 

Page 110



Ashford Borough Council - Report of Head of Development Management and Strategic Sites
Planning Committee 14 March 2018
___________________________________________________________________

customer choice and a diverse retail offer and reflect the individuality of town 
centres.

83. Paragraph 24 of the NPPF sets out the ‘town centre first’ approach which is 
crucial in achieving these aspirations. 

84. Paragraph 47 of the NPPF states that local planning authorities should use 
their evidence base to ensure that any Local Plan produced meets the full, 
objectively assessed needs for market and affordable housing in the housing 
market area in order to significantly boost the supply of housing. 

85. Paragraph 50 of the NPPF states that local planning authorities should seek 
to deliver a wide choice of high quality homes with the specific aim of 
widening opportunities for home ownership. Where local planning authorities 
identify that affordable housing is needed, they should set policies for meeting 
this need on site, unless off-site provision or a financial contribution of broadly 
equivalent value can be robustly justified (for example to improve or make 
more effective use of the existing housing stock) and the agreed approach 
contributes to the objective of creating mixed and balanced communities. 

86. It is clear that Government advice is that affordable housing policies should be 
sufficiently flexible to take account of changing market conditions over time. 
This is of particular importance given the Core Strategy was adopted in 2008, 
and the length of time that the application site has sat dormant. 

87. The key theme of Government policy is one of promoting sustainable 
development with the planning system defined as a key mechanism of 
achieving its delivery. There are three accepted dimensions to sustainable 
development;-

(a) an economic role – contributing to building a strong, responsive and 
competitive economy by ensuring that sufficient land of the right type is 
available in the right places and at the right time to support growth and 
innovation and by identifying and coordinating development requirements, 
including the provision of infrastructure,

(b) a social role – supporting strong, vibrant and healthy communities by 
providing the supply of housing required to meet the needs of present and 
future generations and by creating a high quality built environment, with 
accessible local services that reflect the community’s needs and support its 
health, social and cultural well-being,  and 

(c) an environmental role – contributing to protecting and enhancing the 
natural, built and historic environment; and, as part of this, helping to improve 
biodiversity, use natural resources prudently, minimise waste and pollution, 
and mitigate and adapt to climate change including moving towards a low 
carbon economy.

Page 111



Ashford Borough Council - Report of Head of Development Management and Strategic Sites
Planning Committee 14 March 2018
___________________________________________________________________

88. Government policy attaches great importance to the design of the built 
environment as set out in paragraph 56 of the NPPF. Good design is a key 
component of sustainable development (‘indivisible from good planning’) and 
contributes positively to making places better for people. 

89. Paragraphs 173 to 177 deal with ‘ensuring viability and deliverability’ and are 
pivotal in seeking to ensure that the scale of obligations and policy burdens 
included in local plans does not threaten the viability of potential development 
sites that would contribute towards planned housing delivery targets and  this 
prevent otherwise sustainable development from being carried out. 

90. Of note in regard to development viability is the second half of paragraph 173, 
that states:-

‘To ensure viability, the costs of any requirements likely to be applied to 
development, such requirements for affordable housing, standards, 
infrastructure contributions or other requirements should, when taking account 
of the normal cost of development and mitigation, provide competitive returns 
to a willing land owner and willing developer to enable the development to be 
deliverable.’

91. The NPPF encourages local authorities to approach affordable housing 
delivery pragmatically. In an environment of significant downward pressure on 
the availability of grant funding for the development of new affordable 
housing, local authorities are challenged to deliver value for money in terms of 
Government funding, their own funding and developer subsidy, whilst 
responding innovatively and effectively to local priority needs. 

92. Optimising locally appropriate outcomes is a consistent theme throughout 
policy. The NPPG provides a general overview but focuses on viability in the 
context of both plan making and individual application sites. The site specific 
guidance covers a number of areas including different development types, 
brownfield sites, considering planning obligations in terms of viability, values, 
costs and land value. In particular, it expands upon paragraph 173 of the 
NPPF in regards to ‘competitive returns to developers and landowners’. 

93. Paragraph 24 of the NPPF states;- 

‘A competitive return for the land owner is the price at which a reasonable 
land owner would be willing to sell their land for the development. The price 
will need to provide an incentive for the landowner to sell in comparison with 
the other options available. Those options may include the current use value 
of the land or its value for a realistic alternative use that complies with 
planning policy.’

94. Paragraph 173 of the NPPF (and the NPPG thereafter) introduces financial 
viability into Government planning policy and guidance including the concept 

Page 112



Ashford Borough Council - Report of Head of Development Management and Strategic Sites
Planning Committee 14 March 2018
___________________________________________________________________

of a competitive return as a material consideration in the determination of 
planning applications. 

95. Furthermore, the NPPF sets out the changes affecting the ability of local 
planning authorities to deliver affordable housing, which, for example, 
includes the introduction of the ‘Affordable Rent’ product (whereby rents of up 
to 80% of Market Rent can be charged), the reduction of grant funding for 
affordable housing and the introduction of the Community Infrastructure Levy. 

96. Paragraph 173 of the NPPF highlights that local plans should be deliverable. 
Therefore, the scale of development identified in the Development Plan 
through policies and site allocations should not be subject to a scale of 
obligations and policy burdens that threatens viability and prevents delivery. 
To ensure viability, the costs of any requirements likely to be applied to 
development, such as requirements for affordable housing, standards, 
infrastructure contributions or other requirements should, when taking account 
of the normal cost of development and mitigation, provide competitive returns 
to a willing land owner and willing developer to enable the development to be 
deliverable. In light of this, the Council therefore has to be mindful that that 
application site specific policy and other related policies in the Development 
Plan were developed prior to the financial crash of 2008 and as such the 
deliverability of this site and any obligations need to be considered in light of 
current market conditions. 

97. In terms of design, Central Government advocates that local planning 
authorities should not seek to dictate architectural style particular tastes and 
should not seek to stifle innovation, originality. Decisions should focus on the 
overall scale, density, massing, height, landscape, layout, materials. 
Decisions should also seek to promote or reinforce local distinctiveness 
wherever possible. 

National Planning Policy Guidance (NPPG)

98. Paragraphs 23 – 28 set out those aspects of design that local authorities 
should consider as a minimum. These are: 

• layout – the way in which buildings and spaces relate to each other 
• form – the shape of buildings 
• scale – the size of buildings 
• detailing – the important smaller elements of building and spaces
• materials – what a building is made from

99. Government advice goes on to highlight that the quality of new development 
can be spoilt by poor attention to detail. Careful consideration should be given 
to items such as doors, windows, porches, lighting, flues and ventilation, 
gutters, pipes and other rain water details, ironmongery and decorative 
features. It is vital not only to view these (and other) elements in isolation, but 
also to consider how they come together to form the whole and to examine 
carefully the ‘joins’ between the elements. 

Page 113



Ashford Borough Council - Report of Head of Development Management and Strategic Sites
Planning Committee 14 March 2018
___________________________________________________________________

100. In terms of materials, these should be practical, durable, affordable and 
attractive. It is noted that choosing the right materials can greatly help new 
development to fit harmoniously with its surroundings. The advice remains 
that they do not have to match, but colour, texture, grain and reflectivity can 
all support the creation of harmony in the townscape and reinforce local 
distinctiveness.

DCLG: Accelerating Housing Supply and Increasing Tenant Choice in the 
Private Rented Sector: A Build to Rent Guide for Local Authorities 

101. The guide identifies that Build to Rent housing can help to fix the broken 
housing market by providing another source of good quality housing supply 
which can also accelerate the speed of housing delivery. 

102. It identifies that the Government has introduced a number of initiatives to kick-
start the sector but ultimately, it needs to stand on its own two feet without 
fiscal support. Local Authorities are critical to the establishment of Build to 
Rent housing over the long-term. They have the powers to support the 
sector’s development under the National Planning Policy Framework and on 
its own land and there are an increasing number of Local Authorities who are 
actively supporting its development. 

103. The guide aims to help local authorities to develop their understanding of this 
housing sector. It also seeks to provide a further catalyst for a sustainable 
supply of Build to Rent housing schemes. It is suggested that this will not only 
meet the growing demand from long-term institutional investors but it will meet 
the needs of tenants who are the ultimate beneficiaries of the Government’s 
Build to Rent initiatives.

National described space standards 

104. These effectively supersede the Council’s local space standards as set out in 
the adopted DPD in relation to the internal floorspace of a home. The 
Council’s external standards do, however, remain in place and can be 
afforded the appropriate weight in consideration of the quality of residential 
environment that is being proposed.

Assessment

105. For consistency, I have used the same approach below as per my report on 
16/01157/AS to the October 2016 Planning Committee. On issues related to 
the Brewery I cross –reference to that earlier report and comment as to 
whether there are any material considerations which would alter my 
conclusion. 

106. The main issues for consideration are as follows;-

(a) The principle of the proposals i.e. how the redevelopment of the site would 

Page 114



Ashford Borough Council - Report of Head of Development Management and Strategic Sites
Planning Committee 14 March 2018
___________________________________________________________________

fit  with both existing local and national planning policies (and emerging local 
policy) in terms of the proposed uses

(b) The design quality of the brewery proposal and its contribution to the 
character of Victoria Road

(c) The impact of the brewery on the amenity of the area in terms of noise and 
odour

(d) The design quality of the residential and small commercial unit proposals 
on the southern side of Victoria Road (and their contribution to the character 
of Victoria Road) and the design quality of the Build to Rent block further to 
the south

(e) The riverside environment: (i) the impact of the proposed parking court on 
the Beech tree subject of Tree Preservation Order, (ii) ensuring appropriate 
access to enhanced riverside environment public space and (iii) ensuring 
appropriate public access through the proposed parking court

(f) Whether the residential development proposals south of Victoria Road 
would provide sufficient on-site public open space to meet the needs of 
residents

(g) The acceptability of the proposals south of Victoria Road on the amenities 
enjoyed by existing residents 

(h) Whether the proposals are acceptable in terms of contamination, flooding, 
byelaw margins, approach to managing surface water drainage and ecology

(i) Sustainable design and construction

(j) Car parking serving the brewery and associated commuted parking 
payments

(k) Car parking serving the x 3 commercial units and associated commuted 
parking payments

(l) Car parking quantum serving apartments and the applicant’s proposed 
additional measures 

(m) The acceptability of the traffic impacts arising from the development

(n) Mitigating the impacts of proposed development: the policy starting point 
for contributions secured by s.106 agreement

Page 115



Ashford Borough Council - Report of Head of Development Management and Strategic Sites
Planning Committee 14 March 2018
___________________________________________________________________

(o) The applicant’s viability case

(p) Viability: conclusion & negotiated s.106 contributions

107. I deal with these in each of the sub-sections below.

(a) The principle of the proposals i.e. how the redevelopment of the site would 
fit with both existing local and national planning policies (and emerging local 
policy) in terms of the proposed uses

108. Paragraphs 110- 119 below remain unchanged from my Committee Report 
October 2016 and remain as my assessment of the general principle of the 
development related to the adopted development plan. 

109. Paragraphs 120 onwards assess the same general principle in terms of the 
Ashford Local Plan 2030 (2017 submission version) which is an important 
material consideration. 

110. The approaches in the NPPF in respect of the importance of sustainable 
development in urban areas, the need to support town centres, the need to 
facilitate growth through delivering necessary new homes and the need to 
help deliver vibrant communities with facilities supporting a variety of 
employment and leisure needs are all mirrored in the Council’s planning policy 
documents dealing with the area in which the application falls. 

111. The site falls within the overarching Southern Expansion Quarter identified in 
Policy TC10 of the TCAAP 2010. The primary focus is identified as being 
residential with limited retail, leisure, commercial being identified as being 
acceptable in principle. The importance of all development proposals enabling 
the delivery of the vision for Victoria Road as an urban boulevard (termed 
‘Victoria Way’) is stated. All proposals are required to demonstrate that they 
will produce a well-proportioned street relating to building heights and street 
width. East of Gasworks Lane, a street width of 24m is identified. 
Development fronting Victoria Way will be required to deliver a high quality 
finished public realm. All proposals in this Quarter are identified as needing to 
demonstrate that they will create an attractive urban neighbourhood set in 
high quality public realm based around Victoria Way and pleasant easy 
access to the town centre core and riverside open spaces, respecting 
relationships with existing residences and the riverside landscape.

112. I consider that the proposal follows this overarching steer on an acceptable 
redevelopment in this Quarter. In my opinion the proposal;-

- would be primarily residential
- would contain a small amount of retail uses fronting the street on both sides
- would provide commercial uses (the brewery and A2/B1a office uses)
- would deliver linear tree planting, a cycleway and quality public realm
- would complete Victoria Way on its southern side in the manner envisaged

Page 116



Ashford Borough Council - Report of Head of Development Management and Strategic Sites
Planning Committee 14 March 2018
___________________________________________________________________

- would provide easy access for scheme residents to the town centre core
- would enable townsfolk to reach the town centre via George Street
- would connect townsfolk to proposed Victoria Way uses via George Street
- would create a high quality and attractive urban neighbourhood
- would deliver communal residents’ only internal and external facilities
- would physically connect residents with the riverside corridor
- would visually connect residents with the riverside corridor
- would not have an adverse impact on the amenities of existing residents
- would represent an acceptable scale of redevelopment intensity given the 
physical separation with the nearest existing homes in Victoria Crescent and 
Victoria Way and taking into account the development intensity and vertical 
scale of new development granted planning permission by the Council and 
under now construction at the former Travis Perkins premises on Victoria 
Crescent. 

113. Where appropriate, I deal with aspects of the above in further detail in topic 
based sub-sections further below in this Assessment.

114. Policy TC11 of the TCAAP 2010 focuses on a specific element of the overall 
Quarter, termed ‘Victoria Way East’. The application site falls directly within 
this area. The Policy identifies that redevelopment here should deliver a mix 
of uses including residential and office uses complemented by active street 
frontages at ground floor level fronting Victoria Way comprising small scale 
retail and other consumer services, eating and drinking places. The part of the 
site previously granted planning permission for a Learning Campus is 
identified as being protected for that or similar education use unless other 
suitable alternative provisions has been made. The scale of development 
along this section of Victoria Way is identified as being between 4-6 storeys 
fronting that street with a step down towards the riverside. 

115. The Policy requires built form and layout to enclose the street scene with 
occasional breaks in the building line to enable glimpsed views northwards to 
the town centre core and southwards to the river corridor. Any new building 
adjacent to the railway line will need to present a positive frontage to the 
railway and views to the north. Development is required to avoid any 
overbearing impacts/adverse impacts on existing residences. Development 
adjacent to the river corridor is required to provide a built frontage whilst 
allowing adequate space to improve the riverside environment in terms of 
appearance and biodiversity.

116. I consider that the proposal follows this more detailed policy steer on the 
eastern end of the Quarter. In my judgement the proposal;-

- would deliver a mixture of uses appropriate to the envisaged Quarter
- would include small scale retail/office uses as ground floor active frontage
- would provide high quality new eating and drinking places
- would not prejudice education provision (now being constructed elsewhere) 
- would deliver an appropriate 5-storey frontage to Victoria Way (south side)

Page 117



Ashford Borough Council - Report of Head of Development Management and Strategic Sites
Planning Committee 14 March 2018
___________________________________________________________________

- would create reasonable enclosure to Victoria Way on its north side
- would provide for an appropriate and varied scale of riverside development 
- would have a layout maintaining glimpsed views to the town centre core
- would have an acceptable design relationship with the railway and beyond 
- would give glimpsed views south along George Street to the riverside
- would directly visually connect many new homes with the river corridor 
- would have an acceptable amenity relationship with nearby homes
- would create visually attractive additional riverside public open space 
- would, through soft landscaping and other means, enhance biodiversity 

117. Where appropriate, I deal with aspects of the above in further detail in topic 
based sub-sections further below in this Assessment.

118. Policies TC10 and TC11 seek to achieve attractive, well-designed and 
appropriate development helping support the town centre environment. These 
general planning objectives are also identified as ‘guiding principles’ in Policy 
TC1 of the TCAAP 2010. The approach in all three policies flows directly from 
the Borough-wide strategic ‘umbrella’ policies contained within the Core 
Strategy 2008 such as Policy CS1 (Guiding Principles), CS2 (Borough-wide 
Strategy), CS3 (Ashford Town Centre), CS7 (Economy and Employment 
development) CS9 (Design Quality). It therefore follows that proposals in 
accordance with the provisions of the TCAAP policies are also in accordance 
with the overarching general planning policy provisions of the Core Strategy.

119. In conclusion, I consider that the uses that are proposed and the way in which 
they are proposed to be delivered would be in accordance with Policies CS1, 
CS2, CS3, CS7 and CS9 of the Core Strategy 2008 and Policies TC1, TC10 
and TC11 of the TCAAP 2010

120. Turning to the Ashford Local Plan 2030 (submission version 2017), proposed 
policies SP1, SP2, SP3, SP4, SP5 and SP6 are all relevant and form a 
material consideration. Together, they seek to;-

- promote high quality design (including use of review by a Design Panel)
- focus development in acceptable locations
- make best use of suitable brownfield opportunities
- create well designed attractive places
- promote access to a wide choice of sustainable transport modes
- meet changing housing needs including affordable homes
- focus the majority of new homes in around and Ashford
- provide a range of employment opportunities
- maximise town centre employment opportunities
- meet the need for retail/leisure development within the town centre
- provide scope for range of retail, office, leisure, hotel and residential uses
- provide scope for flexible approach to contributions where these would 
represent a barrier to delivery of development that would accord with the 
Plan’s vision

Page 118



Ashford Borough Council - Report of Head of Development Management and Strategic Sites
Planning Committee 14 March 2018
___________________________________________________________________

121. Accordingly, my conclusion is that the general principle of the proposed uses 
and the way in which they are proposed to be delivered would also be in 
accordance with submission version policies SP1, SP2, SP3, SP4, SP5 and 
SP6.

122. There have been no site context changes since the principle of development 
was previously considered acceptable by the Council that have any bearing 
on the acceptability of the general principle of the development and the way it 
would be delivered. 

(b) The design quality of the brewery proposal and its contribution to the 
character of Victoria Road

123. No changes are proposed to the brewery as part of the current application. 
This element of planning permission 16/01157/AS has been implemented.

124. There is no change in my assessment of this part of the development. Please 
refer to the October 2016 Committee Report on application 16/01157/AS for a 
full analysis of the design merits of the brewery proposal and its contribution 
to the character of Victoria Road. In summary, I concluded at the time that the 
design quality of the brewery was high quality and responded well to the 
envisaged character of Victoria Road in the TCAAP. That conclusion remains 
unaltered and in my opinion the proposal would accord with Policy SP6 of the 
submission version of the Ashford Local Plan which carries forward the 
Council’s commitment to high quality design.

125. Since my report in October 2016 there have been no site context changes 
that would have any bearing on my assessment of the acceptability of the 
design of the brewery and its contribution to the character of Victoria Road. 

(c) The impact of the brewery on the amenity of the area in terms of noise and 
odour

126. No changes are proposed to the brewery as part of the current application. 
This element of planning permission 16/01157/AS has been implemented.

127. There is no change in my assessment of this part of the development. Please 
refer to the October 2016 Committee Report on application 16/01157/AS for a 
full analysis of the noise and odour amenity impacts of the proposed brewery. 
In summary, I concluded at the time that the opening hours of the brewery for 
the retailing of food and drink could be controlled by planning conditions and 
in any event would be assessed through licensing. I also concluded that the 
noise associated with brewing process would not be likely to have an adverse 
amenity impact but could be controlled through planning conditions. In terms 
of potential night time servicing, I similarly concluded that a northern and 

Page 119



Ashford Borough Council - Report of Head of Development Management and Strategic Sites
Planning Committee 14 March 2018
___________________________________________________________________

western acoustic fence would be an acceptable approach should this be 
required and could be controlled through planning conditions. Lastly, through 
a combination of discussion with the applicant and planning controls I 
concluded that in terms of the potential for odour the proposal was acceptable 
and that lighting could be the subject of a planning condition.

128. There have been no site context changes since October 2016 that have any 
bearing on this assessment. Ensuring new development does not adversely 
impact on amenity is a general theme taken forward in Policies SP1 & SP6 of 
the submission version of the Ashford Local Plan and so my conclusion on the 
amenity impacts of the brewery remains unaltered. . 

(d) The design quality of the residential and small commercial unit proposals 
on the southern side of Victoria Road (and their contribution to the character 
of Victoria Road) and the design quality of the Build to Rent block further to 
the south

129. The design approach to the Victoria Road frontage block remains as 
envisaged in Policy TC11 of the TCAAP and substantially in the same format 
as per the previous approval i.e. a 5 –storey building with the ground floor 
having small commercial units with entrances alongside an entrance into the 
rising circulation core to apartments at upper floor levels. 

130. The revisions to the ground floor hinterland of the building overcome the 
concerns from KHT in terms of over-sailing of the public highway by upper 
floor balconies but retain the completion of the southern edge of the street as 
before with shared footway/cycleway, linear tree planting and paved forecourt 
up to the building’s edge. 

131. Although dual aspect apartments – as previously approved – are preferable to 
single aspect apartments I have no objection to the changes proposed that 
will enable the scheme to proceed. Furthermore, each apartment would still 
have either an expressed balcony or a recessed balcony providing a fresh air 
private external amenity space.  The consequential changes to the elevations 
are acceptable.

132. Turning to the larger riverside frontage block, the design approach remains 
substantially the same as previously approved. The wings of the building 
around a central residents’ only amenity space is supported as is the use of 
differing brickwork to give welcome contrast and visual richness. The loss of 
the lower ground floor level riverside frontage studios is not objectionable. It 
resolves the issue of those homes being the most vulnerable to a flooding 
event and the hard and soft landscaping quality of the replacement public 
space is an acceptable place-making substitute. The river frontage will be 

Page 120



Ashford Borough Council - Report of Head of Development Management and Strategic Sites
Planning Committee 14 March 2018
___________________________________________________________________

reasonably overlooked from adjacent ground floor level (and above) 
apartments. 

133. The approved scheme provides for a partial 7th floor. In my October 2016 
report my assessment of that was that although it resulted in a storey-height 
slightly outside the parameters envisaged in Policy TC11 of the TCAAP 
(where 4-6 storeys is mentioned) the approach was an acceptable departure 
from the Policy, especially as the building also contained a substantial internal 
ground floor level residents’ communal amenity area.  The scheme as now 
proposed retains a very similar internal amenity space at ground floor level 
(which is welcome) and the changes to a full 7th floor flow from the loss of the 
riverside studios. The 7th floor set back from the floor below and use of a 
darker cladding material remains as before and is supported as a way of 
demarcating the top of the building. The roof to this floor would all be a green 
roof and is supported as part of the SUDs strategy for the site and given its 
biodiversity benefits. I do not consider that the full 7th storey would have any 
adverse impacts on the skyline or amenities of adjoining occupiers.

134. The internal residents’ only grand terrace and lower gardens would offer 
strong visual connection with the river corridor softened by planting including 
climbing varieties. The steps between the terrace and podium assist with 
Policy TC11 aspiration for the development to ‘step down’ to the river corridor. 
The riverside hard and soft landscaped space south of the lower gardens 
would make a welcome contribution to the visual enhancement of the river 
corridor as is required by Policies TC11 and TC26 of the TCAAP.

135. The architectural style and palette of materials remains largely as before and 
is acceptable. I have no objection to the change of balcony surrounds from 
coloured to various shades of grey. 

136. The 7th floor solution of sliding double doors is, in my opinion, an acceptable 
compromise in the circumstances enabling a reasonable depth amalgam of 
inside and external space together with a longer perimeter private terrace. I 
am mindful that the combination of communal residents’ only external gardens 
and terrace together with private balconies and terraces would provide an 
acceptable level of amenity space in the context of a high-density intensive 
redevelopment of the site. I am also mindful that the applicant is not proposing 
to alter the s.106 agreement obligation to make a contribution towards the 
improvement of Victoria Park within a short walk of the site: this contribution 
helps mitigate the slight shortfall of on-site public open space while allowing 
beneficial redevelopment in accordance with planning policy to take place.

137. The revisions to refuse storage are acceptable: should Council collection be 
desired then there would no longer be any need for a refuse freighter to enter 
the site pursuant to an indemnity agreement.

Page 121



Ashford Borough Council - Report of Head of Development Management and Strategic Sites
Planning Committee 14 March 2018
___________________________________________________________________

138. In my consideration of 16/01157/AS, I concluded that certain measures would 
be necessary to make sure that the homes that are likely to be impacted by 
traffic noise and the proposed superstore and brewery (primarily the mixed-
use Victoria Road frontage block) would have acoustic design measures 
employed to make sure the residents would be provided with an acceptable 
standard of amenity. As before, I proposed to deal with this matter by planning 
condition.

139. In conclusion, I consider that the design quality of the proposal is acceptable 
and accords with development plan policies identifying the importance of high 
quality design and place making and, in particular, Policy EN14 of the Ashford 
Borough Local Plan 2000, Policies CS1 and CS9 of the Core Strategy 2008, 
Policies TC1, TC10, TC11 and TC 26 of the TCAAP 2010. The scale of 
development – as a result of the inclusion of a full 7th-storey – remains slightly 
beyond that which Policy TC11 envisaged but I consider there are sound 
planning and design reasons for that departure which I am therefore happy to 
support the proposal. Turning to the Ashford Local Plan 2030 (submission 
version 2017), there are no proposed policies that introduce any matters that 
would conflict with that previous assessment and there are no other material 
considerations such as site context changes that would lead me to any other 
conclusion.

(e) The riverside environment: (i) the impact of the proposed parking court on 
the Beech tree subject of Tree Preservation Order, (ii) ensuring appropriate 
access to enhanced riverside environment public space and (iii) ensuring 
appropriate public access through the proposed parking court

140. The applicant’s provision of a riverside parking court at the south-western 
corner of the site is carried forward from the previous application. 

141. To recap, the court was a direct response to Members’ concerns about car 
parking and the emerging aspiration to provide 1 parking space per flat as a 
minimum standard which is now the proposal in Policy TRA3(a) of the 2017 
submission version Ashford Local Plan 2030. At pre-application stage the 
applicant’s proposals involved 0.7 spaces per flat and with the riverside 
parking court the 16/01157/AS scheme proposed 0.91 spaces per flat. 

142. In my October 2016 Committee report I indicated that although my preference 
was not to have the parking court and thus enable a continuation of the 
riverside landscaping scheme (through which a route could be provided 
linking the riverside movement corridor to the southern end of George Street), 
in the light of Members’ concerns and the proposed approach in the draft 
Ashford Local Plan policy the parking court was not objectionable viewed in 
the wider context of the overall planning benefits of the development. I 
identified that with landscaping the impacts of the proposed court could be 

Page 122



Ashford Borough Council - Report of Head of Development Management and Strategic Sites
Planning Committee 14 March 2018
___________________________________________________________________

softened and thus reduced visually. However, the applicant’s proposal 
included the removal of a large Beech Tree subject of Tree Preservation 
Order close to the boundary with the former Travis Perkins site to the west 
(whereon an apartment development of 28 homes has subsequently been 
granted planning permission 16/00986/AS which has now been implemented). 
My conclusion at the time was that insufficiently robust evidence as to the 
necessity to remove the Beech tree had been presented and thus a planning 
condition should provide for the retention of the tree unless a more convincing 
case for removal was forthcoming. Members’ accepted that proposition and 
agreed that a non-vehicular movement route through the court would need to 
be secured through a s.106 agreement (which is the case).

143. The riverside parking court remains part of the amended application. As a 
result of the changes to the undercoft car parking arrangements within the 
footprint of the apartment building, it has increased in size and extends further 
southwards towards the river bank and eastwards along the river frontage of 
the scheme. The remaining extent of river corridor frontage is proposed to be 
high quality soft and hand landscaped space accommodating pedestrian 
movement routes together with the provision of seating. 

144. The applicant’s supporting documents set out a more fulsome case for the 
removal of the Beech Tree: primarily, the amount of new hard surfacing 
proposed within the root protection area (RPA) has increased to c.72% and 
regardless of construction mitigation measures (such as above soil surfacing) 
the extent of hard surfacing within that RPA makes it removal unavoidable as 
Beech as a species has particularly limited tolerance to root disturbance. 
Reluctantly, I accept that proposition on the basis that (i) the riverside car park 
is again considered appropriate and (ii) the riverside parking court is provided 
to meet parking needs. In respect of the latter, I set out a proposed evidenced 
based implementation option in section (l) of this report.

145. The ‘as deposited’ riverside parking court propose a design whereby non-
vehicle movement was around the edge of the court and I indicated to the 
applicant my view that this was unrealistic poor layout design that did not take 
into account desire line movement. Furthermore, a number of the parking 
spaces shown were identified by KHT as being too difficult to use and thus 
unacceptable. An amended plan has now been submitted seeking to rectify 
these issues. At the time of drafting this report comments from KHT are still 
awaited but my initial assessment is that the reconfigured parking spaces 
would appear to be usable. The amended plan also provides for improved 
desire line based routes through the court to the riverside movement corridor 
and so it now has an acceptable layout in that regard. 

Page 123



Ashford Borough Council - Report of Head of Development Management and Strategic Sites
Planning Committee 14 March 2018
___________________________________________________________________

146. A relatively small number of spaces in the parking court are closer to the 
riverbank than before but the Environment Agency has not made any adverse 
comment about the proximity of parking spaces to the riverbank. 

147. Policies CS1 and CS9 of the Core Strategy 2008 and Policies TC1. TC10 and 
TC11 of the TCAAP 2010 all seek to ensure that new development respects 
and enhances the riverside corridor landscape. Policy U21 of the Urban Sites 
and Infrastructure DPD requires development adjacent to the river corridor – 
as part of the town’s Green Corridor network – to make a positive contribution 
to the river setting, role, biodiversity, accessibility and amenity value. Policies 
SP1, SP5, SP6 and ENV2 of the 2017 submission version of the Ashford 
Local Plan inter alia seek the same objectives. Clearly, if the riverside parking 
court was not taken forward then the area could be enhanced by new high 
quality hard and soft landscaped river frontage public realm and that 
treatment of the space would sit well with adopted and draft local planning 
policy.

148. My conclusion is that (i) on the basis that the riverside parking court is 
implemented then the removal of the Beech tree is justified as it cannot 
coexist with the changes that are proposed within its RPA and (ii) that the 
amended scheme provides appropriate access to the riverside environment 
public space and (iii) the route through the court linking to George Street 
would still be provided in accordance with the provisions of the s.106 
agreement. 

(f) Whether the residential development proposals south of Victoria Road 
would provide sufficient on-site public open space to meet the needs of 
residents

149. The Council’s approach to this issue in the 2016 application is set out in detail 
in my report to the October 2016 Planning Committee. To recap, the Open 
Spaces Team request for contributions are based on the Council’s adopted 
Public Green Spaces and Water Environment SPD 2012. 

150. Clearly, an on-site external space would still be provided for the exclusive use 
by scheme residents in the form of the proposed grand terrace and lower level 
gardens as well as the publically accessible linear space running alongside 
the river corridor frontage. 

151. Notwithstanding that, the applicant’s ability to fund the full range of 
contributions sought by the Council’s Open Spaces Team was accepted as a 
different matter related to matters of development viability. The approach 
accepted by the Committee was that together with a gestural contribution 
towards improvements to Victoria Park a short walk from the site, the proposal 

Page 124



Ashford Borough Council - Report of Head of Development Management and Strategic Sites
Planning Committee 14 March 2018
___________________________________________________________________

was acceptable. The s.106 agreement provides for this off-site contribution 
and the applicant does not seek to reopen this matter or the obligation. 

152. My conclusion is that the open space contributions remain acceptable as 
before in meeting the needs of scheme residents. 

(g) The acceptability of the proposals south of Victoria Road on the amenities 
enjoyed by existing residents

153. There are no existing homes adjacent to the site. The nearest existing homes 
to the west of this part of the application site, involving the converted upper 
floors of the Silcocks’ building on the northern side of Victoria Crescent,  
would be approximately 60m distant from Wing A of the ‘Build to Rent’ block. 
The nearest existing homes to the west of the site on the southern side of 
Victoria Crescent would be approximately 80m distant from the same Wing 
with the vacant Travis Perkins industrial building occupying land in between. I 
do not therefore consider that there would be any adverse direct impact on 
the level of amenity enjoyed by residents of those existing homes as a result 
of the application proposals.

154. Since my October 2016 Planning Committee Report, planning permission has 
been granted for two separate new apartment blocks at the eastern end of 
Victoria Crescent (ref 16/00981/AS and 16/00986/AS) which are a maximum 
5-storeys in height. Both schemes are under construction. In the context of 
the envisaged redevelopment of land within this TCAAP Quarter, I consider 
that this would be an acceptable relationship between apartments in terms of 
physical separation.

155. Although concerns were raised in the previous application by residents and 
VBRAG in respect of the local highway network and on-street parking, none 
have been raised in the current application. 

156. The applicant’s adjusted Transport Assessment is still considered robust and 
takes into account the proposed local highway network improvements nearing 
completion at the nearby signalised junctions either side of the railway lines. 
The previously imposed planning condition requiring these necessary capacity 
improvements taking place before an inappropriate quantum of traffic 
producing development at the site could be occupied is now rendered 
superfluous and so is not taken forward in the proposed planning conditions.

157. In respect of residents’ parking scheme on-street spaces, the occupiers of the 
rented apartments would remain ineligible for Council permits and so there 
should be no adverse implications arising from on the availability of the 
resource for existing residents. The level of on-site parking provision for the 
development exceeds adopted Council planning policy and as the site is 
located in an urban town centre environment close to public transport it is 
likely that some residents would choose not to have a car. 

Page 125



Ashford Borough Council - Report of Head of Development Management and Strategic Sites
Planning Committee 14 March 2018
___________________________________________________________________

158. As before, I appreciate that the form of development is very different from the 
generally 2-storey traditional style of homes located on Victoria Crescent and 
on the frontage to Victoria Road near the Primary School and that some 
residents and VBRAG will be uncomfortable with that. However, the scale and 
intensity of development at the eastern end of Victoria Road is generally as 
envisaged as being appropriate for the area in Council local planning policies 
for a significant period of time and before the adoption of the TCAAP which 
continues the Policy base for that vision. Furthermore, the approach taken in 
the amended scheme continues to align with the Cabinet Paper in 2015 
wherein the benefits of stimulating the number of people living in (and helping 
support town centre facilities in the process) was highlighted. This approach is 
taken forward in the policies contained within the 2017 submission version of 
the Ashford Local Plan.

159. For the reasons that I have set out above, I consider that the design approach 
to the site is an acceptable one and that the amenities of existing residents 
and new residents of apartment blocks on Victoria Crescent would not be 
adversely affected. As such, I conclude that the proposal would accord with 
the provisions of Policies CS1, CS9 and CS15 of the Core Strategy 2008, 
Policies TC1 and TC11 of the TCAAP 2010 and policies SP1 and SP6 of the 
2017 submission version of the Ashford Local Plan.    

160. The planning conditions that are proposed will help ensure that appropriate 
arrangements are agreed and put in place to deal with construction phase 
activity, appropriate remediation and subsequent operation of the commercial 
uses in a manner that would create a harmonious relationship between new 
development and homes beyond the application site.

(h) Whether the proposals are acceptable in terms of contamination, flooding, 
byelaw margins, approach to managing surface water drainage and ecology

161. In respect of any necessary site remediation through historic pollution, the 
applicant’s proposals remain acceptable and, as before, the matter can be 
controlled by planning conditions. 

162. In respect of flooding, the Environment Agency raises no objection. The 
deletion of the riverside studios overcomes issues relating to access and 
egress in an extreme event. 

163. No objection is raised by the Environment Agency in relation to the matter of 
byelaw margin and so, at face value, the amended proposals would have no 
effect on the Agency’s ability to maintain this stretch of the River Stour. 

164. In the previous application the Agency welcomed measures that would help 
improve habitat and setting for the river. The applicant’s proposed new 
planting as part of the riverside corridor would all help achieve the objectives 
of adopted development plan policies dealing with this environment and 

Page 126



Ashford Borough Council - Report of Head of Development Management and Strategic Sites
Planning Committee 14 March 2018
___________________________________________________________________

enhancing biodiversity. Clearly, more could be done if the riverside parking 
court did not proceed or was reduced in size. I deal further with options that 
Members might wish to consider further below in section (l) below.

165. The application includes a number of approaches that would be appropriate 
as part of a sustainable urban drainage strategy for the site, such as use of 
green roofs to both the residential and mixed-use buildings and rain gardens 
as part of cellular storage before proposed onwards (controlled) discharge to 
the river. KCC as lead local flooding authority raise not objection to the 
proposal. Comments from the Project Officer Delivery Engineer are awaited 
but I am not expecting any objection. A planning condition will be required to 
enable further design detail of the scheme to be submitted for approval.

166. In respect of ecology, following the October 2016 Committee the applicant 
submitted sufficient information to the Council to enable a conclusion to be 
reached that the proposals were acceptable. 

167. Accordingly, my previous conclusion that the proposal would not conflict with 
Ashford Borough Local Plan Policies EN13 (Green Corridors) and EN14 
(Land adjoining the Green Corridors), Policy CS11 (Biodiversity and 
Geological Conservation), Policy TC26 (Green Corridors in the Town Centre 
Corridors in the Town Centre) and emerging Ashford Local Plan Policies 
ENV1 (Biodiversity) and ENV2 (Ashford Green Corridor) equally applies to the 
current application. Furthermore, Policies SP1, SP5, SP6 and ENV2 of the 
2017 submission version of the Ashford Local Plan inter alia seek the same 
objectives. There are no matters that would conflict with my previous 
assessment and there are no other material considerations such as site 
context changes that would lead me to any other conclusion.

(i) Sustainable design and construction

168. As of the 18th July 2016, Policy CS10 of the adopted Core Strategy 2008 
(Sustainable Design and Construction) and guidance contained in the 
Council’s associated Sustainable Design & Construction SPD 2012 is no 
longer being applied by the Council in respect of applications for residential 
development. This approach follows the Housing and Planning Act receiving 
royal assent in May 2016 and the move to delivery energy efficient homes 
through the Building Regulations rather than through the planning process. 
The Council’s policies are clearly out of date with current legislation and this is 
a significant material consideration which would outweigh the primacy of the 
development plan in decision making. The position is reflected in the Council’s 
2017 submission version of the Ashford Local Plan which does not propose 
any planning policies that seek additional energy efficiency or carbon 
reduction standards over and above the requirements of the Building 
Regulations.

169. With regard to water efficiency, the 2017 submission version of the Ashford 
Local Plan requires residential development to comply with Policy ENV7 

Page 127



Ashford Borough Council - Report of Head of Development Management and Strategic Sites
Planning Committee 14 March 2018
___________________________________________________________________

‘Water Efficiency’ of the which sets out that all new residential development 
must achieve, as a minimum, the optional requirement set through Building 
Regulations for water efficiency that requires an estimated water use of no 
more than 110 litres per person per day. As before, this can be the subject of 
a planning condition.

170. In respect of applications for all major non-residential development, the 
approach set out in Policy CS10 and the associated SPD continues to apply. 
The commercial units and brewery will be required to achieve a minimum 
‘very good’ BREEAM (or equivalent quality assured scheme) standard. This 
approach is taken forward in Policy ENV11 of the 2017 submission version 
Ashford Local Plan. Achieving this standard can form a planning condition. 

171. In respect of the brewery, the unusual nature of the building containing a large 
area of unheated brewing space creates a number of practical challenges and 
so the standard wording has been altered through discussion with the 
applicant’s design team to enable the overall ‘very good’ standard to be 
achieved and properly verified by an appropriate style of report following 
completion. The s.106 agreement provides for carbon off-setting payment as 
per part (C) with this being capped due to its relationship to scheme viability 
issues.

(j) Car parking serving the brewery and associated commuted parking 
payments

172. No changes are proposed to the brewery car parking as part of the current 
application. The brewery element of planning permission 16/01157/AS has 
been commenced on-site. 

173. There is no change in my assessment of the impact of the brewery in terms of 
parking approached from a policy perspective. Please refer to the October 
2016 Committee Report on application 16/01157/AS for a full analysis in this 
respect followed by the viability assessment further below (wherein the ability 
to meet policy compliant s.106 contributions is considered). 

174. Since my report in October 2016 there have been no site context changes 
that would have any bearing on my assessment of the car parking approach 
to the brewery. Policy TRA3(b) of the 2017 submission version of the Ashford 
Local Plan retains the approach considered as part of that previous 
assessment.

Page 128



Ashford Borough Council - Report of Head of Development Management and Strategic Sites
Planning Committee 14 March 2018
___________________________________________________________________

(k) Car parking serving the x 3 commercial units and associated commuted 
parking payments

175. No changes are proposed to the car parking proposal relating to the x 3 
commercial units i.e x 4 spaces would be provided in the car parking 
hinterland of that building. 

176. There is no change in my assessment of the impact of the units in terms of 
parking approached from a policy perspective. Please refer to the October 
2016 Committee Report on application 16/01157/AS for a full analysis in this 
respect followed by the viability assessment further below (wherein the ability 
to meet policy compliant s.106 contributions is considered). 

177. Since my report in October 2016 there have been no site context changes 
that would have any bearing on my assessment of the car parking approach 
to the units concerned. Policy TRA3(b) of the 2017 submission version of the 
Ashford Local Plan retains the approach considered as part of that previous 
assessment.

(l) Car parking quantum serving apartments and the applicant’s proposed 
additional measures to support the movement needs of residents

178. The previously approved application provided for residents’ car parking in a 
similar manner to that proposed in the amended scheme i.e. unallocated 
parking spaces on the George Street frontage, undercoft spaces and riverside 
parking court spaces. Members’ will recall that the scheme moved from 0.7 
spaces per apartment at pre-application stage to 0.91 spaces by the time the 
scheme was considered and then applicant had responded to feedback from 
Members on the emerging policy position in the draft Ashford Local Plan. 

179. In total 190 spaces are now proposed to serve the apartments (x 4 further 
spaces being proposed to serve the Victoria Road frontage commercial units) 
which equates to 0.87 per apartment. The adjustment to the extent of the 
undercoft has resulted in the riverside parking court being increased in size 
from 23 spaces as approved to 34 spaces as proposed.

180. An acceptable cycle parking facility would remain as part of the ground floor 
layout to the Victoria Road frontage block. The riverside block proposes 250 
cycle spaces moved from within the undercoft (as a result of the changes 
thereto) to a secure controlled access area on the eastern boundary of the 
site with the adjacent petrol filling station. Access would be possible from the 
north (via a set of steps fitted with a carrying rail thereby limiting the need to 
lift a bike) and from the south from within the undercroft parking area. Either of 
these access points would be within an easy walk of circulation cores and the 
main ground floor level entrance to the superlounge. In addition to secure 

Page 129



Ashford Borough Council - Report of Head of Development Management and Strategic Sites
Planning Committee 14 March 2018
___________________________________________________________________

access the applicant’s proposal includes CCTV security of this storage area. 
As a result of my negotiations, the scheme has been further amended to 
provide covered storage which, by protecting bikes from inclement weather, 
can only assist ownership and usage for short everyday journeys and will 
prevent the need for bikes to be stored within apartments. 

181. As per the previous scheme, I would wish the applicant to explore the viability 
of establishing a residents’ car club to assist those with periodic need for a car 
to travel for non-everyday journeys. I consider that this has the potential to be 
an attractive addition to the lifestyle ethos informing other aspects of the 
design such as communal superlounge facilities as well as reduce demand for 
parking. The approach forms part of ‘Toolkit 4: Complementary Approaches’ 
set out in the Council’s adopted Residential Parking and Design Guidance 
SPD 2010. I propose to deal with this by planning condition.

182. A matter not addressed in the 2016 scheme was electric vehicle parking 
points. There is scope for provision within the undercroft to the riverside block 
as part of encouraging and reacting to the shift to electric vehicles and 
hybrids. I am mindful that Policy ENV12 of the 2017 submission version 
Ashford Local Plan requires a shift to low emission transport as part of 
minimising impacts on air quality. The number of bays to be provided with 
adjacent charging points can be agreed by planning condition.

183. Accordingly, my conclusion remains as before that the applicant’s car and 
cycle parking proposal is acceptable and would accord with Policies TP6 of 
the Ashford Borough Local, Policy TP15 of the Core Strategy 2008, Policy 
TC24 of the Town Centre Area Action Plan 2010 and would be acceptably 
close to the aspired to standard set out in Policy TRA3(a) of the 2017 
submission version Ashford Local Plan. 

184. During the course of dealing with the application the issue of potential over-
provision of car parking at the site has been raised. The site is located very 
close to Ashford International railway station and bus stops. It falls within 
Ashford Town Centre as defined by the Council in Policy SP5 of the 2017 
submission version of the Ashford Local Plan and thus is close to town centre 
amenities and the retailing of food. There is some concern that the level of 
take up of the 190 parking spaces worked into the scheme might not be as 
great as envisaged given the location and differing attitudes to car ownership 
among younger adults. Policy TRA3(a) does identify that in the following 
‘exceptional cases’ the proposed standard may be departed from if the 
following apply;-

‘(b) in order to take account of specific local circumstances that might 
require…lower level of parking provision, including as a result of the site’s 
accessibility to public transport, shops and services…’ and,

Page 130



Ashford Borough Council - Report of Head of Development Management and Strategic Sites
Planning Committee 14 March 2018
___________________________________________________________________

‘(c) where an operator requires…less parking spaces to cater for their specific 
operational needs and such requirements can be clearly evidenced…’

185. The riverside parking court has increased in size compared with the approved 
scheme and, as identified in section (e) above, if it were reduced in size or 
deleted then the space could be developed as a continuation of the proposed 
riverside corridor landscape space with attendant benefits to the green 
corridor (the improvement of which is also a component of the existing and 
emerging development plan). A route through the space connecting the 
riverside path to George Street could be provided as part that approach. 

186. A phased approach to car parking provision could be taken for the riverside 
block with the scheme divided into two i.e. the large undercroft and the 
smaller riverside parking court. The former could be developed as the initial 
offer - as the undercoft falls within the footprint of the building it could not 
realistically be provided otherwise than from the outset - with the riverside 
parking court only not being implemented as per the submitted plans if a 
Transport Note is submitted to the Council identifying robust evidence of lack 
of take up of spaces in the large undercoft space giving spare capacity and 
obviating the need for a riverside parking court. 

187. If only the undercoft parking area was provided along with the spaces on the 
George Street frontage then the parking provision would be 154 spaces which 
would represent provision of 0.7 parking spaces per apartment.

188. The applicant has indicated that this flexibility would be acceptable as part of 
a planning condition but the ability to implement the parking if needed would 
still be needed.

189. Accordingly, I have included this option in;-

(i) condition 67 (requiring all the parking shown on the plans to be provided 
unless the aforementioned Transport Note is submitted to and approved by 
the Council), with

(ii) a consequential change to condition 74 (requiring the resultant space to 
then be landscaped appropriately with the Beech tree retained unless any 
other factors dictating its removal such as its age, health and relationship to 
the adjoining development site, are accepted by the Council in writing).

(m) The acceptability of the traffic impacts arising from the development

190. There is no change in my assessment of the impact of the development in 
these terms from that set out in my October 2016 Planning Committee report. 
The applicant’s updated Transport Assessment reaches the same conclusion 

Page 131



Ashford Borough Council - Report of Head of Development Management and Strategic Sites
Planning Committee 14 March 2018
___________________________________________________________________

accepted by Kent Highways & Transportation i.e. that subject to highway 
improvements being carried out to the adjacent junctions the proposal can be 
accommodated along with other nearby developments. Policy TRA7 of the 
2017 submission version of the Ashford Local Plan requires that 
developments with significant traffic impacts are acceptably accommodated.

191. Since October 2016, improvements to the carriageway to enhance capacity 
have been carried out and associated works to the adjacent public realm are 
underway and so the impacts arising from the development have already 
been accommodated by implemented local highway network improvements.

(n) Mitigating the impacts of proposed development: the policy starting point 
for contributions secured by s.106 agreement

192. The position remains unchanged since the previous October 2016 Committee 
Report.

193. To recap, Policy CS18 of the Core Strategy requires that infrastructure and 
facilities to meet the needs generated by the development should be 
provided. The same approach is taken in proposed policies IMP1, IMP2 and 
COM1 of the 2017 submission version Ashford Local Plan. 

194. Prior to deposit of the application the applicant identified that the development 
would be unable to bear the costs of contributions likely to be sought by the 
Council. 

195. The starting point in terms of s.106 contribution requests pursuant to 
development plan policy is as follows (ranked in magnitude per organisation);-

·         KCC – primary and secondary education (£136,901)
·         KCC – library book-stock (£45,128)
·         KCC – social care (£10,164)
·         KCC – community learning (£7,441)
·         KCC – youth service (£6028)

·         ABC – sports/informal natural space/play/allotments/strategic
                  parks/cemeteries (c.£1,876,014)
·         ABC – public realm improvements around highway changes (£130,000)
·         ABC – commuted parking (c.£76,500)
·         ABC - quality monitoring (£3,000)
·         ABC – voluntary sector capacity building (£30,000)
·         ABC – public art (£40,000)
·         ABC – bus shelters (£25,000)
·         ABC – s.106 monitoring (£250 p.a. duration of build)

196. Carbon off-setting would also need to be captured by the s.106 agreement. 
Bus shelter improvements have been funded by the hotel and superstore 
developments permitted by the Council involving adjacent land. 

Page 132



Ashford Borough Council - Report of Head of Development Management and Strategic Sites
Planning Committee 14 March 2018
___________________________________________________________________

197. I agree with the applicant’s layout plans that the entrance route from Victoria 
Road along the eastern side the frontage block represents a strong on-site 
position for the provision of public art and that a feature here would benefit the 
quality of that pedestrian linkage and sit well with the proposed buildings. The 
public art contribution of £40,000 requested by the Head of Culture would 
therefore actually be partly subsumed by that which the applicant has 
highlighted is intended as part of a well-designed scheme.   

(o) The applicant’s viability case

198. The position remains unchanged since the previous October 2016 Committee 
Report.

199. To recap, the applicant submitted a viability case in relation to s.106 
contributions with the application and funded its independent expert review. 
Additional commercially sensitive and confidential information was also 
provided to the independent expert alongside further clarification on costs, 
approach to yields and the relationship of the residential element with the 
brewery element (which has been confirmed as involving no cross-subsidy).

200. The advice received from the Council’s viability consultant, Bespoke PC, was 
that the applicant’s viability case was accepted. The advice from Bespoke PC 
to the Council was that the development could not meet the normal range of 
contributions to fully mitigate its impacts even by assuming a lower build cost 
than that used by the applicant’s consultants.

201. There has been no change of any significance in relation to market conditions 
since October 2016 and so my conclusion is that there is no need to revisit 
this expert advice.

(p) Viability: conclusion & negotiated s.106 contributions

202. My conclusion remains unchanged since the previous October 2016 
Committee Report.

203. To recap, my view remains that it is appropriate to look at a planning 
justification for recommending approval of a scheme that would not meet its 
full share of developer contributions. It is an imperative to the Council that 
regeneration schemes in the town centre come forward as quickly as 
possible, as reflected in the Head of Planning and Development’s Report to 
Cabinet 10/09/2015 (‘Helping to deliver key investments in the town centre’). 

204. The town centre has suffered a decline in the past few years and the retail 
market is unlikely to be strong enough on its own to generate investment in 
the short term. A way of increasing the amount of money spent in the town 
centre is to increase the number of people using it. The application site, with 
pedestrian access directly into the town centre core is viewed as one of the 

Page 133



Ashford Borough Council - Report of Head of Development Management and Strategic Sites
Planning Committee 14 March 2018
___________________________________________________________________

key drivers for improving spend in the town centre and attracting further 
inward investment. Spending by residents would help to boost the town centre 
and the range of attractions that it offers. To date, new housing development, 
particularly in the town centre has been slow to come forward and the 
continuation of housing growth is a significant material consideration 
particularly given the guidance in the NPPF. 

205. The Council’s expert viability consultant agreed that the proposal was at its 
limit in terms of the s.106 contributions that were being offered. Given NPPF 
advice and the aforementioned Cabinet Report, I considered that there were 
appropriate material considerations in this instance to forego affordable 
housing and to recommend approval of the proposal notwithstanding that it 
could meet the full range of developer contributions arising from adopted 
planning policies. In any event, the Ashford Local Plan 2017 submission 
Policy HOU1 identifies that in respect of apartments in the Ashford Town area 
(as depicted in the Plan) no affordable housing will be required to be provided.

206. Members will be aware that Policy SP5 in the 2017 submission version 
Ashford Local Plan states;-

‘Where a development proposal comes forward that clearly demonstrates it 
would meet the vision and design quality set for the town centre but is of 
marginal viability, the Council (taking specialist advice) will explore a flexible 
approach to seek to reduce the costs of contributions to infrastructure and 
affordable housing, providing the resulting proposal does not create a serious 
and unacceptable level of impact.’   

207. The lack of full s.106 contributions would not come at the expense of the 
quality of the development. The proposed development proposes minor 
changes to a scheme that has already been the subject of extended 
negotiations, including Design Review and pre-application presentations to 
Members.

208. Whilst the outcome of the viability review in 2016 was obviously disappointing, 
negotiated the ability for payment of specifically targeted and significantly 
limited s.106 agreement contributions. The applicant confirmed at the time the 
following;-

‘We are very bothered about the social and economic regeneration which we 
can bring to Ashford across both the north and south sites. Having assessed 
the numbers, we can offer that we can contribute £250,000 towards s.106 
costs for the north and south sites’.

209. In the specific circumstances of this case, I concluded in my October 2016 
report that this was a reasonable gesture on the applicant’s part and one that I 
was prepared to recommend. Discussions with KCC identified that, forced to 
prioritise, education is considered the most important area for the scheme to 

Page 134



Ashford Borough Council - Report of Head of Development Management and Strategic Sites
Planning Committee 14 March 2018
___________________________________________________________________

help fund. A lack of local school places would deter people considering 
occupying the scheme as a good place to live. 

210. In respect of ABC contributions, those requested from the Open Spaces 
Team were substantial but the Team’s priority was towards contributions 
helping improve the quality and usability of public open space in Victoria Park 
which is a short walk from the site and so would be of direct benefit to the 
occupants of the proposed development. I therefore proposes the following 
split to the £250,000 offered from the then applicant;-

(i) KCC - primary and secondary education £100,000
(ii) ABC – public open space enhancements in Victoria Park £150,000
                                                                             Total £250,000

211. Members’ accepted that recommendation that this be the subject of a s.106 
agreement. This was concluded in respect of application 16/01157/AS and 
obligates these payments to be made. Recommendation (A) further below 
allows for any review as might be necessary in order to ensure that these 
obligations are carried forward in relation to the scheme as is proposed to be 
amended subject of this report.

212. The early implementation of the development south of Victoria Road (i.e. the 
216 home component) would, in my judgement, have a number of positive 
benefits for the town centre as a whole. As a high quality residential 
development, it would allow the market to continue to strengthen thus having 
very positive benefits for the town as a whole. The commercial components of 
the scheme would create jobs, provide active ground floor frontage to Victoria 
Road and, specifically in the case of the proposed brewery, create an 
attraction likely to be popular to residents of the Borough and visitors thus 
further bolstering the importance of the town centre as an attractive 
destination due to the existence of an enhanced range of retail, restaurant 
and leisure facilities.

213. My recommendation in October 2016 therefore took the following approach to 
achieving  early implementation;-

(a) a planning condition that de facto requires early commencement of the 
development south of Victoria Road, 

(b) a s.106 obligation that requires that the completion (to available for 
occupation standard) of the development south of Victoria Road within a 
limited period, and

(c) notice of commencement of development south of Victoria Road to be 
served on the Council pursuant to a s.106 obligation. 

214. That approach remains my position with the current application. My 
conclusion therefore remains that in the circumstances of the case there is a 

Page 135



Ashford Borough Council - Report of Head of Development Management and Strategic Sites
Planning Committee 14 March 2018
___________________________________________________________________

planning justification for a grant of permission with significantly reduced s.106 
contributions. 

215. The planning conditions set out in this report represent take the form as 
ultimately as agreed for 16/01157/AS with the applicant pursuant to my 
delegated powers. There are common conditions followed by conditions 
discrete to each identified phase of development (which involves both sides of 
Victoria Road). The applicant’s desire at the time was to adopt that approach 
to avoid progress on one phase having unforeseen implications in relation to 
matters on the others. Whilst it does increase the number of conditions and 
involves a degree of repetition, I accept the logic of the proposal and so am 
happy to continue it in my Recommendation. 

216. At the time of drafting this report, a full review of the planning conditions to 
update any specific references to plan numbers that might have changed or 
include additional text to take account of any approvals granted by the Council 
since planning permission 16/01157/AS has not possible. However, my 
Recommendation provides for post-Committee changes to conditions.

Planning Obligations

217. Regulation 122 of the Community Infrastructure Regulations 2010 says that a 
planning obligation may only constitute a reason for granting planning 
permission for a development if the obligation is:

(a) necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms,

(b) directly related to the development; and

(c) fairly and reasonably related in scale and kind to the development

218. The planning obligations contained within the existing s.106 agreement were 
assessed against Regulation 122 and were previously accepted as being all 
necessary to make the development acceptable in planning terms, were 
directly related to the development and were fairly and reasonably related in 
scale and kind to the development. The current applicant is not seeking to 
reopen negotiations in respect of these and so my Recommendation is that, 
subject to the obligations in the s.106 agreement being carried forward in 
relation to the scheme as proposed to be changed as a consequence of the 
current application being approved, permission can then be granted. 

Human Rights Issues

219. I have also taken into account the human rights issues relevant to this 
application. In my view, the “Assessment” section above and the 

Page 136



Ashford Borough Council - Report of Head of Development Management and Strategic Sites
Planning Committee 14 March 2018
___________________________________________________________________

Recommendation below represent an appropriate balance between the 
interests and rights of the applicant (to enjoy their land subject only to 
reasonable and proportionate controls by a public authority) and the interests 
and rights of those potentially affected by the proposal (to respect for private 
life and the home and peaceful enjoyment of their properties).

Working with the applicant

220. In accordance with paragraphs 186 and 187 of the NPPF, Ashford Borough 
Council (ABC) takes a positive and proactive approach to development 
proposals focused on solutions. ABC works with applicants/agents in a 
positive and proactive manner as explained in the note to the applicant 
included in the recommendation below.

Conclusion

221. The proposal involves minor changes to a permission granted by the Council 
for the redevelopment of a key brownfield site at the eastern entrance to 
Victoria Road known as Victoria Way East, forming part of the Southern 
Expansion Quarter. The redevelopment of this area for a mixture of uses, 
including residential and commercial, forms an important part of the Council’s 
TCAAP 2010 Policies TC10 and TC11 of the TCAAP indicate that an urban 
development appropriate to the upgraded and enhanced Victoria Road is 
appropriate with an emphasis on strong urban enclosure to the street and a 
form of development that has an appropriate relationship with the green 
corridor through which the River Stour passes further to the south. 

222. I consider that the design quality of the residential and x 3 small commercial 
units proposal remains acceptable as a result of the minor amendments and 
would accord with development plan policies identifying the importance of 
high quality design and place making and, in particular, Policy EN14 of the 
Ashford Borough Local Plan 2000, Policies CS1 and CS9 of the Core Strategy 
2008, Policies TC1, TC10, TC11 and TC 26 of the TCAAP 2010. It would 
accord with the 2017 submission version Ashford Local Plan policies which 
have the same objective.

223. The scale of development - involving a full 7th storey - is slightly beyond that 
which the Policy TC11 of the TCAAP envisaged but, as before, I consider 
there are sound planning and design reasons for that minor departure which I 
remain happy to support. The 7th storey area does not represent a departure 
from the provisions of the development plan when considered as a whole. The 
interface of the development with the green corridor is acceptable with 
development stepping down to it as envisaged in the Policy. Notwithstanding 
that, should Members wish to, the need for the riverside parking court could 
be obviated should the take-up of parking spaces within the large undercoft 
not prove to be as envisaged. That approach could allow for further planting 
as part of the riverside green corridor and that alternative approach to the 

Page 137



Ashford Borough Council - Report of Head of Development Management and Strategic Sites
Planning Committee 14 March 2018
___________________________________________________________________

space would also accord with development plan policies and the 2017 
submission draft of the Ashford Local Plan.

224. The design of the proposed brewery remains acceptable in my opinion and 
would help create a strong frontage to Victoria Road. Although a siting closer 
to the northern side of Victoria Road would have been preferred, the site 
layout is a response to uncertainties in respect of below ground services and 
the set- back enables the creation of an interesting entrance forecourt with 
sitting out space. The architectural treatment of the brewery works well in my 
opinion to create an interesting active frontage to Victoria Road. The corner 
element containing facilities that would be open to the public is striking 
architecturally and has the ability to become a local landmark framing the 
corner to the street junction. Along with other development proposed by the 
applicant, it has the ability to help create a sense of gateway into Victoria 
Road.

225. The impact of the brewery on the amenities of the area has been considered. 
Matters of noise are capable of being controlled through planning conditions 
relating to plant and equipment and hours of servicing (and any necessary 
measures related to night-time servicing such as an acoustic fence). Lighting 
can be controlled by condition to reduce light pollution and disturbance. 
Odours from the brewery are unlikely in normal circumstances and the 
proposals can be the subject of further refinement through discussion with 
officers in order to help minimise any odour impacts as far as possible.

226. The proposals are acceptable in relation to contamination and flooding. 

227. The proposals perform acceptably in relation to the Council’s Sustainable 
Design and Construction requirements for non-residential uses. Carbon-off 
setting payments are secured through the existing s.106 agreement.  
 

228. Car parking provision for residents in its revised form continues to accord with 
and exceed adopted Council policies. Occupiers of the development would be 
ineligible for on-street parking permits and so the proposal would not 
adversely impact on the residents’ parking scheme in operation in Victoria 
Crescent. The proposals would not have any adverse impacts on the 
amenities enjoyed by residents of Victoria Crescent. I consider that the scale 
relationships between that which is proposed and that which exists are 
acceptable given the intensity of redevelopment envisaged by adopted local 
planning policy for this area over many years.

229. The traffic impacts of the proposal have been considered by the local highway 
authority and have been found to be acceptable. Improvements to the local 
highway network in terms of capacity have recently been carried out. 

230. As before, the application cannot meet the full range of contributions that 
would normally be expected pursuant to Policy CS18 of the adopted Core 
Strategy. The applicant has previously submitted a viability case which has 

Page 138



Ashford Borough Council - Report of Head of Development Management and Strategic Sites
Planning Committee 14 March 2018
___________________________________________________________________

been the subject of expert independent scrutiny and the inability of the 
proposal to fully meet requested contributions has previously been accepted. 
The s.106 contributions that were negotiated as a gesture in relation to the 
previous scheme are split between this Council and KCC and to be used for 
key priorities (education and contribution towards enhancement of key public 
open spaces near to the site). The inability of the proposal to meet 
contributions in full would represent a departure from the provisions of Policy 
CS18 but not the provisions of the development plan as a whole. The benefits 
of the proposal in its amended form to town centre regeneration remain 
significant and in the light of national planning advice I consider that planning 
permission should be granted with the suggested approach of conditions and 
obligations being used to secure early delivery of the proposals.    

Recommendation
(A) Subject to the existing section 106 agreement/undertaking in respect of 

the planning obligations entered into in respect of planning permission 
16/01157/AS being carried forward as necessary and as applicable to the 
amended development subject of this application in terms agreeable to 
the Head of Development Management and Strategic Sites or the 
Development Control Managers in consultation with either Director of 
Law and Governance or the Head of Legal and Democracy , with 
delegated authority to either the Head of Development Management and 
Strategic Sites or the Development Control Managers to make or 
approve minor changes to the planning obligations and planning 
conditions (and for the avoidance of doubt including adding additional 
planning conditions or deleting conditions) as she sees fit (including 
any need to adjust conditions as necessary to take account any 
approvals already issued by the Council in relation to conditions 
attached to planning permission 16/01157/AS).

(B) Permit
Subject to the following conditions and notes:

References to development phases in this permission

‘Phases’ in this permission means a phase as identified on the approved plan 
(as shown on plan 15.043.006 P3), and references to phases A1, A2 and A3 
are references to the phases shown on the drawing. For the avoidance of 
doubt, the substation identified adjacent to the Brewery and Aldi store falls 
outside of phase A1.If the phase boundaries subsequently change, a revised 
plan shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority.

Page 139



Ashford Borough Council - Report of Head of Development Management and Strategic Sites
Planning Committee 14 March 2018
___________________________________________________________________

Applicability of conditions

Planning conditions 1-3 apply to all the development irrespective of Phase 
Planning conditions 4–32 apply to development on land forming Phase A1 
only Planning conditions 33-60 apply to development on land forming Phase 
A2 only Planning conditions 61-90 apply to development on land forming 
Phase A3 only

1 The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of 
07/04/2019 years from the date of this decision.

Reason: To comply with the requirements of Sections 73 and 91 of the Town 
and Country Planning Act 1990 as amended by Section 51 of the Planning 
and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004.

2 The development of land shall be carried out in accordance with the plans 
listed in the section of this decision notice headed Plans/Documents approved 
by this decision notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country 
Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 2015 (or any order revoking 
and re-enacting that Order with or without modification).

Reason: To ensure the development is carried out in accordance with the 
approval and to ensure the quality of development indicated on the approved 
plans is achieved in practice.

3 The development of land shall be made available for inspection, at a 
reasonable time, by the local planning authority to ascertain whether a breach 
of planning control may have occurred on the site (e.g. as a result of 
departure from the plans hereby approved and/or the terms of this 
permission).

Reason: In the interests of ensuring the proper planning of the locality and 
the protection of amenity and the environment, securing high-quality 
development through adherence to the terms of planning approvals, and 
ensuring community confidence in the planning system.

LAND FORMING PHASE A1 TO NORTH OF VICTORIA ROAD
(BREWERY/SHOP/BAR/RESTAURANT - B2/A1/A3/A4)

Materials
4 Prior to installation written details including source/ manufacturer, and 

samples of bricks, tiles, slats, mesh/corrugated metal and cladding materials 
(including jointing of panels) to be used externally shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority and the development of 
land forming Phase A1 shall be carried out using the approved external 
materials. The details shall be supplied as appropriate on a materials board.

Page 140



Ashford Borough Council - Report of Head of Development Management and Strategic Sites
Planning Committee 14 March 2018
___________________________________________________________________

Reason: In the interests of visual amenity and to give clarity on jointing of 
panels.

Contamination

5 (A) The development of land forming Phase A1 shall only be carried out in 
accordance with the remediation and mitigation measures set out in the 
approved MLM Phase 2 Geoenvironmental Assessment Report (Ref: 773965-
REP-ENV-001 Rev 0 dated September 2016) unless otherwise agreed in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority.

(B) Following completion of the approved remediation scheme for the land 
forming Phase A1 and prior to the first occupation of the brewery building, a 
verification report that demonstrates the effectiveness of the remediation 
measures and mitigation that have been carried out shall have been 
submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of 
land and neighbouring land are minimised (together with those to controlled 
waters, property and ecological systems) and to ensure that the development 
will not quality as ‘contaminated land’ under Part 2A of the Environmental 
Protection Act 1990 and is development that can be carried out safely without 
unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours and other off-site receptors.

6 If, during development of land forming Phase A1, contamination not 
previously identified is found to be present at the site then no further 
development within the affected plot (unless otherwise agreed in writing with 
the Local Planning Authority) shall be carried out until the developer has 
submitted, and obtained written approval from the Local Planning Authority 
for, a remediation strategy for the land forming Phase A1 detailing how this 
unsuspected contamination shall be dealt with. The remediation strategy shall 
be implemented as approved, verified and reported to the satisfaction of the 
Local Planning Authority.

Reason: To ensure the protection of controlled waters.

Fine detail

7 Prior to usage in the building approved on the land forming Phase A1, unless 
specified to the contrary, the details set out below shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority and, thereafter, 
development shall only be carried out in accordance with the approved details 
unless agreed otherwise by the Local Planning Authority in writing. Where 
relevant, the following details should be provided on drawings at an 
appropriate scale of 1:50 (where detail needs to be considered contextually 
related to a façade) and at 1:20 in other cases:-

Page 141



Ashford Borough Council - Report of Head of Development Management and Strategic Sites
Planning Committee 14 March 2018
___________________________________________________________________

(a) full details of glazing and external doors, including all external joinery and 
framing methods and external colour (1:20),
(b) rainwater goods, eaves, fascia and canopy / colonnade details (including 
supporting posts) (1:20/1:50)
(c) details of vents, louvres, extractor vents together with locations any 1:20 
details of any roof top screens to any roof top plant and equipment to be
installed
(d) 1:50 details of the proposed double height water feature to be created on 
the façade to Victoria Road

Reason: Further details are required to ensure that the external appearance
and fine detailing are of an appropriate high quality.

Vehicle and Cycle Parking/Highways

8 Provision shall be made within the land forming Phase A1 for the disposal of 
surface water so as to prevent its discharge onto the highway details of which 
shall have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority.

Reasons: In the interests of highway safety and convenience.

9 The access details shown on the approved plans for the development of land 
forming Phase A1, including off-site footway works to replace the redundant 
vehicle access and all visibility splays, shall be completed prior to the 
occupation of any buildings hereby approved / the use of the site being 
commenced, and the access details shall thereafter be maintained with 
visibility splays maintained free from any obstructions above 0.6m in height 
above the adjacent footway level.

Reasons: In the interests of highway safety.

10 The area shown on the approved layout (ref: 15.043 050 Rev A) as vehicle 
parking or turning space serving the development of land forming Phase A1 
shall be provided, surfaced and drained to the satisfaction of the Local 
Planning Authority before the use is commenced or the premises occupied, 
and shall be retained for the use of the occupiers of, and visitors to, the 
premises, and no permanent development, whether or not permitted by the 
Town and Country Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 2015 (or 
any Order revoking and re-enacting that Order), shall be carried out on that 
area of land so shown or in such a position as to preclude vehicular access to 
this reserved parking space.

Reason: Development without provision of adequate accommodation for the 
parking of vehicles is likely to lead to parking inconvenient to other road users 
and be detrimental to highway safety and amenity.

11 No building on land forming Phase A1 shall be occupied or the approved use 
commenced until space has been laid out within the site in accordance with 

Page 142



Ashford Borough Council - Report of Head of Development Management and Strategic Sites
Planning Committee 14 March 2018
___________________________________________________________________

the details shown on the application plans for cycles to be parked. The 
approved facilities shall thereafter be retained available for use.

Reason: To ensure the provision and retention of adequate off-street parking 
facilities for cycles in the interests of highway safety and to promote 
movement choice for staff and visitors.

12 Prior to installation on the land forming Phase A1, full details of the proposed 
gate to the vehicle access to Victoria Road (including elevational and cross-
sectional details at 1:50 scale, materials and final colour finish) shall have 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
Thereafter, the gate shall only be installed in accordance with such details 
unless the Local Planning Authority has approved to any variation in writing.

Reason: No such details have been provided.

13 Prior to the first operation of the permitted use on the land forming Phase A1 
for the purposes of brewing, a scaled plan showing the site, on-site location 
and number of off-site employee parking spaces in the control of the applicant 
shall have been submitted to, and approved by, the Local Planning Authority 
in writing. Thereafter, the spaces shall be retained available to meet brewery 
employee parking needs unless the Local Planning Authority has agreed in 
writing to any variation.

Reason: In order to reduce the burden of the development on town centre car 
parking resources given the limited provision of on-site parking.

Use

14 The premises/site forming Phase A1 shall be used for Use Classes 
B2/A1/A3/A4 only as in the of the Schedule to the Town and Country Planning 
(Use Classes) Order 1987 (as amended 2015) and not for any other purpose 
whether or not in the same use class of any subsequent Order amending, 
revoking or re-enacting that Order, or whether the alternative use is permitted 
by virtue of Article 3 and Schedule 2 Part 3 of the Town and Country Planning 
(General Permitted Development) Order 2015 or any Order revoking or re-
enacting that Order.

Reason: In order to preserve the amenity of the locality.

Opening hours to the public

15 Unless any variation is agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority 
(including any variation needing approval as a result of licensing 
requirements), the shop, bar and restaurant at the premises/site forming 
Phase A1 shall only be open to the public between the following hours;-
(i) Monday to Thursday 09:00 - 23:00
(ii) Friday to Saturday 09:00 - 24:00
(iii) Sunday 09:00 - 23:00

Page 143



Ashford Borough Council - Report of Head of Development Management and Strategic Sites
Planning Committee 14 March 2018
___________________________________________________________________

Reason: In order to ensure that the hours of use of the elements of the 
building open to the public is appropriate given the context of the site and the 
existing and planned noise sensitive uses in the neighbourhood and the need 
to minimise late night disturbance.

Servicing & acoustic fence

16 Prior to any night time servicing (defined as between the hours of 23:00 - 
07:00) of the land forming Phase A1 taking place the following details shall 
have been submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning
Authority;-
(a) the days of the week that night time servicing will take place,
(b) the duration of the night time servicing,
(c) details of the nature of the night time servicing and the location of the
servicing activity on the land, and
(d) the proposed measures to mitigate noise from such night time servicing 
including location, form, size, appearance and any required adjustments to
any previously approved hard and soft landscaping located either within the 
land forming Phase A1 or on adjacent land.

Thereafter, the brewery shall only be serviced at night time in accordance with 
such approvals unless the Local Planning Authority has agreed to any 
subsequent proposed variation in writing. Any measures agreed to mitigate 
noise pursuant to (d) above shall be implemented in full prior to any night time 
servicing taking place and, notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and 
Country Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 2015 or any Order 
revoking or re-enacting that Order, shall be retained and maintained in full 
effective working order.

Reason: In order to ensure that any required night time servicing is 
appropriate given the context of the site and the existing and planned noise 
sensitive uses in the neighbourhood and that acceptable on-site mitigation is 
provided.

Hard and Soft Landscaping

17 No development shall commence above ground level until full details of the 
hard and soft landscape works have been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The landscaping works shall accord 
with drawing 15.043 050 Rev A, unless otherwise agreed in writing.

(a) The full details of the soft landscape works to be submitted to the Local 
Planning Authority for approval shall include the planting plans; written 
specifications (including cultivation and other operations associated with plant 
and grass establishment); details of planting that is designed to create year 
round colour; details of vertical planting along the colonnade frontage to 
Victoria Road; schedules of plants noting species, plant sizes and proposed 
numbers/densities where appropriate; full details of proposed tree pits of a 
size and specification to tree species and to ensure maturation and long-term 

Page 144



Ashford Borough Council - Report of Head of Development Management and Strategic Sites
Planning Committee 14 March 2018
___________________________________________________________________

survival; guards and any other measures necessary to protect trees in 
locations immediately adjacent to parking bays and an implementation and 
planting programme/timetable to ensure that all soft landscaping and planting 
is completed within 6 months of the completion of the development.

(b) The full details of the hard landscape works to be submitted to the Local 
Planning Authority for approval shall include details of hard surfacing 
materials (including colour finish, specification of paving and gauge as 
appropriate), drawings to scale to show lighting columns and lighting bollards, 
the continuous linear planter feature facilitating vertical planting along the 
colonnade to the building, external seating, gabion walls, water features, 
elements of the site’s historic past to be retained either in situ or relocated 
and/or commemorated and any necessary methods of demarcating space as 
a result of its proposed long term maintenance.

(c) The details shall include full details of all walls, gates and fences (including 
height, width and depth, supporting post and free-standing posts, materials, 
mesh, final finish colour, connection & junctions with other fencing at the 
boundary around the Victoria Road substation A1) to be erected.

(d) The hard and soft landscaping works shall be implemented in full in 
accordance with the details and timetable approved by the Local Planning 
Authority. The walls, gates and fences approved pursuant to (c) above shall 
be erected before the land forming Phase A1 is first occupied in accordance 
with the approved details unless previously agreed in writing by the Local
Planning Authority.

Reason: To ensure that adequate details of the proposals are submitted in 
the interests of the protection and enhancement of the area. Also, to ensure 
that ecological functionality and protected species population are not 
impacted by the proposed development and foraging and dispersal routes 
remain open and connected throughout construction and occupation. To 
ensure that tree planting is appropriate and carried out in a manner that will 
ensure maturation to the visual benefit of the urban environment and to 
ensure boundary treatments are appropriate to the context of the site and are 
of acceptable design quality.

18 If any trees and/or plants on land forming Phase A1 whether new or retained 
which form part of the soft landscape works approved by the Local Planning 
Authority die, are removed or become seriously damaged or diseased prior to 
the completion of the construction works or within a period of 10 years from 
the completion of construction such trees and/or plants shall be replaced in 
the next available planting season with others of a similar size and species, 
unless the Local Planning Authority gives written consent otherwise.

Reason: In the interests of the amenity of the area.

Page 145



Ashford Borough Council - Report of Head of Development Management and Strategic Sites
Planning Committee 14 March 2018
___________________________________________________________________

19 Prior to the occupation of the development on land forming Phase A1, a 
landscape management plan including long term design objectives, any hard 
surfaced areas to be offered to the public authorities for adoption, 
management responsibilities and maintenance schedules for the landscape 
areas and the timing of provision of management and maintenance of such 
areas shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. Thereafter the landscape management plan shall be carried out in 
accordance with the details approved by the Local Planning Authority unless 
previously agreed otherwise in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: To ensure the new landscaped areas are properly maintained in the 
interest of the amenity of the area.

Sustainable construction

20 The development of land forming Phase A1 hereby approved shall be 
constructed to achieve a target Building Research Establishment BREEAM 
(or subsequent equivalent quality assured scheme) overall 'Very Good' rating. 
Under criterion Ene4 (Low and Zero Carbon Technologies) (or subsequent 
equivalent criterion) 1 credit for a feasibility study and 2 credits for a 20% 
reduction in carbon emissions.

Unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority, the 
following shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority within 6 months of work commencing on a given phase:-

• A feasibility study to establish the most appropriate local low and zero 
carbon ("LZC") technologies to install and which shall be in accordance with 
the feasibility study requirements set out within BREEAM 2011 New 
Construction (or subsequent equivalent requirements), Simplified Building 
Energy Model ("SBEM") calculations from a competent person stating the 
estimated amount of carbon emissions from energy demand with and without 
LZC technologies installed, and

• Details of the measures, LZC and other technologies to be used to achieve 
the BREEAM standard and credit requirements specified above.

Thereafter, the development shall be carried out in accordance with the 
approved report and details and the approved measures and LZC and other 
technologies for achieving the BREEAM standard and credit requirements 
specified above shall thereafter be retained in working order in perpetuity 
unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.
Unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority, within 6 
months of occupation of the new buildings hereby approved the applicant 
shall have submitted to and approved in writing, parts (i) and (ii) below by the 
Local Planning Authority for that building:

Page 146



Ashford Borough Council - Report of Head of Development Management and Strategic Sites
Planning Committee 14 March 2018
___________________________________________________________________

SBEM calculations from a competent person stating (i) the actual amount of 
carbon emissions from energy demand with the LZC technologies that have 
been installed and what the emissions would have been without them and (ii) 
the actual amount of residual carbon emissions, and a BREEAM 'Post 
Construction Stage' report confirming the BREEAM standard that has been 
achieved and the credits awarded under Ene4.

Reason: In order to (a) achieve zero carbon growth and ensure the 
construction of sustainable buildings and a reduction in the consumption of 
natural resources, (b) seek to achieve a carbon neutral development through 
sustainable design features and on-site low and/or zero carbon technologies 
and (c) confirm the sustainability of the development and a reduction in the 
consumption of natural resources and to calculate any amount payable into 
the Ashford Carbon Fund, thereby making the development carbon neutral, all 
pursuant to Core Strategy policy CS10, the Sustainable Design and 
Construction SPD and NPPF.

Environmental protection, external lighting & prevention of pollution

21 (A) Full details of all measures to be taken to deal with any emission of dust, 
odours or vapours arising from the use of the building on the land forming 
Phase A1 (including to both the brewery and food and drink uses) shall be 
submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority prior to 
the first use of the premises. Any equipment, plant or process provided or 
undertaken pursuant to such approval shall be installed prior to the first use of 
the premises and shall thereafter be operated and retained in compliance with 
the approved scheme.

(B) Unless agreed in writing, no outdoor processing (excluding storage tanks) 
shall take place and no outside spent grain/yeast shall be stored on the land 
forming Phase A1 unless in a sealed container or tank the details and 
specification of which have been approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority.

(C) Prior to the first use of the land forming Phase A1 as a brewery, a waste 
management plan relating to the brewing process (including disposal methods 
of brewing waste and regularity, details of any on-site storage prior to disposal 
off-site and details of any agreements that will be needed with other agencies 
for effluent disposal and transportation of waste off-site) shall have been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
Thereafter, the land forming Phase A1 shall only be operated in accordance 
with those agreed on-site waste management plan details.

Reason: (A & B) To seek to prevent transmission of dust, vapours and odours 
into neighbouring premises to protect amenity and to ensure that the 
approach taken on-site is one that recognises the context of developing a 
brewery in a town centre context. (C) To give clarity on how any waste 
generated by the brewing process will be disposed of safely from the site.

Page 147



Ashford Borough Council - Report of Head of Development Management and Strategic Sites
Planning Committee 14 March 2018
___________________________________________________________________

22 No external lighting shall be installed on the land forming Phase A1 until 
details have been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning 
Authority. The details shall include a layout plan with beam orientation and a 
schedule of light equipment proposed (luminaire type; mounting height; 
aiming angles and luminaire profiles; use of time switches to switch off car 
park lighting appropriate to the seasons and the approach to security 
lighting/task lighting: details of mood lighting to the customer staircase 
entrance to first floor bar & restaurant and hours of operation: details of any 
mood lighting to external storage vessels located immediately to the west of 
the brewery and hours of operation). The approved scheme shall be installed, 
maintained and operated in accordance with the approved details unless the 
Local Planning Authority gives its written approval to any proposed variation.

Reason: To protect the appearance of the area/the environment and 
wildlife/local residents from light pollution.

23 Any facilities used for the storage of oils, fuels or chemicals on the land 
forming Phase A1 shall be sited on impervious bases and surrounded by 
impervious bund walls. The bund capacity shall give 110% of the total volume 
of the tanks.

Reason: To prevent pollution of the water environment.

Sustainable drainage

24 No development of land forming Phase A1 shall commence until plans and 
particulars of a sustainable drainage system (including the details below) for 
the disposal of the site’s surface water have been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

The submitted system shall comprise retention or storage of the surface water 
on-site or within the immediate area in a way which is appropriate to the 
site’s location, topography, hydrogeology and hydrology.

The submitted system shall be designed to
(i) avoid any increase in flood risk,
(ii) avoid any adverse impact on water quality,
(iii) achieve a reduction in the run-off rate in accordance with the Ashford 
Borough Council Sustainable Drainage SPD document, adopted October 
2010, and
(iv) operate both during construction of the development and post-completion.

The submitted details shall include identification of the proposed discharge 
points from the system, a timetable for provision of the system and 
arrangements for future maintenance (in particular the type and frequency of 
maintenance and responsibility for maintenance).

Page 148



Ashford Borough Council - Report of Head of Development Management and Strategic Sites
Planning Committee 14 March 2018
___________________________________________________________________

The approved system shall be provided in accordance with the approved 
timetable. The approved system shall be maintained in accordance with the 
approved details and shall be retained in working order until such time as the 
development ceases to be in use.

If the proposed surface water discharge point is to be the existing public 
sewer the applicant must provide written confirmation from Southern Water
of their agreement to the proposals.

Reason: In order to reduce the impact of the development on flooding, 
manage run-off flow rates, protect water quality and improve biodiversity and 
the appearance of the development pursuant to Core Strategy Policy CS20

Code of construction practice

25 Prior to the commencement of the development on land forming Phase A1, a 
Code of Construction Practice shall be submitted to and approval in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority. The construction of the development shall then 
be carried out in accordance with the approved Code of Construction Practice 
and BS5228 Noise Vibration and Control on Construction and Open Sites and 
the Control of dust from construction sites (BRE DTi Feb 2003).unless 
previously agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

The code shall include,
• An indicative programme for carrying out the works
• Measures to minimise the production of dust on the site(s)
• Measures to minimise the noise (including vibration) generated by the 
construction process to include the careful selection of plant and machinery 
and use of noise mitigation barrier(s)
• Maximum noise levels expected 1 metre from the affected façade of any 
residential unit adjacent to the site(s)
• Design and provision of site hoardings
• Management of traffic visiting the site(s) including temporary parking or 
holding areas
• Full details of the provision of off-road parking for all site operatives
• Full details of measures to prevent the transfer of mud and extraneous 
material onto the public highway
• Measures to manage the production of waste and to maximise the re-use of 
materials
• Measures to minimise the potential for pollution of groundwater and surface 
water
• The location and design of site office(s) and storage compounds
• The location of temporary vehicle access points to the site(s) during the 
construction works
• The arrangements for public consultation and liaison during the construction 
works, including a programme for community consultation/communication 
setting out how the developers intend to liaise with and keep members of the 

Page 149



Ashford Borough Council - Report of Head of Development Management and Strategic Sites
Planning Committee 14 March 2018
___________________________________________________________________

public informed about the development for the duration of the construction 
period.

Reason: To protect the amenity of local residents in accordance with Policy 
EN1 of the Local Plan.

26 In relation to the land forming Phase A1, no construction activities shall take 
place, other than between 0730 to 1800 hours (Monday to Friday) and 0730 
to 1300 hours (Saturday) with no working activities on Sunday or Bank 
Holiday unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: In the interests of the residential amenity of the area.

27 No construction activities shall take place on the land forming Phase A1 until 
a dust management plan for the construction phase (in full compliance with 
the recommendations of the applicant’s Air Quality Report ref: AQA-19852-16-
95) has been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning 
Authority. Thereafter, the measures set out in the dust management plan shall 
be implemented in full for the subsequent full duration of construction works 
unless any variation has been agreed in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority.

Reason: In order to ensure that appropriate measures are put in place during 
construction to mitigate the impact of dust arising from construction works on 
local air quality.

28 No construction works shall take place on the land forming Phase A1 until a 
construction logistics plan for the construction phase (in full compliance with 
the recommendations of the applicant’s Air Quality Report ref: AQA-19852-16-
95) has been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning 
Authority. Thereafter, the measures set out in the construction logistics plan 
shall be implemented in full for the subsequent full duration of construction 
works unless any variation has been agreed in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority.

Reason: In order to ensure that appropriate measures are put in place during 
construction to mitigate impacts on local air quality.

Archaeology

29 Prior to the commencement of development of land forming Phase A1 the 
applicant, or their agents or successors in title, will secure and implement:

i) archaeological field evaluation works in accordance with a specification and 
written timetable which has been submitted to and approved by the Local
Planning Authority; and

ii) further archaeological investigation, recording and reporting, determined by 
the results of the evaluation, in accordance with a specification and timetable 

Page 150



Ashford Borough Council - Report of Head of Development Management and Strategic Sites
Planning Committee 14 March 2018
___________________________________________________________________

which has been submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority

Reason: To ensure that features of archaeological interest are properly 
examined and recorded.

Ecological Works & Management Strategy

30 (A) Prior to commencement of development on the land forming Phase A1, an 
Ecological Works & Management Strategy (EWMS) shall have been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
content of the EWMS shall include;-

(i) details of any required on-site or off-site habitat works and measures to 
mitigate the impact of the development on invertebrates (including species of 
tree and shrub planting and creation of features such as loggeries) and any 
other ecological mitigation /enhancement measures to be implemented as 
part of the development, and how such works and measures are proposed to 
be managed in the long-term.

(ii) if any reptiles are proposed to be translocated from the application site, an off-
site reptile mitigation strategy, including details of the proposed receptor site, 
a survey of that the receptor site demonstrating that the reptile population 
arising from translocation can be satisfactorily maintained, details of any 
enhancement works required to enhance the receptor site, confirmation that 
the receptor site will be actively managed and monitored to ensure the long 
term success of the translocation and a translocation
methodology.

(iii) a timetable for implementation, demonstrating that the proposed on-site 
habitat ecological works and other measures and any off-site reptile mitigation 
strategy are aligned with the proposed phasing of construction,

(iv) the persons responsible for implementing the on and off-site works, including 
a programme identifying when a specialist ecologists need to be present on 
site to oversee the ecological works

(B) Thereafter, the approved EWMS (including any agreed revisions) shall be 
carried out in accordance with the details in (A) above unless the Local 
Planning Authority has agreed to any other variation in writing.

Reason: In order to ensure that any ecological works to be carried out are 
justified, accord with good practice and appropriately mitigate the impacts of 
the development and to ensure that an appropriate management strategy is 
put in place to properly monitor the success of the ecological works carried 
out for an agreed period of time.

Page 151



Ashford Borough Council - Report of Head of Development Management and Strategic Sites
Planning Committee 14 March 2018
___________________________________________________________________

Fibre broadband To The Premises

31 Prior to the first occupation of the land forming Phase A1, details including 
plans, shall have been submitted to and approved by the Local Planning 
Authority in writing for the installation of a High Speed wholly Fibre broadband 
To The Premises (FTTP) connection to the development hereby approved. 
Thereafter, the infrastructure shall be laid out in accordance with the approved 
details at the same time as other services during the construction process and 
be available for use on the first occupation of the building unless otherwise 
agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority (where supported by 
evidence detailing reasonable endeavours to secure the provision of FTTP 
and alternative provisions that been made in the absence of FTTP).

Reason: To ensure that the new development in Ashford is provided with high 
quality broadband services enhancing Ashford as an attractive location in 
accordance with Policy EMP6 of the Ashford Local Plan 2030.

Protecting rail infrastructure

32 Development of the land forming Phase A1 shall only take place in 
accordance with the terms of a signed Basic Asset Protection Agreement with 
Network Rail Infrastructure Limited. A copy of the signed agreement shall be 
provided to the Local Planning Authority prior to commencement of 
development.

Reason: In order to manage the potential impacts of the development on the 
railway infrastructure located adjacent to the site and to ensure certainty that 
agreement has been reached.

LAND FORMING PHASE A2 TO SOUTH OF VICTORIA ROAD 
(RESIDENTIAL AND COMMERCIAL - C3/B1/A1/A3)

Materials

33 Prior to installation, written details including source/ manufacturer, and 
samples of bricks, tiles and cladding materials (including jointing of panels) to 
be used externally shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority and the development of land forming Phase A2 shall be 
carried out using the approved external materials. The details shall be 
supplied as appropriate on a materials board.

Reason: In the interests of visual amenity and to give clarity on jointing of 
panels.

Contamination

34 (A) Prior to the commencement of development on land forming Phase A2, a 
detailed remediation scheme for that land to ensure that that part of the site is 
suitable for the intended use (by removing unacceptable risks to human 

Page 152



Ashford Borough Council - Report of Head of Development Management and Strategic Sites
Planning Committee 14 March 2018
___________________________________________________________________

health, buildings and other property and the natural and historical 
environment) shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority.

(B) The scheme must describe all the relevant works to be undertaken including, 
the proposed remediation objectives and performance criteria, a schedule of 
works and site management protocols. The scheme must deliver land forming 
Phase A2 as land that will not qualify as ‘contaminated land’under Part 2A 
of the Environmental Protection Act 1990, having regard to the intended use 
of the land forming Phase A2 after remediation.

(C) The development within the land forming Phase A2 shall thereafter be carried 
out in accordance with the approved remediation scheme, unless otherwise 
agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Following completion of the 
remediation scheme for the land forming Phase A2 and prior to occupation of 
the building approved within that phase, a verification report for the land 
forming Phase A2, that demonstrates the effectiveness of the remediation 
carried out must be prepared and submitted for approval in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority.

Reason: To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of 
land and neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled 
waters, property and ecological systems, and to ensure that the development 
can be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours 
and other off-site receptors.

35 If, during development of land forming Phase A2, contamination not 
previously identified is found to be present at the site then no further 
development within the land forming Phase A2 (unless otherwise agreed in 
writing with the Local Planning Authority) shall be carried out until the 
developer has submitted, and obtained written approval from the Local 
Planning Authority for, a remediation strategy for the land forming Phase A2 
detailing how this unsuspected contamination shall be dealt with. The 
remediation strategy shall be implemented as approved, verified and reported 
to the satisfaction of the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: To ensure the protection of controlled waters.

Fine details

36 Prior to installation, unless specified to the contrary, the details set out below 
shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority 
and, thereafter, development shall only be carried out in accordance with the 
approved details unless agreed otherwise by the Local Planning Authority in 
writing. Where relevant, the following details should be provided on drawings 
at an appropriate scale of 1:50 (where detail needs to be considered 
contextually related to a façade) and at 1:20 in other cases:-

Page 153



Ashford Borough Council - Report of Head of Development Management and Strategic Sites
Planning Committee 14 March 2018
___________________________________________________________________

a) full details of glazing and external doors, including all external joinery and 
framing methods and external colour (1:20),
b) 1:20 horizontal and vertical cross sections through typical sections of each 
of the facades sufficient to show the relationship between the façade and 
those elements of detail to be embedded within the façade as well projecting 
from it (such as the extent of recessing of glazing and doors in openings 
created in the façade, the consequential treatment of window reveals, the 
details of cills and the extent of projecting elements from the façade),
c) 1:100 elevation detailing the locations of all expansion joints in facades.
d) details of any plant or machinery proposed on the roof and associated 
screens,
e) details of any satellite dishes or antenna,
f) details of rainwater goods, eaves, fascia and entrance canopies (including 
materials and finish, details of any supporting posts and related brick plinths 
and roofing materials),
g) details of vents, louvres, extractor vents, external pipes, meters etc.
h) details of screens and windbreaks,
i) 1:50 scale details of the parapet capping,
j) details of external entrance steps, handrails and balustrades.

Reason: Further details are required to ensure that the external appearance
and fine detailing are of an appropriate high quality.

Vehicle and Cycle Parking/Highways/ Car Club & Electric Vehicle 
charging facilities

37 Provision shall be made within the land forming Phase A2 for the disposal of 
surface water so as to prevent its discharge onto the highway details of which 
shall have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority.

Reasons: In the interests of highway safety and convenience.

38 The vehicle access details shown on the approved plans serving the land 
forming Phase A2 shall be completed prior to the first occupation of the 
building hereby approved for either commercial or residential purposes and 
the access details shall thereafter be maintained with visibility splays 
maintained free from any obstructions above 0.6m in height above the 
adjacent footway level.

Reasons: In the interests of highway safety.

39 The area shown on the approved layout for the land forming Phase A2 (ref: 
15.043.021 Rev F, 15.043.020 Rev G and 15.043.003 Rev F) as vehicle 
parking or turning space shall be provided, surfaced and drained to the 
satisfaction of the Local Planning Authority before the use is commenced or 
the premises occupied, and shall be retained for the use of the occupiers of, 
and visitors to, the premises, and no permanent development, whether or not 
permitted by the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 

Page 154



Ashford Borough Council - Report of Head of Development Management and Strategic Sites
Planning Committee 14 March 2018
___________________________________________________________________

Development) Order 2015 (or any Order revoking and re-enacting that Order), 
shall be carried out on that area of land so shown or in such a position as to 
preclude vehicular access to this reserved parking space.

Reason: Development without provision of adequate accommodation for the 
parking of vehicles is likely to lead to parking inconvenient to other road users 
and be detrimental to highway safety and amenity.

40 No building on land forming Phase A2 shall be occupied or the approved use 
commenced until space has been laid out on the land in accordance with the 
details shown on the application plans for cycles to be parked. Thereafter, the 
facilities shall be retained available for use.

Reason: To ensure the provision and retention of adequate off-street parking 
facilities for cycles in the interests of highway safety and to promote 
movement choice for staff and visitors through the provision of quality secure 
cycle parking.

41 Before the first occupation of each ground floor commercial unit and any 
apartments in the building hereby approved on land forming Phase A2, the 
following works between that building and the nearest highway shall be 
completed;-

(a) Footways and/or footpaths, with the exception of any wearing course, and
(b) Carriageways with the exception of the wearing course, including the 
provision of a turning facility sufficient to allow users of the parking facilities 
serving the development to turn and leave the site in forward gear.

Reason: In the interests of highway safety and the convenience and amenity 
of the occupiers of the development.

42 Before the first occupation of any ground floor commercial unit and any 
apartments on land forming Phase A2, a timetable for the construction of the 
final wearing course of new footpaths and/or footways and carriageways shall 
have been submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority in 
writing. The final wearing course of such footpaths and/or footways and 
carriageways shall be constructed in accordance with the timetable as 
approved by the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: In the interests of highway safety, and the convenience and amenity 
of occupiers of the development.

43 Prior to the first occupation of any apartment on land forming Phase A2, the 
applicant shall provide written details to the Local Planning Authority of the 
following;-

(a) measures to help facilitate more sustainable forms of movement for non-
town centre journeys, including access to a local car club and

Page 155



Ashford Borough Council - Report of Head of Development Management and Strategic Sites
Planning Committee 14 March 2018
___________________________________________________________________

(b) the location and number of electric vehicle charging points to be made 
available for the use of residents.

Thereafter, the approved details shall be retained available for use unless 
otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: To help provide enhanced movement choice for residents for 
occasional non-local journeys and to help reduce the need for car ownership 
by scheme residents. To help reduce pollution by encouraging the use of 
electric vehicles through incorporating on-site measures enabling vehicle 
recharging.

Uses

44 Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General 
Permitted Development) Order 2015 (as amended) or any other Order or any 
subsequent Order revoking or re-enacting that Order, the apartments hereby 
approved above the ground floor commercial units on land forming Phase A2 
shall only be occupied as single dwelling houses as described by Use Class 
C3 of the Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) Order 2015 or any 
subsequent Order revoking or re-enacting that Order.

Reason: To ensure that car parking provided within the development remains 
adequate to meet the needs of the occupiers of the development and to 
protect the amenities of future occupiers of the development.

45 The ground floor commercial units hereby approved on land forming Phase 
A2 south of Victoria Road shall be used for the purposes specifically applied 
for (Use Classes A1/A2/A3/B1) and not for any other purpose whether or not 
in the same use class of the Schedule to the Town and Country Planning 
(Use Classes) Order 2015 or any subsequent Order revoking or re-enacting 
that Order, or whether the alternative use is permitted by virtue of Article 3 
and Schedule 2 Part 3 of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted 
Development) Order 2015 or any Order revoking or re-enacting that Order.

Reason: In order to preserve the amenity of the locality.

Opening hours of ground floor commercial units to the public

46 Unless any variation is agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority, the 
ground floor A1/A2/A3/B1 uses shall only be open to the public between the 
following hours;-

(i) Monday to Sunday 06:30 - 23:00

Reason: In order to ensure that the hours of use of the ground floor 
commercial uses is appropriate given the context of the site and the existing 
and planned noise sensitive uses in the neighbourhood and the need to 

Page 156



Ashford Borough Council - Report of Head of Development Management and Strategic Sites
Planning Committee 14 March 2018
___________________________________________________________________

minimise late night disturbance.

Hard and soft landscaping

47 No development of land forming Phase A2 shall commence until full details of 
the hard and soft landscape works have been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The landscaping works shall accord 
with drawing 15.043 006 Rev C, unless otherwise agreed in writing.

(a) The full details of the soft landscape works to be submitted to the Local 
Planning Authority for approval shall include the planting plans; written 
specifications (including cultivation and other operations associated with plant 
and grass establishment); details of the planting that is designed to create 
year round colour; schedules of plants noting species, plant sizes and 
proposed numbers/densities where appropriate; full details of proposed tree 
pits of a size and specification to tree species and to ensure maturation and 
long-term survival; guards and any other measures necessary to protect trees 
in locations immediately adjacent to parking bays and an implementation and 
planting programme/timetable to ensure that all soft landscaping and planting 
is completed within 6 months of the completion of the development.

(b) The full details of the hard landscape works to be submitted to the Local 
Planning Authority for approval shall include details of hard surfacing 
materials (including colour finish, specification of paving and gauge as 
appropriate), drawings to scale to show lighting columns and lighting bollards, 
bollards to prevent vehicles accessing on-site parking by means other than 
via the vehicular access to George Street and any necessary methods of 
demarcating space as a result of its proposed long term private maintenance.

(c) The details shall include full details of any walls, car park gates/barriers, 
other gates and fences (including height, width and depth, materials, final 
finish colour) to be erected.

(d) The details shall include a scaled drawing showing soft and hard 
landscaping to be retained in private ownership and soft and hard landscaping 
to be the subject of adoption by the local highway authority (or any other 
public body).

(e) The hard and soft landscaping works shall be implemented in full in 
accordance with the details and timetable approved by the Local Planning 
Authority.

(f) If any trees and/or plants on land forming Phase A2 whether new or 
retained which form part of the soft landscape works approved by the Local 
Planning Authority die, are removed or become seriously damaged or 
diseased prior to the completion of the construction works or within a period of 
10 years from the completion of construction such trees and/or plants shall be 
replaced in the next available planting season with others of a similar size and 

Page 157



Ashford Borough Council - Report of Head of Development Management and Strategic Sites
Planning Committee 14 March 2018
___________________________________________________________________

species, unless the Local Planning Authority gives written consent otherwise.

Reason: To ensure that adequate details of the proposals are submitted in 
the interests of the protection and enhancement of the area. To ensure that 
any planting is appropriate and carried out in a manner that will ensure 
maturation to the visual benefit of the urban environment and to ensure hard 
surfacing and boundary treatments are appropriate to the context of the site 
and are of acceptable design quality.

Environmental protection

48 Full details of all measures to be taken to deal with any emission of odours or 
vapours arising from the use of each individual part of the ground floor of the 
building on the land forming Phase A2 for any Class A3 use shall be 
submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority prior to 
the individual Class A3 use commencing. Any equipment, plant or process 
provided or undertaken pursuant to such approval shall be installed prior to 
the first use of the ground floor premises to which it relates and shall 
thereafter be operated and retained in compliance with the approved scheme.

Reason: To prevent the transmission of vapours and odours arising from a 
ground floor A3 use into neighbouring premises and to protect amenity.

49 No external lighting shall be installed on the land forming Phase A2 until 
details have been submitted to, and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. This submission shall include a layout plan with beam orientation 
and a schedule of light equipment proposed (luminaire type; mounting height; 
aiming angles and luminaire profiles; use of time switches to switch off car 
park lighting appropriate to the seasons). The approved scheme shall be 
installed, maintained and operated in accordance with the approved details 
unless the Local Planning Authority gives its written approval to any proposed 
variation.

Reason: To protect the appearance of the area/the environment and 
wildlife/local residents from light pollution.

50 Any facilities used for the storage of oils, fuels or chemicals on the land 
forming Phase A2 shall be sited on impervious bases and surrounded by 
impervious bund walls. The bund capacity shall give 110% of the total volume 
of the tanks.

Reason: To prevent pollution of the water environment.

Acoustic design measures for apartments

51 (A) No development of land forming Phase A2 shall commence until a scheme of 
noise mitigation measures to be installed in the apartments (taking forward 
the recommendations in the applicant’s acoustic report, energy strategy 

Page 158



Ashford Borough Council - Report of Head of Development Management and Strategic Sites
Planning Committee 14 March 2018
___________________________________________________________________

report and ventilation strategy necessary to achieve BS8233:2014 
‘Guidance on sound insulation and noise reduction for buildings’ or any 
successor standard) has been submitted to, and approved by, the Local 
Planning Authority in writing. Thereafter, the development shall only be 
carried out in accordance with such approved measures which shall be 
permanently retained unless the Local Planning Authority has agreed in 
writing to any variation.

(B) No development of land forming Phase A2 shall commence until a scheme for 
protecting balconies and terraces from noise exceeding 50dB LAeq. 16 hour 
through the use of including imperforate balustrade screens and Class A 
absorption to balcony undersides /soffits has been submitted to, and 
approved by, the Local Planning Authority in writing. Thereafter, the 
development shall only be carried out in accordance with such approved 
measures which shall be permanently retained unless the Local Planning 
Authority has agreed in writing to any variation.

Reason: To ensure satisfactory living conditions for residents given the 
context of the site and the nature of proposed commercial uses on nearby and 
adjacent land.

Sustainable drainage (including green and blue roofs to buildings)

52 No development of land forming Phase A2 shall commence until plans and 
particulars of a sustainable drainage system (including the details below) for 
the disposal of the land’s surface water have been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

The submitted system shall comprise retention or storage of the surface water 
on the land or within the immediate area in a way which is appropriate to the 
land’s location, topography, hydrogeology and hydrology and incorporate 
green / blue roofs as appropriate.

The submitted system shall be designed to;-

(i) avoid any increase in flood risk,
(ii) avoid any adverse impact on water quality,
(iii) achieve a reduction in the run-off rate in accordance with the Ashford 
Borough Council Sustainable Drainage SPD document, adopted October 
2010,
(iv) promote biodiversity,
(v) enhance the landscape,
(vi) improve public amenities,
(vii) return the water to the natural drainage system as near to the source as 
possible, and
(viii) operate both during construction of the development and post-
completion.

Page 159



Ashford Borough Council - Report of Head of Development Management and Strategic Sites
Planning Committee 14 March 2018
___________________________________________________________________

The submitted details shall include identification of the proposed discharge 
points from the system, clarify the location and extent of green/blue roofs, 
include a timetable for provision of the system and arrangements for future 
maintenance (in particular the type and frequency of maintenance and 
responsibility for maintenance).

The approved system shall be provided in accordance with the approved 
timetable. The approved system shall be maintained in accordance with the 
approved details and shall be retained in working order until such time as the 
development ceases to be in use.

If the proposed surface water discharge point is to be the existing public 
sewer the applicant must provide written confirmation from Southern Water of 
their agreement to the proposals.

Reason: In order to reduce the impact of the development on flooding, 
manage run-off flow rates, protect water quality, improve biodiversity, mitigate 
the impact of development and enhance the appearance of the development 
pursuant to Core Strategy Policy CS20.

Code of construction practice

53 Prior to the commencement of the development on land forming Phase A2, a 
Code of Construction Practice shall be submitted to and approval in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority. The construction of the development shall then 
be carried out in accordance with the approved Code of Construction Practice 
and BS5228 Noise Vibration and Control on Construction and Open Sites and 
the Control of dust from construction sites (BRE DTi Feb 2003).unless 
previously agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

The code shall include,
• An indicative programme for carrying out the works
• Measures to minimise the production of dust on the site(s)
• Measures to minimise the noise (including vibration) generated by the 
construction process to include the careful selection of plant and machinery 
and use of noise mitigation barrier(s)
• Maximum noise levels expected 1 metre from the affected façade of any 
residential unit adjacent to the site(s)
• Design and provision of site hoardings
• Management of traffic visiting the site(s) including temporary parking or 
holding areas
• Full details of the provision of off-road parking for all site operatives
• Full details of measures to prevent the transfer of mud and extraneous 
material onto the public highway
• Measures to manage the production of waste and to maximise the re-use of 
materials

Page 160



Ashford Borough Council - Report of Head of Development Management and Strategic Sites
Planning Committee 14 March 2018
___________________________________________________________________

• Measures to minimise the potential for pollution of groundwater and surface 
water
• The location and design of site office(s) and storage compounds
• The location of temporary vehicle access points to the site(s) during the 
construction works
• The arrangements for public consultation and liaison during the construction 
works, , including a programme for community consultation/communication 
setting out how the developers intend to liaise with and keep members of the 
public informed about the development for the duration of the construction 
period.

Reason: To protect the amenity of local residents in accordance with Policy 
EN1 of the Local Plan.

54 In relation to the land forming Phase A2, no construction activities shall take 
place, other than between 0730 to 1800 hours (Monday to Friday) and 0730
to 1300 hours (Saturday) with no working activities on Sunday or Bank 
Holiday unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: In the interests of the residential amenity of the area.

55 No construction activities shall take place until a dust management plan for 
the construction phase (in full compliance with the recommendations of the 
applicant’s Air Quality Report ref: AQA-19852-16-95) has been submitted to, 
and approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority. Thereafter, the 
measures set out in the dust management plan shall be implemented in full 
for the subsequent full duration of construction works unless any variation has 
been agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: In order to ensure that appropriate measures are put in place during
construction to mitigate the impact of dust arising from construction works on
local air quality.

Archaeology

56 Prior to the commencement of development of land forming Phase A2 the 
applicant, or their agents or successors in title, will secure and implement;-

i) archaeological field evaluation works in accordance with a specification and 
written timetable which has been submitted to and approved by the Local
Planning Authority; and

ii) further archaeological investigation, recording and reporting, determined by 
the results of the evaluation, in accordance with a specification and timetable 
which has been submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: To ensure that features of archaeological interest are properly

Page 161



Ashford Borough Council - Report of Head of Development Management and Strategic Sites
Planning Committee 14 March 2018
___________________________________________________________________

examined and recorded.

Ecological Works & Management Strategy

57 (A) Prior to commencement of development on the land forming Phase A2, an 
Ecological Works & Management Strategy (EWMS) shall have been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
content of the EWMS shall include;-

(i) details of any required on-site or off-site habitat works and measures to 
mitigate the impact of the development on invertebrates (including species of 
tree and shrub planting and creation of features such as loggeries) and any 
other ecological mitigation /enhancement measures to be implemented as 
part of the development, and how such works and measures are proposed to 
be managed in the long-term.

(ii) if any reptiles are proposed to be translocated from the application site, an 
off-site reptile mitigation strategy, including details of the proposed receptor 
site, a survey of that the receptor site demonstrating that the reptile population 
arising from translocation can be satisfactorily maintained, details of any 
enhancement works required to enhance the receptor site, confirmation that 
the receptor site will be actively managed and monitored to ensure the long 
term success of the translocation and a translocation
methodology.

(iii) a timetable for implementation, demonstrating that the proposed on-site 
habitat ecological works and other measures and any off-site reptile mitigation 
strategy are aligned with the proposed phasing of construction,

(iv) the persons responsible for implementing the on and off-site works, 
including a programme identifying when a specialist ecologists need to be 
present on site to oversee the ecological works.

(B) Thereafter, the approved EWMS (including any agreed revisions) shall be 
carried out in accordance with the details in (A) above unless the Local
Planning Authority has agreed to any other variation in writing.

Reason: In order to ensure that any ecological works to be carried out are 
justified, accord with good practice and appropriately mitigate the impacts of 
the development and to ensure that an appropriate management strategy is 
put in place to properly monitor the success of the ecological works carried 
out for an agreed period of time.

Fibre broadband To The Premises

58 Prior to the first occupation of the land forming Phase A2, details including 
plans, shall have been submitted to and approved by the Local Planning 
Authority in writing for the installation of a High Speed wholly Fibre broadband 

Page 162



Ashford Borough Council - Report of Head of Development Management and Strategic Sites
Planning Committee 14 March 2018
___________________________________________________________________

To The Premises (FTTP) connection to the development hereby approved. 
Thereafter, the infrastructure shall be laid out in accordance with the approved 
details at the same time as other services during the construction process and 
be available for use on the first occupation of the building unless otherwise 
agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority (where supported by 
evidence detailing reasonable endeavours to secure the provision of FTTP 
and alternative provisions that been made in the absence
of FTTP).

Reason: To ensure that the new development in Ashford is provided with high 
quality broadband services enhancing Ashford as an attractive location in 
accordance with Policy EMP6 of the Ashford Local Plan 2030.

Water efficiency

59 Each apartment on the land forming Phase A2 shall be constructed and fitted 
out so that the potential consumption of wholesome water by persons 
occupying the apartments will not exceed 110 litres per person per day as 
measured in accordance with a methodology approved by the Secretary of 
State. No apartment shall be occupied unless the notice for that apartment of 
the potential consumption of wholesome water per person per day required by 
the Building Regulations 2010 (as amended) has been given to the Local 
Planning Authority.

Reason: In order to set a higher limit on the consumption of water by 
occupiers as allowed by regulation 36 of the Building Regulations 2010 and 
increase the sustainability of the development and minimise the use of natural 
resources pursuant to Core Strategy policies CS1 and CS9 and guidance in 
the NPPF and in order to continue with the same level of water efficiency as 
would have been achieved under the Code for Sustainable Homes standard 
referred to in Core Strategy policy CS10(A).

Refuse collection

60 No ground floor commercial unit or apartment on the land forming Phase A2 
shall be occupied until the following details have been submitted to, and 
approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority;-

(a) Details of secure access doors, ventilation, internal amenity lighting, wash-
down facilities and measures to keep doors in a fixed open position at 
collection time in relation to the ground floor refuse store areas.

(b) Details of the proposed arrangements to be put in place in relation to the 
collection of residents’ waste from the ground floor communal refuse store. 
The approved details shall be implemented and the stores made available for 
use prior to the first occupation of any ground floor commercial unit or 
apartment. The stores shall thereafter be permanently retained available for 
use unless the Local Planning Authority has agreed to any variation to refuse 

Page 163



Ashford Borough Council - Report of Head of Development Management and Strategic Sites
Planning Committee 14 March 2018
___________________________________________________________________

store arrangements in writing.

Reason: To ensure that the fine detail of the refuse stores is appropriate for 
both commercial and residential occupiers and to ensure that satisfactory 
arrangements are put in place for the collection of waste generated by 
residents given the location of the ground floor communal store for residents 
relative to the public highway.

LAND FORMING PHASE A3 TO SOUTH OF VICTORIA ROAD (BUILD TO 
RENT RESIDENTIAL)

Materials

61 Prior to installation, written details including source/ manufacturer, and 
samples of bricks, tiles, feature panels and cladding materials (including 
jointing of panels) to be used externally shall be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority and the development of land forming 
Phase A3 shall be carried out using the approved external materials. The 
details shall be supplied as appropriate on a materials board.

Reason: In the interests of visual amenity and to give clarity on jointing of 
panels.

Contamination

62 (A) Prior to the commencement of development on land forming Phase A3, a 
detailed remediation scheme for that land to ensure that that part of the site is 
suitable for the intended use (by removing unacceptable risks to human 
health, buildings and other property and the natural and historical 
environment) shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority.

(B) The scheme must describe all the relevant works to be undertaken 
including, the proposed remediation objectives and performance criteria, a 
schedule of works and site management protocols. The scheme must deliver 
a site that will not qualify as ‘contaminated land’ under Part 2A of the 
Environmental Protection Act 1990, having regard to the intended use of the 
land after remediation.

(C) The development within the land forming Phase A3 shall thereafter be 
carried out in accordance with the approved remediation scheme, unless 
otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Following 
completion of the remediation scheme for the land forming Phase A3 and 
prior to occupation of any building within that phase, a verification report for 
the land forming Phase A3 that demonstrates the effectiveness of the 
remediation carried out must be prepared and submitted for approval in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority.

Page 164



Ashford Borough Council - Report of Head of Development Management and Strategic Sites
Planning Committee 14 March 2018
___________________________________________________________________

Reason: To ensure that risks from land contamination to the future users of 
land and neighbouring land are minimised, together with those to controlled 
waters, property and ecological systems, and to ensure that the development 
can be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, neighbours 
and other off-site receptors.

63 If, during development of land forming Phase A3, contamination not 
previously identified is found to be present at the site then no further 
development within the affected plot (unless otherwise agreed in writing with 
the Local Planning Authority) shall be carried out until the developer has 
submitted, and obtained written approval from the Local Planning Authority 
for, a remediation strategy for the land forming Phase A2 detailing how this 
unsuspected contamination shall be dealt with. The remediation strategy shall 
be implemented as approved, verified and reported to the satisfaction of the 
Local Planning Authority.

Reason: To ensure the protection of controlled waters

Fine details

64 Prior to usage in the building on the land forming Phase A3 above ground 
level, the details set out below shall be submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority and, thereafter, development shall only be 
carried out in accordance with the approved details unless agreed otherwise 
by the Local Planning Authority in writing. Where relevant, the following 
details should be provided on drawings at an appropriate scale of 1:50 (where 
detail needs to be considered contextually related to a façade) and at 1:20 in 
other cases:-

a) full details of glazing and external doors, including all external joinery and 
framing methods and external colour (1:20),
b) 1:20 horizontal and vertical cross sections through typical sections of each 
of the facades sufficient to show the relationship between the façade and 
those elements of detail to be embedded within the façade as well projecting 
from it (such as the extent of recessing of glazing and doors in openings 
created in the façade, the consequential treatment of window reveals, the 
details of cills and the extent of projecting elements from the façade),
c) 1:100 elevation detailing the locations of all expansion joints in facades.
d) 1:50 scale details of any plant or machinery proposed on the roof and 
associated screens,
e) details of any satellite dishes or antenna,
f) details of rainwater goods, eaves, fascia and entrance canopies (including 
materials and finish, details of any supporting posts and related brick plinths 
and roofing materials),
g) details of vents, louvres, extractor vents, external pipes, meters (including 
colour finish) etc.
h) details of screens and windbreaks,
i) 1:50 scale details of the parapet capping,
j) details of external entrance steps, handrails and balustrades

Page 165



Ashford Borough Council - Report of Head of Development Management and Strategic Sites
Planning Committee 14 March 2018
___________________________________________________________________

k) 1:50 details of ground floor level grilles to the help vent the lower ground 
floor level car park
(l) 1:50 details of planter boxes to apartments
(m) 1:20 details of balustrades to balconies serving apartments and a 
plan/schedule sufficient to show the proposed changing balustrade colour 
palette across the development according to locational context.

Reason: Further details are required to ensure that the external appearance 
and fine detailing are of an appropriate high quality.

Vehicle and Cycle Parking/Highways/Car Club & Electric Vehicle 
charging facilities

65 Provision shall be made within the land forming Phase A3 for the disposal of 
surface water so as to prevent its discharge onto the highway details of which 
shall have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority.

Reason: In the interests of highway safety and convenience.

66 The vehicle access details to the land forming Phase A3 shown on the 
approved plans shall be completed prior to the first occupation of the building 
hereby approved for residential purposes on that land and the access details 
shall thereafter be maintained with visibility splays maintained free from any 
obstructions above 0.6m in height above the adjacent footway level.

Reasons: In the interests of highway safety.

67 (i) The area within Phase A3 identified as the riverside parking court shown as 
Parking Zone B on plan 15.043.038 Rev B (including any subsequent 
variations) shall be implemented as shown on the approved drawings unless 
an evidenced-based Transport Note demonstrating that the area is not 
required is submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. All other parking areas shown on the approved plans serving this 
Phase shall be implemented, surfaced and drained before any apartments in 
Phase A2 are first occupied and thereafter shall be retained available and 
accessible for use and no development whether permitted by the Town and 
Country Planning (General Permitted Development) Order 2015 (or any Order 
revoking and re-enacting that Order) shall be carried out on the land.

(ii) If an evidenced-based Transport Note is approved in writing demonstrating 
that the riverside parking court is not required in order to serve the car parking 
requirements of the development, then full details of revised hard and soft 
landscaping for the area shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority pursuant to Condition 74 of this permission.

Reason: (i) Development without provision of adequate accommodation for 
Page 166



Ashford Borough Council - Report of Head of Development Management and Strategic Sites
Planning Committee 14 March 2018
___________________________________________________________________

the parking of vehicles is likely to lead to parking inconvenient to other road 
users and be detrimental to highway safety and amenity.(ii) In circumstances 
where an evidence-based Transport Note is accepted and the riverside 
parking court is not implemented then an alternative treatment for the space 
will be required.

68 No building on land forming Phase A3 shall be occupied or the approved use 
commenced until space has been laid out within the site in accordance with 
the details shown on the application plans for cycles to be parked. The 
approved cycle parking facilities shall thereafter be retained available for use 
by residents of the building.

Reason: To ensure the provision and retention of adequate off-street parking 
facilities for cycles in the interests of highway safety and to promote 
movement choice through the provision of quality secure cycle parking.

69 The pedestrian visibility splays shown on the approved drawings in relation to 
land forming Phase A3 shall be provided prior to the commencement of any 
other development in this application and shall be subsequently maintained 
with no obstruction over 0.6 m above the access footway level.

Reason: In the interests of highway safety.

70 Before the first occupation of any apartments on land forming Phase A3 the 
following works between that land the nearest highway to be adopted by the 
highways authority shall be completed;-

(a) Footways and/or footpaths, with the exception of the wearing course;

(b) Carriageways with the exception of the wearing course, including the 
provision of a turning facility sufficient to allow users of the parking facilities 
serving the development to turn and leave the site in forward gear, together 
with related:

i) highway drainage, including off-site works,
ii) junction visibility splays,
iii) street lighting, street nameplates and highway structures if any.

Reason: In the interests of highway safety, and the convenience and amenity 
of occupiers of the development.

71 Before the first occupation any apartment on land forming Phase A3, a 
timetable for the construction of the final wearing course of new footpaths 
and/or footways and carriageways shall have been submitted to and approved 
by the Local Planning Authority in writing. The final wearing course of such 
footpaths and/or footways and carriageways shall be constructed in 
accordance with the timetable as approved by the Local Planning Authority.

Page 167



Ashford Borough Council - Report of Head of Development Management and Strategic Sites
Planning Committee 14 March 2018
___________________________________________________________________

Reason: In the interests of highway safety, and the convenience and amenity 
of occupiers of the development.

72 Prior to the first occupation of any apartment on land forming Phase A3, the 
applicant shall provide written details to the Local Planning Authority of the 
following;-

(a) measures to help facilitate more sustainable forms of movement for non-
town centre journeys, including the provision of a car club facility, and

(b) the location and number of electric vehicle charging points to be made 
available for the use of residents/any car club facility serving residents.

Thereafter, the approved details shall be retained available for use unless 
otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: To help provide enhanced movement choice for residents for 
occasional non-local journeys and to help reduce the need for car ownership 
by scheme residents. To help reduce pollution by encouraging the use of 
electric vehicles through incorporating on-site measures enabling vehicle 
recharging.

Use

73 Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General 
Permitted Development) Order 2015 (as amended) or any other Order or any 
subsequent Order revoking or re-enacting that Order, the apartments hereby 
approved shall only be occupied as single dwelling houses as described by 
Use Class C3 of the Town and Country Planning (Use Classes) Order 2015 or 
any subsequent Order revoking or re-enacting that Order.

Reason: To ensure that car parking provided within the development remains 
adequate to meet the needs of the occupiers of the development and to 
protect the amenities of future occupiers of the development.

Hard and soft landscaping

74 No development of land forming Phase A3 shall commence until full details of 
the hard and soft landscape works – including potential works in place of the 
riverside parking court if an evidence-based Transport Note is approved in 
writing pursuant to condition 67(i) - have been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning Authority. The landscaping works shall accord 
with drawings 15.043 021 Rev B and 15.043 003 Rev D, unless otherwise 
agreed in writing.

(a) The full details of the soft landscape works to be submitted to the Local 
Planning Authority for approval shall include the planting plans; written 
specifications (including cultivation and other operations associated with plant 
and grass establishment); details of planting that is designed to create year 

Page 168



Ashford Borough Council - Report of Head of Development Management and Strategic Sites
Planning Committee 14 March 2018
___________________________________________________________________

round colour; schedules of plants noting species, plant sizes and proposed 
numbers/densities where appropriate; full details of proposed tree pits of a 
size and specification to tree species and to ensure maturation and long-term 
survival; guards and any other measures necessary to protect trees in 
locations immediately adjacent to parking bays, details of vertical planting on 
tension wires to areas of the southern side of the building and an 
implementation and planting programme/timetable to ensure that all soft 
landscaping and planting is completed within 6 months of the completion of 
the development.

(b) In the event that the riverside parking court is not implemented pursuant to 
condition 67(i) then the Beech Tree subject of Tree Preservation Order on the 
south-western corner of the site shall be retained as part of the soft 
landscaping scheme for the Phase unless a justification for its removal has 
been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

(c) The full details of the hard landscape works to be submitted to the Local 
Planning Authority for approval shall include details of hard surfacing 
materials (including colour finish, specification of paving and gauge as 
appropriate), drawings to scale to show lighting columns and lighting bollards, 
seating, the location of any public art features, details of balustrades to the 
communal podium open space and associated steps, details of any other 
balustrades, details of residents’ only security gates to the communal podium 
open space including location on the steps to the riverside corridor and any 
necessary methods of demarcating space as a result of its proposed long
term maintenance.

(d) The details of hard landscaping shall also include full details of any walls, 
lower ground floor car park gates/barriers to ensure secure residents’ only 
access, other gates and fences, fences and any gates to podium level 
external private spaces serving apartments and fences and gates to riverside 
apartment external private spaces (including height, width and depth, 
materials, final finish colour) to be erected.

(e) The hard and soft landscaping works shall be implemented in full in 
accordance with the details and timetable approved by the Local Planning
Authority.

(f) If any trees and/or plants on land forming Phase A3 whether new or 
retained which form part of the soft landscape works approved by the Local 
Planning Authority die, are removed or become seriously damaged or 
diseased prior to the completion of the construction works or within a period of 
10 years from the completion of construction such trees and/or plants shall be 
replaced in the next available planting season with others of a similar size and 
species, unless the Local Planning Authority gives written consent
otherwise.

Page 169



Ashford Borough Council - Report of Head of Development Management and Strategic Sites
Planning Committee 14 March 2018
___________________________________________________________________

Reason: To ensure that adequate details of the proposals are submitted in 
the interests of the protection and enhancement of the area. To ensure that 
any planting is appropriate and carried out in a manner that will ensure 
maturation to the visual benefit of the urban environment and to ensure hard 
surfacing and boundary treatments are appropriate to the context of the site 
and are of acceptable design quality.

Environmental protection & CHP

75 Any facilities used for the storage of oils, fuels or chemicals on the land 
forming Phase A3 shall be sited on impervious bases and surrounded by 
impervious bund walls. The bund capacity shall give 110% of the total volume 
of the tanks.

Reason: To prevent pollution of the water environment.

76 No Combined Heat and Power (CHP) plant shall be installed within the 
approved building on the land forming Phase A3 until full details of said plant 
have been submitted to, and been approved by, the Local Planning Authority 
in writing. Such details shall include noise levels during operation, measures 
to be taken to limit increases in nitrogen dioxide levels locally as a result of 
operation and details of the proposed fuel and the frequency, nature and 
duration of any deliveries of fuel. Thereafter, CHP shall only be installed and 
operated in accordance with such approvals.

Reason: No details of possible CHP installation have been submitted for 
approval. Details are required in order to ensure that any environmental 
impacts are appropriately mitigated.

Acoustic design measures for apartments

77 (A) No development of land forming Phase A3 shall commence until a 
scheme of noise mitigation measures to be installed in the apartments (taking 
forward the recommendations in the applicant’s acoustic report, energy 
strategy report and ventilation strategy necessary to achieve BS8233:2014 
‘Guidance on sound insulation and noise reduction for buildings’ or any 
successor standard) has been submitted to, and approved by, the Local 
Planning Authority in writing. Thereafter, the development shall only be 
carried out in accordance with such approved measures which shall be 
permanently retained unless the Local Planning Authority has agreed in 
writing to any variation.

(B) No development of land forming Phase A3 shall commence until a 
scheme for protecting balconies and terraces from noise exceeding 50dB 
LAeq. 16 hour through the use of including imperforate balustrade screens 
and Class A absorption to balcony undersides /soffits has been submitted to, 
and approved by, the Local Planning Authority in writing. Thereafter, the 
development shall only be carried out in accordance with such approved 

Page 170



Ashford Borough Council - Report of Head of Development Management and Strategic Sites
Planning Committee 14 March 2018
___________________________________________________________________

measures which shall be permanently retained unless the Local Planning 
Authority has agreed in writing to any variation.

Reason: To ensure satisfactory living conditions for residents given the 
context of the site and the nature of proposed commercial uses on nearby and 
adjacent land which may affect the necessary measures for either all or 
specific apartments.

Sustainable drainage (including green and blue roofs to buildings)

78 No development of land forming Phase A3 shall commence until plans and 
particulars of a sustainable drainage system (including the details below) for 
the disposal of the land’s surface water have been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

The submitted system shall comprise retention or storage of the surface water 
on the land or within the immediate area in a way which is appropriate to the 
land’s location, topography, hydrogeology and hydrology and incorporate 
green / blue roofs as appropriate.

The submitted system shall be designed to
(i) avoid any increase in flood risk,
(ii) avoid any adverse impact on water quality,
(iii) achieve a reduction in the run-off rate in accordance with the Ashford 
Borough Council Sustainable Drainage SPD document, adopted October 
2010,
(iv) promote biodiversity,
(v) enhance the landscape,
(vi) improve public amenities,
(vii) return the water to the natural drainage system as near to the source as 
possible and
(viii) operate both during construction of the development and post-
completion.

The submitted details shall include identification of the proposed discharge 
points from the system, clarify the location and extent of green/blue roofs, 
include a timetable for provision of the system and arrangements for future 
maintenance (in particular the type and frequency of maintenance and 
responsibility for maintenance).

The approved system shall be provided in accordance with the approved 
timetable. The approved system shall be maintained in accordance with the 
approved details and shall be retained in working order until such time as the 
development ceases to be in use.

If the proposed surface water discharge point is to be the existing public 
sewer the applicant must provide written confirmation from Southern Water of 

Page 171



Ashford Borough Council - Report of Head of Development Management and Strategic Sites
Planning Committee 14 March 2018
___________________________________________________________________

their agreement to the proposals.

Reason: In order to reduce the impact of the development on flooding, 
manage run-off flow rates, protect water quality, improve biodiversity, mitigate 
the impact of development and enhance the appearance of the development 
pursuant to Core Strategy Policy CS20.

Code of construction practice

79 Prior to the commencement of the development on land forming Phase A3, a 
Code of Construction Practice shall be submitted to and approval in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority. The construction of the development shall then 
be carried out in accordance with the approved Code of Construction Practice 
and BS5228 Noise Vibration and Control on Construction and Open Sites and 
the Control of dust from construction sites (BRE DTi Feb 2003).unless 
previously agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

The code shall include,
• An indicative programme for carrying out the works
• Measures to minimise the production of dust on the site(s)
• Measures to minimise the noise (including vibration) generated by the 
construction process to include the careful selection of plant and machinery 
and use of noise mitigation barrier(s)
• Maximum noise levels expected 1 metre from the affected façade of any 
residential unit adjacent to the site(s)
• Design and provision of site hoardings
• Management of traffic visiting the site(s) including temporary parking or 
holding areas
• Full details of the provision of off-road parking for all site operatives
• Full details of measures to prevent the transfer of mud and extraneous 
material onto the public highway
• Measures to manage the production of waste and to maximise the re-use of 
materials
• Measures to minimise the potential for pollution of groundwater and surface 
water
• The location and design of site office(s) and storage compounds
• The location of temporary vehicle access points to the site(s) during the 
construction works
• The arrangements for public consultation and liaison during the construction 
works, , including a programme for community consultation/communication 
setting out how the developers intend to liaise with and keep members of the 
public informed about the development for the duration of the construction 
period.

Reason: To protect the amenity of local residents in accordance with Policy
EN1 of the Local Plan.

Page 172



Ashford Borough Council - Report of Head of Development Management and Strategic Sites
Planning Committee 14 March 2018
___________________________________________________________________

80 In relation to the land forming Phase A3, no construction activities shall take 
place, other than between 0730 to 1800 hours (Monday to Friday) and 0730 
to 1300 hours (Saturday) with no working activities on Sunday or Bank 
Holiday unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: In the interests of the residential amenity of the area.

81 No construction activities shall take place until a dust management plan for 
the construction phase (in full compliance with the recommendations of the 
applicant’s Air Quality Report ref: AQA-19852-16-95) has been submitted to, 
and approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority. Thereafter, the 
measures set out in the dust management plan shall be implemented in full 
for the subsequent full duration of construction works unless any variation has 
been agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: In order to ensure that appropriate measures are put in place during 
construction to mitigate the impact of dust arising from construction works on 
local air quality.

Archaeology

82 Prior to the commencement of development of land forming Phase A3 the 
applicant, or their agents or successors in title, will secure and implement;-

i) archaeological field evaluation works in accordance with a specification and 
written timetable which has been submitted to and approved by the Local 
Planning Authority; and

ii) further archaeological investigation, recording and reporting, determined by 
the results of the evaluation, in accordance with a specification and timetable 
which has been submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: To ensure that features of archaeological interest are properly 
examined and recorded.

Ecological Works & Management Strategy

83 (A) Prior to commencement of development on the land forming Phase A3, an 
Ecological Works & Management Strategy (EWMS) shall have been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
content of the EWMS shall include;-

(i) details of any required on-site or off-site habitat works and measures to 
mitigate the impact of the development on invertebrates (including species of 
tree and shrub planting and creation of features such as loggeries) and any 
other ecological mitigation /enhancement measures to be implemented as 
part of the development, and how such works and measures are proposed to 

Page 173



Ashford Borough Council - Report of Head of Development Management and Strategic Sites
Planning Committee 14 March 2018
___________________________________________________________________

be managed in the long-term.

(ii) if any reptiles are proposed to be translocated from the application site, an 
off-site reptile mitigation strategy, including details of the proposed receptor 
site, a survey of that the receptor site demonstrating that the reptile population 
arising from translocation can be satisfactorily maintained, details of any 
enhancement works required to enhance the receptor site, confirmation that 
the receptor site will be actively managed and monitored to ensure the long 
term success of the translocation and a translocation methodology.

(iii) a timetable for implementation, demonstrating that the proposed on-site 
habitat ecological works and other measures and any off-site reptile mitigation 
strategy are aligned with the proposed phasing of construction,

(iv) the persons responsible for implementing the on and off-site works, 
including a programme identifying when a specialist ecologists need to be 
present on site to oversee the ecological works.

(B) Thereafter, the approved EWMS (including any agreed revisions) shall be 
carried out in accordance with the details in (A) above unless the Local 
Planning Authority has agreed to any other variation in writing.

Reason: In order to ensure that any ecological works to be carried out are 
justified, accord with good practice and appropriately mitigate the impacts of 
the development and to ensure that an appropriate management strategy is 
put in place to properly monitor the success of the ecological works carried 
out for an agreed period of time.

Riverside Corridor Landscaping, Lighting & Management Plan

84 (A) Prior to commencement of development on land forming Phase A3, a 
Riverside Corridor Landscaping, Lighting & Management Plan (RCLLMP) 
shall have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The RCLLMP shall include;-

(i) the area forming the RCLLMP shown on a plan drawn to scale,
(ii) a statement identifying how hard and soft landscaping detail within that 
area is intended to balance the objectives of public access to and recreational 
use of the riverside corridor with the need to protect and enhance the 
adjacent/nearby Great Stour Ashford to Fordwich Local Wildlife Site,
(iii) details of all proposed soft landscaping (including details of tree, shrub, 
hedge and other planting) within that area,
(iv) details of all proposed hard landscaping within that area,
(v) details of how lighting in the area will either be minimised or negated in 
order to increase bat foraging opportunities in the riverside corridor,
(vi) a timescale for the implementation of the identified soft and hard 
landscaping and lighting details, and

Page 174



Ashford Borough Council - Report of Head of Development Management and Strategic Sites
Planning Committee 14 March 2018
___________________________________________________________________

(vii) details of the long term maintenance and management arrangements for 
the area covered by the RCLLMP.

(B) Thereafter, the approved RCLLMP shall be carried out in accordance with 
the details in (A) above unless the Local Planning Authority has agreed to any 
other variation in writing.

Reason: In order to ensure that the river corridor landscaping scheme 
protects and enhances the adjacent Local Wildlife Site (and the species it 
supports) balanced against a design that also allows public access to and 
enjoyment of the proposed additions to the river corridor space and to ensure 
that appropriate arrangements are put in place for long term maintenance and 
management.

Fibre broadband To The Premises

85 Prior to the first occupation of the land forming Phase A3, details including 
plans, shall have been submitted to and approved by the Local Planning 
Authority in writing for the installation of a High Speed wholly Fibre broadband 
To The Premises (FTTP) connection to the development hereby approved. 
Thereafter, the infrastructure shall be laid out in accordance with the approved 
details at the same time as other services during the construction process and 
be available for use on the first occupation of the building unless otherwise 
agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority (where supported by 
evidence detailing reasonable endeavours to secure the provision of FTTP 
and alternative provisions that been made in the absence of FTTP).

Reason: To ensure that the new development in Ashford is provided with high 
quality broadband services enhancing Ashford as an attractive location in 
accordance with Policy EMP6 of the Ashford Local Plan 2030.
Water efficiency

86 Each apartment shall be constructed and fitted out so that the potential 
consumption of wholesome water by persons occupying the apartment will not 
exceed 110 litres per person per day as measured in accordance with a 
methodology approved by the Secretary of State. No apartment shall be 
occupied unless the notice for that apartment of the potential consumption of 
wholesome water per person per day required by the Building Regulations 
2010 (as amended) has been given to the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: In order to set a higher limit on the consumption of water by 
occupiers as allowed by regulation 36 of the Building Regulations 2010 and 
increase the sustainability of the development and minimise the use of natural 
resources pursuant to Core Strategy policies CS1 and CS9 and guidance in 
the NPPF and in order to continue with the same level of water efficiency as 
would have been achieved under the Code for Sustainable Homes standard 
referred to in Core Strategy policy CS10(A).

Page 175



Ashford Borough Council - Report of Head of Development Management and Strategic Sites
Planning Committee 14 March 2018
___________________________________________________________________

Refuse collection

87 No apartment on the land forming Phase A3 shall be occupied until the 
following details have been submitted to, and approved in writing by, the Local 
Planning Authority;-

(a) Details of secure access doors, ventilation, internal amenity lighting, wash-
down facilities and measures to keep doors in a fixed open position at 
collection time in relation to the lower ground floor internal refuse store areas.

(b) 1:20 details of the surface level refuse store facilities shown on Drawing 
No. 15.043.036 including proposed detailing to deal with changes to levels 
along the frontage to the stores

(c) Details of the proposed arrangements to be put in place in relation to the 
collection of residents’ waste from the lower ground floor internal refuse 
stores and the external surface level communal refuse store.

The approved details shall be implemented and the stores made available for 
use prior to the first occupation of any apartment. The stores shall thereafter 
be permanently retained available for use unless the Local Planning Authority 
has agreed to any variation to refuse store arrangements in writing.

Reason: To ensure that the fine detail of the refuse stores is appropriate for 
residential occupiers and to ensure that satisfactory arrangements are put in 
place for the collection of waste generated by residents given the location of 
the stores serving the apartments related to the public highway.

Occupation related to improvements to the local highway network

88 Unless the Local Planning Authority agree otherwise in writing, no more than 
50 apartments shall be occupied on the land forming Phase A3 until 
improvements to the nearby Beaver Road/Victoria Way and Elwick 
Road/Station Road junctions as set out on Drawing 4300472/0100/01 P01.1 
forming part of planning permission 15/01671/AS (or an alternative scheme to 
substantially the same effect) have been carried out and are open to traffic.

Reason: To ensure that there is sufficient capacity available within the 
highway network to accommodate the movements associated with the 
proposed homes.

Adaptation of ground floor units to meet wheelchair user requirements

89 Prior to the laying of foundations to the building approved to be constructed 
on the land forming Phase A3, a plan to show the location of five ground floor 
apartments available for adaptation to meet wheelchair user requirements 
shall be submitted to, and approved by, the Local Planning Authority in writing 
and thereafter the development shall only proceed in accordance with such 

Page 176



Ashford Borough Council - Report of Head of Development Management and Strategic Sites
Planning Committee 14 March 2018
___________________________________________________________________

details unless the Local Planning Authority has agreed to any variation in 
writing.

Reason: To order to promote inclusion and community cohesion by catering 
for differing needs.

Green wall/screen to Beaver Road petrol filling station

90 Prior to first occupation of any apartment on land forming Phase A3;-

(i) full elevation and cross section details of the green wall/screen within the 
application site (as shown on Drawing GHA001) including materials, colour 
and supporting structures, and

(ii) details of any green wall/screen irrigation, proposed planting with particular 
benefits to habitat and site biodiversity and proposed maintenance regime, 
and

(iii) a timetable for the green wall/screen construction within the application 
Site shall have been submitted to and been approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. Thereafter, the green wall/screen shall be installed in 
accordance with the approved details and to the agreed timetable unless any 
variation has been subsequently agreed in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority.

Reason: Full fine details of the green wall/screen structure and proposed 
planting and maintenance regime have not yet been submitted. The 
construction of the wall in one single operation needs to be agreed in order to 
ensure against damage from building operations being carried out either on-
site or on adjoining land.

Note to Applicant
1. Working with the Applicant

Working with the Applicant

In accordance with paragraphs 186 and 187 of the NPPF Ashford Borough Council 
(ABC) takes a positive and proactive approach to development proposals focused on 
solutions.  ABC works with applicants/agents in a positive and proactive manner by;

 offering a pre-application advice service,

 as appropriate updating applicants/agents of any issues that may arise in the 
processing of their application 

 where possible suggesting solutions to secure a successful outcome, 

 informing applicants/agents of any likely recommendation of refusal prior to a 
decision and,

Page 177



Ashford Borough Council - Report of Head of Development Management and Strategic Sites
Planning Committee 14 March 2018
___________________________________________________________________

 by adhering to the requirements of the Development Management Customer 
Charter.

In this instance

 the applicant/agent was provided with pre-application advice,
 the applicant was provided the opportunity to submit amendments to the 

scheme to address issues raised.
 The application was dealt with/approved without delay.
 The application was considered by the Planning Committee where the 

applicant/agent had the opportunity to speak to the committee and promote 
the application.

2. It is the responsibility of the applicant to ensure, before the development 
hereby approved is commenced, that all necessary highway approvals and 
consents required are obtained and that the limits of highway boundary are 
clearly established in order to avoid any enforcement action being taken by 
the Highway Authority. Across the county there are pieces of land next to 
private homes and gardens that do not look like roads or pavements but are 
actually part of the road. This is called ‘highway land’. Some of this land is 
owned by The Kent County Council (KCC) whilst some are owned by third 
party owners. Irrespective of the ownership, this land may have ‘highway 
rights’ over the topsoil. Information about how to clarify the highway boundary 
can be found at

http://www.kent.gov.uk/roads-and-travel/what-we-look-after/highway-land

The applicant must also ensure that the details shown on the approved plans 
agree in every aspect with those approved under such legislation and 
common law. It is therefore important for the applicant to contact KCC 
Highways and Transportation to progress this aspect of the works prior to 
commencement on site.

3. The developer/applicant must ensure that the proposal, both during 
construction and after completion of works on site, does not:
• encroach onto Network Rail land
• affect the safety, operation or integrity of the company’s railway and its 
infrastructure
• undermine its support zone
• damage the company’s infrastructure
• place additional load on cuttings
• adversely affect any railway land or structure
• over-sail or encroach upon the air-space of any Network Rail land
• cause to obstruct or interfere with any works or proposed works or Network 

Page 178



Ashford Borough Council - Report of Head of Development Management and Strategic Sites
Planning Committee 14 March 2018
___________________________________________________________________

Rail development both now and in the future

The developer must comply with the requirements of HS1 and Network Rail 
by entering into Basic Asset Protection Agreement.

4. In respect of the brewery, the Local Planning Authority encourages the 
applicant to consider mood lighting of the building interior around the 
fermentation vessels in order that the scale of the vessels can be appreciated 
at night via the strongly glazed façade to Victoria Road thus helping create a 
vibrant night time street scene at an important street junction. Appropriate 
external mood lighting to external storage vessels located to the west of the 
brewery building is also encouraged. The Local Planning Authority would wish 
to see the proposed soft and hard landscaping design of the entrance to the 
brewery shop/bar/restaurant incorporate appropriate acknowledgements of 
the site’s past including previous uses.

5. In respect of the brewery odour and waste management conditions, the 
applicant is invited to meet Officers of the Local Planning Authority and the 
Borough Council’s Environmental Protection Officer at an early stage to 
ensure that all aspects of the proposed brewery operation that might give rise 
to odour issues are refined with minimum best practice adopted (and 
preferably exceeded) so as to ensure the creation of a modern brewery that 
proceeds from the outset as a good neighbour to town centre uses.

6. The hard and soft landscaping to the north of Phase A2 is expected to be the 
subject of adoption by the local highway authority as the currently missing 
element component of the upgraded street utilising quality materials to match 
existing paving and comprising the provision of street trees and pedestrian 
footway/cycleway.

7. The applicant should note that an Ashford Borough Council refuse freighter 
would not normally pass onto private land as part of refuse collection of waste 
from homes and so Council collection cannot be assumed. The applicant is 
invited to discuss such issues further with the Council.

8. In respect of SUDs design, Ashford Borough Council encourages the 
applicant to explore the feasibility of a controlled outfall of surface water to the 
River Stour south of the site with Kent County Council (as the Leading 
Flooding Authority), the Borough Council and the Environment Agency.

Page 179



Ashford Borough Council - Report of Head of Development Management and Strategic Sites
Planning Committee 14 March 2018
___________________________________________________________________

Background Papers

All papers referred to in this report are currently published on the Ashford Borough 
Council web site (www.ashford.gov.uk). Those papers relating specifically to this 
application may be found on the View applications on line pages under planning 
application reference 17/01759/AS.

Contact Officer:  Roland Mills Telephone:  (01233) 330334

Email: roland.mills@ashford.gov.uk

Page 180

http://www.ashford.gov.uk/
http://planning.ashford.gov.uk/planning/Default.aspx?new=true


Ashford Borough Council - Report of Head of Development Management and Strategic Sites
Planning Committee 14 March 2018
___________________________________________________________________

Annex 1

Page 181



This page is intentionally left blank



Ashford Borough Council - Report of Head of Development Management and Strategic Sites
Planning Committee 14 March 2018
__________________________________________________________________________

18/00104/AS

Repton Connect Community Centre, Repton Avenue, 
Ashford, Kent, TN23 3RX

99665/43614

Godinton (Ashford)

Placement of 1 No. internally illuminated sign, 9 No. non-
illuminated signs and 1 No. window vinyl

Mr Chris Kimmance, Chair, Repton Community Trust
 
Mr Mark Woolmer

0.87ha
(a) 34/- (b) - (c) KHS -

Introduction

1. This application is reported to the Planning Committee in the interests of 
transparency because the applicant is the Chair of Repton Community Trust, 
an organisation set up by Ashford BC and the freehold of the site is with the 
Borough Council.

Site and Surroundings 

2. The site is shown in Figure 1 (below) and comprises the Repton Connect 
Community Centre and its associated car park. The Centre is towards the end 
of its construction and is due to open within the year. The site is adjacent to 
Repton Avenue and Repton Manor Primary School, opposite housing and 
ground floor commercial units. 

Application Number

Location    

Grid Reference

Ward

Application 
Description
Applicant

Agent

Site Area

Page 183

Agenda Item 6c



Ashford Borough Council - Report of Head of Development Management and Strategic Sites
Planning Committee 14 March 2018
__________________________________________________________________________

Figure 1 – Site location plan

Proposal

3. Advertisement consent is sought for the placement of 1 No. internally 
illuminated totem sign, 9 No. non-illuminated signs and 1 No. window vinyl. 
The proposed sings are described individually in Table 1, below. Only sign A 
would be illuminated. Figures 2-5 further below show the sign detail and site 
location.

Page 184



Ashford Borough Council - Report of Head of Development Management and Strategic Sites
Planning Committee 14 March 2018
__________________________________________________________________________

Sign A 1No. totem sign (2.5m x 0.6m x 
0.18m) located in front of the 
community centre entrance. This 
sign would be internally illuminated 
to 400cd/m in static mode (as 
shown in figure 2). 

Sign B 1No. totem sign (1.2m x 0.375m x 
0.12m) located at end of footway to 
community centre from car park 
(as shown in figure 3).

Sign C 1No. large window vinyl (Repton 
logo). 

Sign I 4No. white panel sign (0.3m x 
0.42m) located on existing lamp 
columns within car park (as shown 
in figure 4).

Sign J 1No. white panel sign (0.3m x 
0.42m) mounted to MUGA fence.

Sign K 2No. white panel sign (0.3m x 
0.42m) mounted as a pair either 
side of gate.

Sign L 1No. totem sign (0.68m x 0.99m x 
0.12m) located at car park 
entrance (as shown in figure 5).  

Table 1 (above) – Sign detail

Page 185



Ashford Borough Council - Report of Head of Development Management and Strategic Sites
Planning Committee 14 March 2018
__________________________________________________________________________

Figure 2 – Sign A

Page 186



Ashford Borough Council - Report of Head of Development Management and Strategic Sites
Planning Committee 14 March 2018
__________________________________________________________________________

Figure 3 – Sign B

Page 187



Ashford Borough Council - Report of Head of Development Management and Strategic Sites
Planning Committee 14 March 2018
__________________________________________________________________________

Figure 4 – Sign I (example of white panel sign)

Figure 5  - Sign L

Planning History

02/01565/AS – Outline planning permission granted for 1,250 dwellings, employment 
uses, retail and community facilities. 

15/01345/AS – Reserved matters application approved for the erection of a 
community centre, parking, MUGA and open space. 

Page 188



Ashford Borough Council - Report of Head of Development Management and Strategic Sites
Planning Committee 14 March 2018
__________________________________________________________________________

Consultations
Ward Members: The Ward Members, Councillors Feacey and Heyes, have not 
made comments in relation to this application.  Councillor Heyes is a member of the 
Planning Committee. 

Neighbours – 34 consulted; 0 representations received.

KCC Highways – comments awaited. 

Planning Policy

4. The Development Plan comprises the saved policies in the adopted Ashford 
Borough Local Plan 2000, the adopted LDF Core Strategy 2008, the adopted 
Ashford Town Centre Action Area Plan 2010, the Tenterden & Rural Sites 
DPD 2010, the Urban Sites and Infrastructure DPD 2012, the Chilmington 
Green AAP 2013, the Wye Neighbourhood Plan 2015-30 and the Pluckley 
Neighbourhood Plan 2016-30.  The new Ashford Local Plan to 2030 has now 
been submitted for examination and as such its policies should now be 
afforded some weight.

5. The relevant policies from the Development Plan relating to this application 
are as follows:-

Ashford Borough Local Plan 2000

S22 – Land at former Rowcroft and Templar Barracks

Local Development Framework Core Strategy 2008

CS1 – Guiding Principles

CS2 – The Borough Wide Strategy

CS4 – Ashford Urban Area

CS9 – Design Quality

6. The new Ashford Local Plan to 2030 has now been submitted for examination 
and as such its policies should now be afforded some weight. The following 
policies are material in consideration of the application;-

Ashford Local Plan to 2030

SP1 – Strategic Objectives

Page 189



Ashford Borough Council - Report of Head of Development Management and Strategic Sites
Planning Committee 14 March 2018
__________________________________________________________________________

SP6 – Promoting High Quality Design

7. Also material to the determination of this application are the following:-

Government Advice

National Planning Policy Framework (NPFF) 2012

National Planning Policy Guidance (NPPG)

8. Members should note that the determination must be made in accordance 
with the Development Plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise.  
A significant material consideration is the National Planning Policy Framework 
(NPPF). The NPPF says that less weight should be given to the policies 
above if they are in conflict with the NPPF. 

Assessment

Visual Amenity

9. The proposed signage has been designed for purposes incidental to the use 
of the community centre and would be for directional and informative 
purposes. The overall signage design would be consistent with that of the 
main building, and would be constructed using either stainless steel or 
aluminium. I am satisfied that the proposals would demonstrate an acceptable 
level of design quality. 

10. The three proposed totem signs (signs A, B & L) would be appropriate in 
terms of their relative scale and locations. Sign A, in the vicinity of the site’s 
entrance and adjacent to Repton Avenue, would be the largest sign, with 
writing illuminated to 400cd/m. Sign B and sign L are the other, smaller totem 
signs with a similar design.

11. Sign C is a window vinyl and does not require consent. The other proposed 
signage (signs I, J & K), while numerous, are of a smaller scale and 
informative in nature. Given their relative scale and proposed locations, I am 
satisfied that these signs would be acceptable. 

12. Overall, I consider there would be no harm to visual amenity or the wider 
street scene.  

Highway Safety

13. Comments on the application are still awaited from KCC Highways at the time 
of finalising this report. In my opinion, I consider that the proposal would not 

Page 190



Ashford Borough Council - Report of Head of Development Management and Strategic Sites
Planning Committee 14 March 2018
__________________________________________________________________________

represent the display of advertisements that would be detrimental to matters 
of highway safety. I will provide an update to the Committee in the usual 
manner.  

Human Rights Issues

14. I have also taken into account the human rights issues relevant to this 
application. In my view, the “Assessment” section above and the 
Recommendation below represent an appropriate balance between the 
interests and rights of the applicant (to enjoy their land subject only to 
reasonable and proportionate controls by a public authority) and the interests 
and rights of those potentially affected by the proposal (to respect for private 
life and the home and peaceful enjoyment of their properties).

Working with the applicant

15. In accordance with paragraphs 186 and 187 of the NPPF, Ashford Borough 
Council (ABC) takes a positive and proactive approach to development 
proposals focused on solutions. ABC works with applicants/agents in a 
positive and proactive manner as explained in the note to the applicant 
included in the recommendation below.

Conclusion

16. I am satisfied that the proposed signage would be visually acceptable and my 
conclusion, in the absence of any representation to the contrary, is that the 
proposal would not cause harm to highway safety. I therefore recommend that 
consent is granted subject to conditions.

Recommendation

Grant consent

Subject to the following Conditions and Notes:

1. a) No advertisement is to be displayed without the permission of the owner 
of the site or any other person with an interest in the site entitled to grant 
permission.

b) No advertisement shall be sited or displayed so as to:-

(a) endanger persons using any highway, railway, waterway, dock, 
harbour or aerodrome (civil or military);

(b) obscure, or hinder the ready interpretation of, any traffic sign, 
Page 191



Ashford Borough Council - Report of Head of Development Management and Strategic Sites
Planning Committee 14 March 2018
__________________________________________________________________________

railway signal or aid to navigation by water or air; or

(c) hinder the operation of any device used for the purpose of security 
or surveillance or for measuring the speed of any vehicle.

c) Any advertisement displayed, and any site used for the display of 
advertisements, shall be maintained in a condition that does not impair 
the visual amenity of the site.

d) Any structure or hoarding erected or used principally for the purpose of 
displaying advertisements shall be maintained in a condition that does 
not endanger the public.

e) Where an advertisement is required under the Town and Country 
Planning (Control of Advertisements) (England) Regulations 2007 to be 
removed, the site shall be left in a condition that does not endanger the 
public or impair visual amenity.

2. The maximum luminance from sign A shall not exceed 400cd/m.

Reason: In the interests of highway safety and convenience.

3. The advertisement shall not be illuminated except during the hours that the 
premises to which it relates are open to the community.

Reason: In the interests of visual amenity and road safety.

4. The illumination of sign A shall be static and of a non- flashing type.

Reason: In the interests of visual amenity and road safety.

5. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the plans listed in 
the section of this decision notice headed Plans/Documents Approved by this 
decision, unless otherwise agreed by the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: To ensure the development is carried out in accordance with the 
approval and to ensure the quality of development indicated on the approved 
plans is achieved in practice.

Note to Applicant

1. Working with the Applicant

In accordance with paragraphs 186 and 187 of the NPPF Ashford Borough 
Council (ABC) takes a positive and proactive approach to development 

Page 192



Ashford Borough Council - Report of Head of Development Management and Strategic Sites
Planning Committee 14 March 2018
__________________________________________________________________________

proposals focused on solutions.  ABC works with applicants/agents in a positive 
and proactive manner by;

 offering a pre-application advice service,

 as appropriate updating applicants/agents of any issues that may arise in the 
processing of their application 

 where possible suggesting solutions to secure a successful outcome, 

 informing applicants/agents of any likely recommendation of refusal prior to a 
decision and,

 by adhering to the requirements of the Development Management Customer 
Charter.

In this instance

 the applicant/agent was updated of any issues after the initial site visit,

 The applicant was provided the opportunity to submit amendments to the 
scheme/ address issues.

 The applicant/ agent responded by submitting amended plans, which were 
found to be acceptable and permission was granted.

 The application was dealt with/approved without delay.

 The application was considered by the Planning Committee where the 
applicant/agent had the opportunity to speak to the committee and promote 
the application.

 Background Papers

All papers referred to in this report are currently published on the Ashford Borough 
Council web site (www.ashford.gov.uk). Those papers relating specifically to this 
application may be found on the View applications on line pages under planning 
application reference 18/00104/AS.

Contact Officer:  Will McKane Telephone:  (01233) 330227

Email:  William.Mckane@ashford.gov.uk

Page 193

http://www.ashford.gov.uk/
http://planning.ashford.gov.uk/planning/Default.aspx?new=true


Ashford Borough Council - Report of Head of Development Management and Strategic Sites
Planning Committee 14 March 2018
__________________________________________________________________________

Annex 1

Annex 1

Page 194



Ashford Borough Council - Report of Head of Development Management and Strategic Sites
Planning Committee 14 March 2018
___________________________________________________________________

17/01454/AS

Little Goldwell Oast, Goldwell Lane, Great Chart, Ashford, 
Kent, TN26 1JS 

96780/41916

Great Chart with Singleton

Great Chart with Singleton North

Insertion of new windows and doors to south east 
elevation

Mr Charles Dehnel, Little Goldwell Oast, Goldwell Lane, 
Great Chart, Ashford, Kent, TN26 1JS

-

0.14ha
(a) 3/- (b) + (c) -

Introduction

1. This application is reported to the Planning Committee because the applicant 
is a close relative of Councillor Dehnel.

Site and Surroundings 

2. The site is shown in Figure 1 (below) and located in the open countryside 
surrounding Great Chart; comprising a converted oast house in proximity to a 
grade II listed farmhouse. The oast consists of a roundel and stowage with 
built additions to the south west which have been added at a later date to the 
original building.   

3. The oast is not listed itself, however Little Goldwell Farmhouse located north 
west of the site is a grade II listed property. Little Goldwell Farmhouse is in 
separate ownership and occupation.

4. The proposal requires planning permission because at the time of the original 
conversion from an agricultural building, permitted development rights were 
removed by planning condition. 

Application Number

Location    

Grid Reference

Parish Council

Ward

Application 
Description
Applicant

Agent

Site Area

Page 195

Agenda Item 6d



Ashford Borough Council - Report of Head of Development Management and Strategic Sites
Planning Committee 14 March 2018
___________________________________________________________________

Figure 1 – site location plan

Proposal

5. Planning permission is sought for the insertion of new windows and doors to 
the south east elevation of the later additions to the building. This would result 
in the removal of the existing modern conservatory in place of two glazed 
panels and a single glazed, opening door. An existing door and two windows 
would also be replaced with large glazed double doors between fixed glazed 
panels (see figures 2 and 3, below, which detail the alterations). The new 
fenestration would consist of white painted timber which would match the 
existing house windows. The alterations would facilitate the re-arrangement of 
the accommodation internally.

Page 196



Ashford Borough Council - Report of Head of Development Management and Strategic Sites
Planning Committee 14 March 2018
___________________________________________________________________

Figure 2 – existing floor plan and elevations

Page 197



Ashford Borough Council - Report of Head of Development Management and Strategic Sites
Planning Committee 14 March 2018
___________________________________________________________________

Figure 3 – proposed floor plan and elevations

Planning History

80/01605/AS – Planning permission granted for the conversion of the existing oast 
house, stowage and adjoining extensions. 

87/00501/AS – Planning permission refused for a two storey rear extension to the 
existing stowage. 

Page 198



Ashford Borough Council - Report of Head of Development Management and Strategic Sites
Planning Committee 14 March 2018
___________________________________________________________________

94/01351/AS – Variation of condition 02 of 80/01605/AS permitted to allow for the 
creation of a residential annexe in place of part of the garage / car barn.

15/00809/AS – Planning permission granted for alterations to the existing annexe 
involving the extension of the annexe into the existing car barn / garage and the 
addition of four roof lights.

Consultations

Ward Member: The Ward Member, Cllr Mrs Blanford, is a member of the Planning 
Committee and has not made any comments in relation to this application. 

Neighbours – 3 consulted; 0 representations received. The consultation period has 
not ended at the time of finalising this report. 

Great Chart with Singleton Parish Council – comments awaited at the time of 
finalising the report. 

(HoDMSS note: I will provide an update to the Committee in the usual manner, if 
necessary should any resident of Parish Council representations be forthcoming.)

Any other relevant consultees – No other relevant consultees.

Planning Policy

6. The Development Plan comprises the saved policies in the adopted Ashford 
Borough Local Plan 2000, the adopted LDF Core Strategy 2008, the adopted 
Ashford Town Centre Action Area Plan 2010, the Tenterden & Rural Sites 
DPD 2010, the Urban Sites and Infrastructure DPD 2012, the Chilmington 
Green AAP 2013, the Wye Neighbourhood Plan 2015-30 and the Pluckley 
Neighbourhood Plan 2016-30.  The new Ashford Local Plan to 2030 has now 
been submitted for examination and as such its policies should now be 
afforded some weight.

7. The relevant policies from the Development Plan relating to this application 
are as follows:-

Local Development Framework Core Strategy 2008

CS1 – Guiding Principles

CS2 – The Borough Wide Strategy

CS9 – Design Quality

Page 199



Ashford Borough Council - Report of Head of Development Management and Strategic Sites
Planning Committee 14 March 2018
___________________________________________________________________

Tenterden and Rural Sites Development Plan Document

TRS13 – Conversions of Rural Buildings to General Residential Use

TRS17 – Landscape Character and Design

Ashford Local Plan to 2030

SP1 – Strategic Objectives

SP6 – Promoting High Quality Design

8. The following are also material to the determination of this application:-

Supplementary Planning Guidance/Documents

The Reuse of Agricultural Buildings (adopted 1995) 

Adapting Traditional Farm Buildings (English Heritage 2017)

Village Design Statements

Great Chart Village Design Statement

Government Advice

National Planning Policy Framework (NPFF) 2012

National Planning Policy Guidance (NPPG)

9. Members should note that the determination must be made in accordance 
with the Development Plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise.  
A significant material consideration is the National Planning Policy Framework 
(NPPF). The NPPF says that less weight should be given to the policies 
above if they are in conflict with the NPPF. The NPPF sets out the need to 
achieve good design and protect the character and setting of heritage assets.

Assessment

Visual amenity

10. The proposals would affect an existing extension which is of a lesser 
architectural significance than the oast roundel and stowage to which it 
adjoins. The openings on this extension are currently numerous and clearly 
defined as domestic additions. Moreover the existing conservatory, which is to 

Page 200



Ashford Borough Council - Report of Head of Development Management and Strategic Sites
Planning Committee 14 March 2018
___________________________________________________________________

be removed, appears as an overly domestic feature which in my opinion is 
inappropriate and incongruous. Its removal would be of visual benefit. 

11. The proposed openings would use matching materials of white painted timber. 
Where the brickwork would need to be made good, the applicant proposes to 
match this to that which exists.  While the openings would appear greater in 
scale, they would result in an overall reduction in the quantity of openings 
while being comfortably situated in the south east elevation. Furthermore, the 
proposals would have a limited impact on views from public vantage points 
due to the location, distant boundary treatments and existing outbuildings that 
help obscure views.

12. In light of the above, I am satisfied that this scheme would be acceptable in 
terms of visual amenity. 

Heritage/setting of Little Goldwell Farmhouse

13. Given the acceptable nature of the development that would represent a visual 
improvement to the oast house, I am satisfied that the development would not 
adversely impact the character or significance of the grade II listed farmhouse 
and would preserve its setting. 

Residential amenity

14. Given the relative scale of the proposed scheme and its distance from 
neighbouring residential dwellings, I am satisfied that this development would 
be acceptable in terms of residential amenity.

Human Rights Issues

15. I have also taken into account the human rights issues relevant to this 
application. In my view, the “Assessment” section above and the 
Recommendation below represent an appropriate balance between the 
interests and rights of the applicant (to enjoy their land subject only to 
reasonable and proportionate controls by a public authority) and the interests 
and rights of those potentially affected by the proposal (to respect for private 
life and the home and peaceful enjoyment of their properties).

Working with the applicant

16. In accordance with paragraphs 186 and 187 of the NPPF, Ashford Borough 
Council (ABC) takes a positive and proactive approach to development 
proposals focused on solutions. ABC works with applicants/agents in a 
positive and proactive manner as explained in the note to the applicant 
included in the recommendation below.

Page 201



Ashford Borough Council - Report of Head of Development Management and Strategic Sites
Planning Committee 14 March 2018
___________________________________________________________________

Conclusion

17. I am satisfied that the proposed glazing and openings would be acceptable in 
terms of visual amenity and the architectural character of the oast would be 
retained. The scheme would not result in any harm to the setting of Little 
Goldwell Farmhouse. The development would not be harmful to residential 
amenity. I therefore recommend that planning permission is granted subject to 
the consideration of any representations and the imposition of conditions.

Recommendation

Permit

Subject to the following Conditions and Notes:

1 The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of 3 years 
from the date of this decision.

Reason: To comply with the requirements of Section 91 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and Compulsory 
Purchase Act 2004.

2 The development shall be carried out in accordance with the plans listed in the 
section of this decision notice headed Plans/Documents Approved by this decision, 
unless otherwise agreed by the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: To ensure the development is carried out in accordance with the approval 
and to ensure the quality of development indicated on the approved plans is 
achieved in practice.

3 The development shall be carried out in accordance with the details of external 
materials specified in the application which shall not be varied without the prior 
written permission of the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: In the interests of visual amenity.

4 The development approved shall be made available for inspection, at a reasonable 
time, by the local Planning authority to ascertain whether a breach of planning 
control may have occurred on the land (as a result of departure from the plans 
hereby approved and the specific terms of this permission/consent/approval).

Reason: In the interests of ensuring the proper planning of the locality, the 
protection of amenity and the environment, securing high quality development 
through adherence to the terms of planning approvals and to ensure community 

Page 202



Ashford Borough Council - Report of Head of Development Management and Strategic Sites
Planning Committee 14 March 2018
___________________________________________________________________

confidence in the operation of the planning system.

Note to Applicant

1. Working with the Applicant

In accordance with paragraphs 186 and 187 of the NPPF Ashford Borough 
Council (ABC) takes a positive and proactive approach to development 
proposals focused on solutions.  ABC works with applicants/agents in a 
positive and proactive manner by;

 offering a pre-application advice service,

 as appropriate updating applicants/agents of any issues that may arise in the 
processing of their application 

 where possible suggesting solutions to secure a successful outcome, 

 informing applicants/agents of any likely recommendation of refusal prior to a 
decision and,

 by adhering to the requirements of the Development Management Customer 
Charter.

In this instance 

 the application was acceptable as submitted and no further assistance was 
required.

 The application was dealt with/approved without delay.

 The application was considered by the Planning Committee where the 
applicant/agent had the opportunity to speak to the committee and promote 
the application.

Background Papers

All papers referred to in this report are currently published on the Ashford Borough 
Council web site (www.ashford.gov.uk). Those papers relating specifically to this 
application may be found on the View applications on line pages under planning 
application reference 17/01454/AS.

Contact Officer:  Will McKane Telephone:  (01233) 330227

Email: William.Mckane@ashford.gov.uk

Page 203

http://www.ashford.gov.uk/
http://planning.ashford.gov.uk/planning/Default.aspx?new=true


Ashford Borough Council - Report of Head of Development Management and Strategic Sites
Planning Committee 14 March 2018
___________________________________________________________________

Annex 1

Page 204


	Agenda
	2 Declarations of Interest
	3 Minutes
	6a 17/00625/AS
	6b 17/01759/AS
	6c 18/00104/AS
	6d 17/01454/AS

